Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

Monday, 16 May 2022
CABINET
will meet on
Tuesday, 24 May 2022
beginning at
6:30 pm
in the
Rooms 16/17, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

TO:

Councillor Keith House (Chair)
Councillor Ian Corben (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Paul Bicknell
Councillor Tonia Craig
Councillor Tim Groves

Staff Contacts:

Councillor Rupert Kyrle
Councillor Derek Pretty

Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298
Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk

JOANNE CASSAR
Executive Head of Governance

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website
as well as in other formats.
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting,
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed. To register please
contact the Democratic Services Officer above.
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to
access committee papers.

1

AGENDA
1.
2.

Apologies
Declarations of Interest
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the
agenda. Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

3.

Minutes (Pages 5 - 6)
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 25 April 2022.

4.

Public Participation
You can submit questions in advance of the meeting to the following email:
democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk. The deadline for submissions is 12pm on
Monday 23 May 2022.
Please let us know if you wish to attend the meeting in person so that we
can manage numbers. We are still encouraging all those in attendance to
wear a face covering and take a lateral flow test before attendance. PLEASE
DO NOT ATTEND IF YOU HAVE ANY COVID-19 SYMPTOMS.

5.

Recommendations from Committee

6.

Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy (Pages 7 - 40)

7.

Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (Pages 41 - 72)

8.

Discretionary Housing Payment Policy 2022/23 (Pages 73 - 94)

9.

Green Energy Development Projects (Pages 95 - 120)

10.

Appointments to Outside Bodies (Pages 121 - 130)

11.

Appointments to the Procurement Executive Group (PEG) for 2022/23
Cabinet is asked to make an appointment to the Procurement Executive Group
for 2022/23. The membership of the Group includes the Cabinet Member with the
relevant portfolio and one other representative appointed by Cabinet.

12.

Appointments to the Strategic Risk Management Group (SRMG) for 2022/23
Cabinet is asked to make an appointment to the Strategic Risk Management
Group for 2022/23.

13.
14.

2

Community Investment Programme Scheme(s) Approval (Pages 131 - 134)
Exempt Business

To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government
Act 1972 in respect of the following item of business on the grounds that it is/they
are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph
3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.
The Schedule 12A categories have been amended and are now subject to the
public interest test, in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 2000. This
came into effect on 1 March 2006.
It is considered that the following items are exempt from disclosure and that the
public interest in not disclosing the information outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information.
EXEMPT ITEM(S)

15.

Property Transactions (Pages 135 - 150)

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Thursday, 7 July 2022 at 6:30 pm
In the Rooms 16/17, Eastleigh House, Upper
Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s
happening in the Borough. Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus
lots more.

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
1
CABINET
Monday, 25 April 2022 (6:43 pm – 6:43 pm)
PRESENT:
Councillor House (Chair); Councillors Airey and Pretty
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bicknell, Corben,
Craig and Kyrle
________________________________________
RECOMMENDED ITEMS (REQUIRING A DECISION)
98.

ADOPTION OF EASTLEIGH BOROUGH LOCAL PLAN (2016-2036)
Issue
In October 2018 Council approved the submission of the Eastleigh
Borough Local Plan (2016 – 2036). In May 2021 Council approved the
Inspector’s proposed main modifications to the Local Plan for public
consultation. These proposed modifications deleted the Strategic Growth
Option (SGO), and otherwise adjusted some settlement gaps and made a
range of generally relatively detailed changes which did not change the
overall shape of the submitted Plan. The Inspector’s final main
modifications only very slightly alter the proposed main modifications
which have already been approved by Council for consultation in May
2021. It is recommended that the Council formally adopts the Local Plan
(2016 – 2036). To do so the submitted Plan must be updated to
incorporate all of the Inspector’s final main modifications, with no other
material amendments being made. (Additional modifications are
recommended which do not materially affect the Plan).
Consideration
The adoption of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016 – 2036) will
ensure the Development Plan against which planning applications are
determined is brought up to date. The Plan promotes sustainable
development (meeting economic, social and environmental needs).
RESOLVED –
That Cabinet recommends to Council to:
(1) Incorporate the Inspector’s Main Modifications, and the
additional modifications, into the submitted version of the
Local Plan, and so adopt the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan
(2016 – 2036) (Appendix 1) and the associated Policies Map
(Appendix 2);

5

2

(2) Note that the adoption of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan
(2016 – 2036) will make it the main part of the adopted
development plan for the Borough against which planning
applications are determined, replacing all saved policies of the
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2001 – 2011); and
(3) Withdraw the draft Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2011 – 2029).
RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)
99.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on
the agenda.

100.

MINUTES
RESOLVED That the Minutes of the meeting held on 24 March 2022 be agreed as
a correct record.
M7019

6

Agenda Item 6
CABINET
Tuesday 24 May 2022
SPORTS AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES STRATEGY 2022 - 2026
Report of the Strategic Planning Lead for Health and Wellbeing

Recommendation
It is recommended that Cabinet approves the Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy
2022 – 2026 at Appendix 1.

Summary
The Council has been reviewing and developing a new Sports and Active Lifestyles
Strategy as the current strategy ran from 2016 – 2020 and is therefore out of date.
Overall, health and wellbeing in Eastleigh is good and generally better than the England
average. However, levels of obesity and inactivity are on the rise and with the pandemic
causing disruptions to people’s active routines, how we ensure our residents stay fit is
increasingly important. Increasing and sustaining regular participation in physical activity is
extremely important to overall health and can reduce the likelihood of developing a major
illness, decrease the risks of obesity and generally help improve your mental health. It can
also save money in the long term by significantly easing the burden of chronic disease on
health and social care services.
The Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy 2022-2026 sets out the plan for sport and active
lifestyles provision in Eastleigh Borough and aligns with other regional and national
strategies, such as Sports England’s strategy ‘Uniting the Movement’. Increasing
participation levels in sport and physical activity, and in turn tackling health inequalities, is
an absolute priority for Eastleigh Borough and ensuring that the Council take a targeted
approach and focus efforts in these areas is essential to success. This strategy reflects the
local and national agenda for sport and physical activity provision, ensuring that planning
is evidence driven so that local issues and opportunities can be addressed and sustained.
Statutory Powers
Localism Act 2011

Strategic Implications
1.

An active lifestyle is key to developing an effective response to the problem of
inactivity within Eastleigh Borough, as physical inactivity is one of the major

7

risk factors causing death and ill-health, both globally and locally. Increasing
physical activity has the potential to improve the physical and mental health of
individuals, reduce all-cause mortality and improve life expectancy.
2.

The Sports and Active Lifestyles strategy 2022 – 2026 sets out how the
Council will achieve its ambition of empowering all people to be active through
its 4 key aims, and which supports the Council’s corporate priority for health
and wellbeing to:
 Enable health and wellbeing;
 Tackle health inequality and deprivation.

Introduction

8

3.

The current Sport and Active Lifestyles Strategy was adopted in 2016 and ran
until 2020. The strategic focus was on increasing participation in sport and
physical activity, whilst also tackling health inequalities as a priority for the
Borough. It also focused on ensuring that existing and future built facilities
were maintained and enhanced to maximise their usage to support people to
be active.

4.

The Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy 2016 - 2020 identified four strategic
aims:
 To increase and sustain regular participation in sport and physical
activity
 To support and develop a quality delivery structure of clubs, coaches,
volunteers, officials and administrators
 To promote a healthy lifestyle by making the case for sport and
physical activity, building an evidence base and advocating the benefits
 To protect and provide quality active environments and facilities which
are accessible to local communities.

5.

Significant progress has been achieved over the last four years, including
some large-scale capital projects, such as Places Leisure Eastleigh, the
Stoneham Lane Football Complex and the FA Parklife Project and regional
hub, all of which has contributed towards positive sport and physical activity
outcomes for the Borough.

6.

SportWorks and HealthWorks programmes continue to offer a wide range of
opportunities to improve the health and wellbeing of residents and have
delivered key initiatives and campaigns to increase sport and physical activity,
reduce health inequalities and improve long term health conditions. As well as
programme delivery, support continues to be provided for community sports
clubs and the development of key facilities. All of this has contributed towards
positive sport and physical activity outcomes for Eastleigh residents and
ensures people have access to the right tools to improve their health and
wellbeing.

Eastleigh Borough Council

7.

However, it is recognised that the Council has faced significant challenge
throughout the pandemic which has disrupted many regular aspects of life,
including sport and physical activity. The pandemic has also widened levels of
inequalities in terms of exercise and disproportionately impacted those with
the lowest activity levels. In the initial stages of national lockdown, almost 20%
of each demographic group was doing ‘a lot less’ physical activity compared
to an average week before.

8.

This strategy builds on the success of the previous strategy and sets out the
Councils aspirations to get more people, of all ages and backgrounds, to be
more active.

Strategic Review
9.

The Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy 2022-2026 is supported by a
strategic assessment which aimed to examine the population of Eastleigh
Borough, their health and how active its residents are by using national,
regional and local data.

10.

The purpose of the assessment was to better understand physical inactivity in
Eastleigh Borough and determine the extent to which the population in the
Borough is inactive. The assessment draws from a range of data sources and
considers:
(a)
Existing examples of good practice and sources of data and insight.
(b)
Trends in physical inactivity, approaches, and underlying causes.
(c)
Who may be more likely to be inactive and why.
(d)
What facilities and activities are currently in Eastleigh.
(e)
What residents and partners want from a Sports and Active Lifestyles
Strategy.

11.

This information has then been used to help evidence and inform Eastleigh
Borough Councils new Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy, with the aim to
encourage more people to be active.

12.

Some key data from the strategic review shows that:
 Eastleigh Borough had a population of 138,351 in 2021, which is set to
grow to 146,833 by 2026.
 Male and female life expectancy at birth in Eastleigh was 81.8 and 83.2
in 2019 compared to England which was 79.7 and 83.2.
 In 2019/ 20, 63.8% adults (18+) were classified as overweight or obese
in Eastleigh compared to 62.8% in England.
 In 2019/ 20, 68.1% of adults were physically active in Eastleigh
compared to 66.4% in England.
 In Eastleigh, it was estimated that in 2017 the prevalence of common
mental disorders (aged 16+) was 13.5 people per 100 population. This
is much better compared to the England rate at 16.9 per 100.
 20.3% of children in year R are overweight or obese (3 years data
combined - 2017/18 - 2019/20).

Eastleigh Borough Council

9







Eastleigh is one of the 20% least deprived district authorities in
England, with a slight increase in the percentage of neighbourhoods
experiencing worse than UK average deprivation 11.7% (2015) to 13%
(2019).
81% of disabled adults want to do more activity than they currently do
75% of women want to be more active.
69% of people with a long-term health condition would like to be more
active.

Engagement and Consultation

10

13.

As well as using quantitative data to inform the objectives within the Strategy,
the Council also created the Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy survey
which went live on 2nd September 2021 and closed on 30th September 2021.

14.

The consultation sought views from members of the public, agencies,
businesses, and community organisations on how important physical activity
is to them and what opportunities there are to increase participation in sport
and physical activity in Eastleigh. There was also separate engagement with
key partners and providers to understand what their priorities for sport and
activity are and what role they can play in tackling inactivity.

15.

A total of 133 people responded to the survey and results are recorded within
the strategic assessment. Some of the key responses are recorded below:
 Over half of people were satisfied or very satisfied with opportunities to
participate in sport and physical activity in Eastleigh.
 Approximately 44% of people felt that more affordable prices would
support them to become more physically active.
 29% of people want sports and physical activity opportunities at more
convenient times.
 Approximately 25% of people would like to feel safer when exercising
in public.
 24% of people would like more opportunities to be physically active
with others.
 18% of people in Eastleigh do not feel confident taking part in physical
activity.
 The most popular physical activity people participate in is walking, with
79% of people stating they walk to keep active.
 Almost 31% of people take part in fitness and exercise to keep active
 30% of people cycle, 20% of people swim and 18% people like to run
to keep active.
 36% of people stated they would like to see more fitness related
activities in the Borough.
 There was a high percentage of people who did not know about what
provision is on offer in Eastleigh.
 Approximately 53% of people felt there are good quality facilities in
Eastleigh.

Eastleigh Borough Council

16.

The Strategy was presented to the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel on
6th December 2022 where it was discussed as part of early engagement.
Feedback and comments from the meeting were recorded and have been
considered along with the development of the Strategy below.

17.

The Strategy was also discussed at a number of partnership meetings,
including the Eastleigh Health and Wellbeing Board (on 28 th September 2021)
and Sports and Physical Activity Alliance meeting (on 13th December 2021) to
ascertain views from key stakeholders during the development of the
Strategy.

18.

Finally, the proposed aims and objectives of the Strategy were discussed with
Local Area Managers on 16th March 2022 to understand their views on the
objectives of the Strategy and get a steer from managers on the core themes
the Strategy should reflect to allow for a targeted approach in their respective
patches.

Strategic summary and development
19.

The Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy 2022-2026 document includes:
(a)

(b)
(c)
(d)

(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)

(i)
(j)

20.

An introduction and overview of the Council’s commitment to address
inactivity across the borough and enable more people to participate in
physical activity.
A vision to empower all people to be active.
A list of successes from the previous strategy period.
What we are already doing, showcasing some programmes which are
currently being carried out to address inactivity, as well as
developments of key facilities.
Facts and figures which have informed the development of the
Strategy.
Challenges and opportunities.
Summary of consultation results highlighting what residents have said.
Strategy – how the Council will use the activities within its control to
address inactivity across the borough, including aims, objectives, why
this important and how we will measure success. It also reflects
priorities to ensure current and future facilities are maintained, renewed
and upgraded.
List of other strategies which have supported this work.
Delivery Plan – list of outputs which will be monitored and reviewed
with the Sports and Physical Activity Alliance.

This Strategy, which will span from 2022 – 2026, builds on the success of the
previous strategy and does not present as a complete change in direction.
Increasing regular participation in sport and physical activity, developing a
quality delivery structure and providing quality active environments and
facilities is still important, particularly post coronavirus pandemic, and the aims
and objects within this strategy reflect the Councils commitment to address
this across the Borough.
Eastleigh Borough Council

11

21.

Evidence has shown that there are groups who have been disproportionately
affected by the pandemic and are less active (such as women and people with
a disability). Therefore, more prominence has been given to objectives and
actions around ensuring physical activity is inclusive of all groups and
promotes all forms of activity, not just those which are recreational. The
Strategy aligns to the ‘movement agenda’ recognising the need to promote
opportunities to be active that are suitable to the target audience.

22.

It reflects actions which build on ‘place making’ through existing built leisure
facilities, but also draws on opportunities to further promote active lifestyles
through the Borough’s country parks and culture sector.

23.

The Strategy will be implemented through the Sports and Physical Activity
Alliance and support the sport and physical activity sector within Eastleigh
Borough, to enable them to work towards agreed outcomes to achieve the
biggest possible positive impact.

24.

Comments from Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel highlighted the
importance of actions being realistic, consistent and achievable. The Strategy
includes a list of measures of success to help monitor the effectiveness of the
Strategy’s implementation and impact.

25.

The strategy at appendix 1 will be properly designed by the Graphic Design
team, following approval at Cabinet, to ensure text size and layout is
appropriate.

Financial Implications
26.

The Strategy does not represent any significant funding commitments outside
agreed and existing budgets. The scope of the Strategy focuses mainly on
activity delivered by SportWorks and HealthWorks for which budgets have
already been agreed and activity highlighted in respective service plans. The
action plan will be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure any additional
actions are feasible and costed.

Risk Assessment
27.

The Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy 2022-2026 is a key strategy to
ensure the Council achieve the Health and Wellbeing objectives set out in the
Corporate Plan 2015-2025. Not having a strategy risks the Council failing to
address the emerging challenges of inactivity in the Borough and could mean
opportunities to improve health outcomes for residents are missed.

Equality and Diversity Implications
28.

12

The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report. Therefore, an
Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out and is at appendix 2.

Eastleigh Borough Council

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
29.

There are no climate or environmental implications of this report or the
Strategy.

Conclusion
30.

The Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy 2022-2026 sets the strategic
direction for sports and physical activity over the next 4 years and will help
drive the Council’s work to improve health and wellbeing and empower all
people to be active.

ANDREW SAUNDERS
STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT SENIOR SPECIALIST
Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

24 May 2022
Andrew Saunders
07531316085
Andrew.saunders@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendix 1: Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy
Appendix 2: Equality Impact Assessment

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
* List Background Papers: None.

Eastleigh Borough Council

13

This page is intentionally left blank

SPORTS AND ACTIVE
LIFESTYLES STRATEGY
2022 - 2026
To empower all people to be active

15

16

Foreword
I am pleased to present this new four-year Sport and Active Lifestyles Strategy that will help drive our work to
improve health and wellbeing and empower all people to be active. Being physically active is an essential part of a
healthy lifestyle and is linked to a number of other positive lifestyles choices, such as improving peoples overall
emotional and social wellbeing. This strategy strives to increase positive opportunities for our residents, through
an active lifestyle, as a core component of supporting and creating better outcomes for health and wellbeing.
The Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on everyone and has changed the way in which many people
get active. Restrictions have changed our habits which has affected the sport and physical activity sector,
significantly creating both challenges and opportunities. We know that some people have become more active at
home or returned to their normal routines right away, whilst others will take longer, especially to indoor settings.
This strategy recognises those challenges and seeks to support recovery from the pandemic across a number of
environments, working closely with key partners through the Sport and Physical Activity Alliance (SPAA).
During the previous strategy period, Eastleigh Borough Council and its partners proudly achieved a number of key
facility developments that will help to deliver sustainable sport and physical activity outcomes for the community.
This includes the development of Places Leisure Eastleigh, a £28 million state of the art leisure centre that replaced
Fleming Park Leisure Centre. This flagship site offers excellent quality wet and dry side facilities, supporting
community sports clubs and Eastleigh Borough residents to become and stay active. Amongst other investments,
we have also seen the development of Stoneham Lane Football Complex, one of the largest football hub sites in
the country and home to AFC Stoneham and the Eastleigh District Mini Soccer League. This £9 million site provides
the opportunity for thousands of people to play football all year round.
The SportWorks programme continues to support the delivery of key programmes and initiatives at a time when
staying active has never been so important for health and wellbeing. Programmes such as Park Sport and This Girl
Can provide accessible activity opportunities and aim to reduce physical inactivity across the borough.
HealthWorks programmes have also played a significant role in supporting and encouraging people to be active
through a number of programmes, such as free health walks, cardiac rehab, Steady and Strong balance classes,
health checks and much more, designed to support our most vulnerable to be active and improve their overall
health.
A number of new strategies have been released in recent years that support the movement agenda, including
Sport England’s ‘Uniting the Movement’ and Energise Me, who have published ‘We Can Be Active’. Both strategies
have helped inform the development of this Sport and Active Lifestyles Strategy to ensure our approach is joined
up and evidence based.
Now is the time to build on our success and to implement a strategy that will assist in guiding the future provision
of positive opportunities and outcomes for our residents. The Strategy aligns to the sport and health agenda to
ensure that accessible and sustainable physical activity opportunities develop thriving and healthy communities
across Eastleigh Borough.
Cllr Tonia Craig, Cabinet Member for Health and Social Policy

Contents
Introduction .......................................................................................................2
What are we already doing? ...............................................................................3
Local Context ......................................................................................................6
Challenges and Opportunities .............................................................................6
What do our residents say? .................................................................................7
Strategy..............................................................................................................8
Aim 1 - To increase and sustain regular participation in sport and physical activity
..........................................................................................................................9
Aim 2 - To support and develop a quality delivery structure of clubs, coaches,
volunteers, officials, and administrators ............................................................ 10
Aim 3 - To promote a healthy lifestyle, that is inclusive of all people .................. 11
Aim 4 - To protect and provide quality active environments and facilities which
are accessible to local communities ................................................................... 12
How the strategy is supported .......................................................................... 13
Appendix A - Delivery Plan ................................................................................ 14

Introduction
Eastleigh Borough is a unique place, divided into five local areas with Eastleigh as the main town, Fair Oak to the east, Hedge End and West End centrally and Hamble to the south. A recent population forecast estimates the borough’s
population at 138,351 in 2021, which is set to grow to 146,833 by 2026. Significant features of the borough include internationally renowned sailing venues on the River Hamble, a national and international cricketing venue at the Ageas
Bowl, Arts venues of regional significance at the Point and Berry Theatres and an award winning leisure facility located on Fleming Park. Eastleigh Borough also has strong built and environmental assets, with good provision for parks and
open spaces, such as two Green Flag awarded Country Parks, Itchen Valley and Lakeside, consisting of 200 hectares of beautiful lakes, water meadows and woodland.
As well as access to quality parks and leisure facilities, the borough also run a number of programmes and initiatives to support people to be active. Our SportWorks programmes are designed to provide a wide range of activity
opportunities, support facilities, schools and clubs to enhance the overall quality and quantity of provision on offer within the borough. HealthWorks programmes target our most vulnerable residents in the borough to live a healthy and
active lifestyle through low intensity exercise classes, health walks and a physical activity referral scheme designed to provide opportunities for people to improve their health and become more active. The combination of quality
environments and provision of programmes supports Eastleigh Borough residents to take up physical activity and remain active. As a landowner and developer, Eastleigh Borough Council is also embarking on delivering a different
approach to development, focusing on community, innovation, and sustainability. The One Horton Heath project, in the heart of the borough, will feature a mix of new homes, open spaces and sports and leisure facilities to support our
new communities, and this strategy will play a role in shaping provision for new developments.
Overall, health and wellbeing in Eastleigh is good and generally better than the England average. However, levels of obesity and inactivity are on the rise and with the pandemic causing disruptions to people’s active routines, how we
ensure our residents stay fit and healthy is increasingly important. An active lifestyle is key to developing an effective response to the problem of inactivity within Eastleigh as physical inactivity is one of the major risk factors causing
death and ill-health, both globally and locally. Increasing physical activity has the potential to improve the physical and mental health of individuals, reduce all-cause mortality and improve life expectancy. It can also save money in the
long term by significantly easing the burden of chronic disease on health and social care services.
This strategy sets out the plan for sport and active lifestyles provision in Eastleigh Borough and aligns with other regional and national strategies, such as Sport England’s strategy ‘Uniting the Movement’. Increasing participation levels in
sport and physical activity, and in turn tackling health inequalities, is an absolute priority for Eastleigh Borough and ensuring that we take a targeted approach and focus efforts in these areas is essential to success. It is important this
strategy reflects the national and local agenda for sport and physical activity provision; however, planning must be evidence driven ensuring that local issues and opportunities can be addressed and sustained.

Our vision
Our vision is to empower all people to be active. We value the benefits of sport in the widest sense, not solely impacting on improving the physical health of the borough, but also in bringing communities together, building confidence in
all ages and abilities, and supporting skills, training, and businesses. This strategy builds on the success of our previous strategy and sets out our aspirations to get more people, of all ages and backgrounds, to be more active. We want to
make Eastleigh Borough one of the most active places in Hampshire and promote the Council’s corporate priority to enable health and wellbeing and tackle health inequality and deprivation.

Where are we now?
Significant progress has been achieved over the last four years, such as a £28 million investment in Places Leisure Eastleigh, a brand new state of the art leisure centre for the borough, the development of Stoneham Lane Football
Complex and new sports facilities at Hardmoor and Wide Lane. The SportWorks and HealthWorks programmes continue to offer a wide range of opportunities to improve the health and wellbeing of residents and have delivered key
initiatives and campaigns to increase sport and physical activity, reduce health inequalities and improve long term health conditions. As well as programme delivery, support continues to be provided for community sports clubs and the
development of key facilities. All of this has contributed towards positive sport and physical activity outcomes for Eastleigh Borough residents and ensures people have access to the right tools to improve their health and wellbeing.
It is this Councils continued commitment to address inactivity across the borough and enable more people to participate in physical activity in a way which is fun and inclusive. There have been a number of successes since the
implementation of the previous strategy, which ran from 2016 – 2020:
Opening a £28 million state of the art leisure facility at Fleming Park.
Delivery of the This Girl Can Campaign, supporting women to be active, with an additional £10k achieved from Sport England to grow this.
Increased access to quality programmes by growing our reach through social media (850 followers on Twitter, Facebook page has 1,430 likes and 420 followers on Instagram).
Delivery of key physical activity and health intervention projects such as the physical activity referral scheme, Steady and Strong balance classes and health walks.
Increased opportunities for young people through Friday Night Football as a diversionary activity to reduce anti-social behaviour.
Delivery of Park Sport, dropping the entry age to 5 for activities so more people can access this provision.
Continued support for sports clubs and organisations through advice and small grants schemes (£16k in total funding over the last 4 years).
Four successful Sports Awards, celebrating 275 nominations and recognising the impact of the sports and physical activity sector.
Development of the Stoneham Lane Football Complex which opened 2019.
Increased opportunities for disabled people to access physical activity through HealthWorks programmes and Forever Active.
Expanded the Passport to Leisure Scheme to ensure a fair access for all residents so physical activity is affordable.

17

18

What are we already doing?
This Girl Can
This Girl Can is a nationwide campaign,
developed by Sport England to get women and
girls moving, regardless of shape, size and
ability. It proudly shouts that whatever your
shape, ability, or experience - sport and exercise
can be a fun and enjoyable part of every
woman's life. As part of this campaign, we aim
to break down current barriers women face in
taking part in regular exercise and inspire them
to take that first step.

Park Sport
Park Sport aims to provide opportunities for young people (5 - 16 year olds) and their families to keep
active during the summer months.
Most activities are free or low-cost, which is welcomed by families experiencing financial hardship as a
result of the pandemic and the cost of living challenges. Funding comes from the Council, Local Area
Committees and town and parish councils. More new local activity providers and clubs have been asked
to take part, including the Point Eastleigh team who have been involved in several aspects, together
with Itchen Valley Country Park and over 10 other local sports and activity providers.

“I always wanted to do yoga but was worried
that if I joined a class, my 'unbendy' body would
make me the weakling of the class. It is nothing
like that - learning with other newbies for 6
weeks gave me confidence and I found a weekly
activity that brings me mental as well as
physical well-being.”
Kate, from Eastleigh, who completed a This Girl Can Yoga course

Places Leisure Eastleigh
In 2017, Eastleigh Borough Council completed the development of a high-quality leisure facility to
replace the existing centre at Fleming Park. The project underpins the Council’s commitment to
promoting a healthy borough and provide improved facilities to grow and sustain community sport and
leisure.
It now offers a wide range of facilities to appeal to the diverse range of local residents. Collaborative
working with key stakeholders resulted in the co-location of health and wellbeing services with sport
and physical activity facilities with the aim of increasing participation within the community. The new
building occupies land adjacent to the existing centre that was subsequently demolished. This enabled
uninterrupted leisure provision throughout the construction period.
The new BREEAM ‘Excellent’ rated leisure centre encourages participation in sport and physical activity
while providing enhanced health and wellbeing services for the local and wider communities.

Health Walks
Health walks are organised walks, led by a qualified walk leader, which run weekly in the borough to
support people with low intensity exercise. Health walks are aimed at inactive people who would
benefit most from doing more physical activity. This can include people who have not been active for a
while and would like to start again, people recovering from ill health or who are managing a long-term
condition and anyone who’s been told by a health professional that they would benefit from being
more active.
“When I retired, I wanted to take up an activity which would give me regular exercise and enable me to
meet new people. I had never tried organised walks before so joining a group and exploring the open
spaces and woods in the area was a real joy as was the companionship of being with other walkers.”
John, 72, Fair Oak

The UK Chief Medical Officers Physical Activity Guidelines 2019 have produced useful infographics explaining physical activity needed for general health benefits for children and adults to help health professionals explain the type and
amount of physical activity that people should be doing to improve their health.

19

*Physical activity guidelines: infographics - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

20

Facts and figures

Eastleigh Borough had a population
of 138,351 in 2021, which is set to
grow to 146,833 by 2026

In 2021, 75% of women wanted to
be more active

Male and female life expectancy at
birth in Eastleigh was 81.8 and 83.2
in 2019 compared to England which
was 79.7 and 83.2

In 2019/ 20, 63.8% adults (18+) were
classified as overweight or obese in
Eastleigh compared to 62.8% in
England

In 2021, 69% of people with a longterm health condition wanted to be
more active

In Eastleigh, it was estimated that in
2017 the prevalence of common
mental disorders (aged 16+) was
13.5 people per 100 population. This
is much better compared to the
England rate at 16.9 per 100.

In 2019/ 20, 68.1% of adults were
physically active in Eastleigh
compared to 66.4% in England

In 2021, 81% of disabled adults
wanted to do more activity than they
currently do

20.3% of children in year R are
overweight or obese in Eastleigh (3
years data combined - 2017/18 2019/20)

Eastleigh is one of the 20% least
deprived district authorities in
England, with a slight increase in the
percentage of neighbourhoods
experiencing worse than UK average
deprivation 11.7% (2015) to 13%
(2019)

Challenges and opportunities

Strengths
- Male and female life expectancy
- Access to indoor and outdoor facilities
- SportWorks and HealthWorks programmes

- Experienced at accessing external funding

Opportunities

Weaknesses
- Excess weight in adults and children
- Participation gap between men and women
- Advertising whats on offer

SWOT
Threats

- Partnership working

- Ageing population

- Access to country parks and open spaces

- Mental health

- Places Leisure Eastleigh

- Health inequalities

- Ageing Population

- Social isolation and lonliness

- Master Planning for major growth areas

- Covid

What do our residents say?

nd

th

Eastleigh Borough Council ran a survey from 2 September 2021 to 30 September 2021 seeking views from members of the public, agencies, businesses and community organisations on how important
physical activity is to them and what opportunities there were to increase participation in sport and physical activity in Eastleigh Borough. A total of 133 people responded to the survey.

Over half of people were
satisfied or very satisfied
with opportunities to
participate in sport and
physical activity in Eastleigh

Roughly 44% of people felt
that more affordable prices
would support them to
become more physically
active

29% of people want sports
and physical activity
opportunities at more
convenient times

Approximately 25% of
people would like to feel
safer when exercising in
public

24% of people would like
more opportunities to be
physically active with others

18% of people in Eastleigh
do not feel confident taking
part in physical activity

The most popular physical
activity people participate in
is walking, with 79% of
people stating they walk to
keep active

Almost 31% of people take
part in fitness and exercise
to keep active

30% of people cycle, 20% of
people swim and 18%
people like to run to keep
active

36% of people stated they
would like to see more
fitness related activities in
the borough

There was a high percentage
of people who did not know
about what provsion is on
offer in Eastleigh

Roughly 53% of people felt
that there was good quality
facilities in Eastleigh

21

22

Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy 2022 – 2026
The Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy consists of 4 key aims which we believe are imperative to improve activity levels and participation in sport and physical activity across the borough.
The strategy will take a partnership approach and be supported by all community organisations, agencies, and clubs to enable all sectors to work towards agreed outcomes to achieve the
biggest possible positive impact. This will be achieved through the implementation of an action plan (at appendix 1) to ensure our vision to empower all people to be active is realised.

1. To increase and sustain regular participation in sport and physical activity.
-

Use SportWorks programmes to increase and sustain participation among all groups with targeted interventions.
Use HealthWorks programmes to deliver key targeted interventions around health and obesity.
Provide quality active programmes for young people to reduce levels of inactivity and obesity.
Engage with older residents to increase their physical activity levels and reduce social isolation.
Reduce the participation gap between males and females.
Improve opportunities to participate in sport and physical activity among people of different ethnic backgrounds.
Seek opportunities to develop new programmes to meet local need.

2. To support and develop a quality delivery structure of clubs, coaches, volunteers, officials, and administrators.
-

Support club and organisation development to enable them to reach their potential.
Provide specialist advice and guidance to encourage sustainable delivery within clubs and organisations.
Develop and increase opportunities for volunteering locally in sport and physical activity.
Identify opportunities for funding to support increased club and volunteer development.
Support community clubs in applications for external capital and revenue funding.
Use strategic commissioning, through partnerships, to attract additional resources to support the voluntary sports sector.

3. To promote a healthy lifestyle, that is inclusive of all people.
-

Use sport as a tool to promote wider health messages and encourage community cohesion including community safety and mental health.
Ensure effective data collection to monitor provision and inform strategic delivery.
Promote the Borough’s facilities and increase awareness of sports provision on offer across the Borough to targeted groups.
Promote inclusiveness of sports and activity to address health inequalities.
Work in partnership with local networks to engage and empower local people to increase their activity levels.

4. To protect and provide quality active environments and facilities which are accessible to local communities.
-

Ensure clubs are making use of community sports hubs/ community facilities for activity.
Provide and protect playing pitch provision guided by Eastleigh Borough Councils Playing Pitch Strategy.
Continue to work within the planning process and negotiate Section 106 agreements to enable quality open space and formal sports provision.
Ensure facilities align with projects identified in the Local Plan.
Continued client management of Eastleigh Borough Council owned leisure facilities.
Continue to monitor current facility stock and identify needs for future provision.
Support arts and culture assets to provide accessible and relevant activities for all people.
Maximise the use of our country parks and open green spaces for physical activity.

1. To increase and sustain regular participation in sport and physical activity.
Objectives:








Use SportWorks programmes to increase and sustain participation among all groups with targeted interventions.
Use HealthWorks programmes to deliver key targeted interventions around health and obesity.
Provide quality active programmes for young people to reduce levels of inactivity and obesity.
Engage with older residents to increase their physical activity levels and reduce social isolation.
Reduce the participation gap between males and females.
Improve opportunities to participate in sport and physical activity among people of different ethnic backgrounds.
Seek opportunities to develop new programmes to meet local need.

Why is this important?
Increasing and sustaining regular participation in physical activity is extremely important to overall health and can reduce the likelihood of developing a major illness, decrease the risks of obesity and
generally help improve your mental health. In Eastleigh, 24.3% of the population, roughly 26,200 residents, are considered to be inactive meaning they are doing less than 30 minutes of exercise a week. With
an ageing population, systematic health inequalities and the pandemic driving inactivity, physical inactivity is quickly becoming one of the biggest health challenges of our time.
The Covid-19 pandemic has had an impact on almost everyone in the world. National restrictions such as social and physical distancing measures, lockdowns of businesses, schools, and overall social life, to
halt the spread of the virus has disrupted many regular aspects of life, including sport and physical activity. It has also widened the levels of inequalities in terms of exercise and disproportionately impacted
those with the lowest activity levels. In the initial stages of national lockdown, almost 20% of each demographic group was doing ‘a lot less’ physical activity compared to an average week before Covid-19
restrictions.
Children and young people are also among those who are more likely to be inactive with 32.3% of local children and young people classified as inactive. Furthermore, people from Black or South Asian ethnic
groups are more likely to be inactive than those from White or mixed race ethnic groups. This is the same for people who identify as LGBT+ who are significantly more likely to be inactive compared to
heterosexual people and, on average women are more likely to be inactive than men. It is important to reduce the participation gaps amongst specific groups of people to begin to tackle inactivity and health
inequalities that exist across our borough. We need to continue to transform, increase and promote opportunities for our residents to become more active. We need to target those who are less likely to take
part in physical activity due to their personal circumstances and focus interventions for our most deprived areas.

23

What will we do?

Continue delivery of Park Sport for 5-16 year olds and additional programming of a 14+ offer.

Provide targeted support, by subsidising Park Sport for low income families.

Focus opportunities on women, utilising Sport England’s ‘This Girl Can’ campaign to build more
confidence in activity and reduce the participation gap between males and females.

Encourage people to be active by supporting our leisure facilities to recover following the pandemic.

Sustain the health walks programme across the borough ensuring the majority of walks offer a
‘slower’ option with at least 1 rehabilitation walk on the timetable.

Promote and advertise the Activity Buddy Scheme across the borough to increase people’s
confidence.

Continue to run our Steady and Strong classes at Velmore and Hedge End, aimed at older adults who
may be at risk of falling.

Run activity sessions specifically for older adults through the Forever Active Programme.

Promote more group based exercise through running clubs and other opportunities.

Work in partnership with our Arts and Culture sector, and Country Parks to promote a diverse range
of activity including walking, dance and more.

Success measures

Increase in annual attendances at the Park Sport programme.

Increase in number of low income families accessing the Park Sport programme
year on year.

Reduced percentage in physical inactivity among females across the borough.

Increase in number of visits to key facilities following the pandemic. (900,000 per
year).

Increase in number of people accessing health walks.

Increase in number of people with a registered disability accessing the Activity
Buddy Scheme.

Increase in number of people attending weekly sessions at Steady and Strong and
decrease in falls.

Sustain the Forever Programme aimed at older adults.

Reduced percentage of inactive residents, measured through the Active Lives
Survey.

Increase in participation at Arts and Culture and Country Parks event and activities.

24

2. To support and develop a quality delivery structure of clubs, coaches, volunteers, officials, and administrators.

Objectives:







Support club and organisation development to enable them to reach their potential.
Provide specialist advice and guidance to encourage sustainable delivery within clubs and organisations.
Develop and increase opportunities for volunteering locally in sport and physical activity.
Identify opportunities for funding to support increased club and volunteer development.
Support community clubs in applications for external capital and revenue funding.
Use strategic commissioning, through partnerships, to attract additional resources to support the voluntary sports sector.

Why is this important?
Getting people more active cannot be achieved in isolation and we recognise the benefit of working in partnership with others through our clubs, coaches and volunteers who are key in achieving the vision of
this strategy. Eastleigh Borough has a great network of clubs and organisations who encourage all our communities to be active. There are a lot of varied local sports clubs in the borough providing significant
opportunities for participation and development and the majority of clubs are well-linked with local educational establishments. Many of them are managed and operated by dedicated volunteers and have
good structures with well-run junior sections, but ensuring clubs get the support they need to develop and grow themselves is important.
Ensuring we support these crucial networks and partnerships, and connecting them with our most inactive populations, is essential and will further promote an active lifestyle in Eastleigh Borough. There
have been some challenges over the last few years, such as an increasing dependence on voluntary organisations and clubs to engage with our inactive communities and the financial burden experienced
across the sector. We need to continue to develop and increase opportunities locally in sport and physical activity through collaboration and celebrating the huge effort these groups contribute to our
community is a must.
Eastleigh Borough Council’s SportWorks team will continue to support our fantastic club infrastructure across the borough as they provide the network that really can make a difference to participation levels,
quality sporting experiences and sustained higher levels of physical activity in the population. Eastleigh Borough club conferences will remain a priority, as well as continued club infrastructure support from
the SportWorks team and recognition of clubs, coaches, participants, volunteers and officials through the Eastleigh Sports and Physical Activity Alliance Sports Awards. The growth and support for organised
volunteer led activities is key and will continue to target the most in need.
What will we do?

Continue to run volunteer led activities through HealthWorks and increase opportunities
particularly where specific gaps in sport and activity have been identified.

Promote sports and physical active within workplaces.

Provide schools, clubs and volunteers advice and support when required to help them
develop and grow.

Promote Club Matters to local clubs and volunteers as an online tool to help them develop
skills and knowledge to market themselves.

Deliver an annual club conference focusing on the latest and most relevant information to
support clubs in the local area.

Support the application phase and background support to clubs applying for funding.

Continue to run the small grants scheme to help fund new initiatives that will improve and
wellbeing.

Deliver Sports Awards in partnership with the Eastleigh SPAA to recognise and showcase the
work of local clubs, coaches, volunteers, and officials.

Success measures

Maintain local volunteer levels above national average.

Number of initiatives aimed at increasing activity and supporting exercise in the workplace.

Number of interactions with sports club and organisations seeking support or advice.

Increase in clubs and sports organisation accessing online learning tools.

Hold a club conference once per year to help sports clubs and organisations in the locality.

Amount of external funding awarded to sports clubs and organisations after seeking advice
and guidance from the Council.

Ensure the full amount of the Small Grants is allocated each year to support sports clubs
and organisation have a positive impact.

Hold an annual Sports Awards to showcase and celebrate the work of sports clubs and
organisations.

3. To promote a healthy lifestyle, that is inclusive of all people.
Objectives:






Use sport as a tool to promote wider health messages and encourage community cohesion including community safety and mental health.
Ensure effective data collection to monitor provision and inform strategic delivery.
Promote the Borough’s facilities and increase awareness of sports provision on offer across the Borough to targeted groups.
Promote inclusiveness of sports and activity to address health inequalities.
Work in partnership with local networks to engage and empower local people to increase their activity levels.

Why is this important?
Physical activity is about more than just joining a sports club or going to the gym. It includes any and all activity which is not just recreational and can include anything that uses energy, such as playing,
gardening, walking, or doing household chores. The majority of physically active adults in England managed to maintain their habits despite the challenges of Covid, with just 710,000 fewer active adults
across Hampshire between November 2019 and November 2020 compared to the same period 12 months previously. While the restrictions associated with the pandemic had an unprecedented impact on
activity levels, thanks in part to the support of the sport and physical activity sector, many people were able to adapt and find ways to return to activity as restrictions eased. This has caused a culture shift
and many people are now moving away from conventional physical activity, in favour of other forms activity like for walking or gardening.
The pandemic has also disproportionately impacted people, widening existing inequalities and increasing mental ill health among our residents. Approximately 13,500 people in Eastleigh suffered with
depression in 2020/21, which is around 13.5% of the population, slightly higher than the England prevalence of 12.3%. There are clear links between physical activity and the benefits this provides for an
individual’s mental health. Understanding our residents’ needs is important in shaping the services we provide them and should take into consideration the needs of the target audience to ensure that it is
accessible on all levels.
For these reasons, it is important that a targeted approach is considered, based on evidence and insight. Engaging residents in the development of programmes and completing effective consultation is key as
it is recognised that different people like to access physical activity opportunities in different ways and therefore the offer should not be one dimensional. We want to capitalise on this culture change and
promote all forms activity, which is inclusive of all people. It is important that we acknowledge this culture shift and communicate what is on offer, whilst forming robust and collaborative partnerships to
increase opportunities, participation and enjoyment in sport and physical activity.

25

What will we do?

Continue to run the Friday Night Football programme as a diversionary activity for local 10 -19 years to
promote positive outcomes for young people.

Develop links with National Governing Bodies and wider partners through the Sport and Physical Activity
Alliance.

Ensure that all Sports webpages are updated, and more information is available, so residents are aware of
activities available.

Create a new Health and Wellbeing room at Places Leisure Eastleigh to provide community-based
programmes.

Explore opportunities with PCNs to locate a mental health service at Places Leisure Eastleigh.

Promote what activity is on offer in Eastleigh Borough through relevant comms channels.

Continue to use insight and data to ensure programmes are valuable and support those who are inactive.

Use schemes such as Passport to Leisure to ensure fair access for all residents and explore opportunities to
scale this up where possible.

Broaden our offer of GP and self-referrals for exercise so people are able to access community based support.

Continue to deliver inclusive community health programmes at Places Leisure Eastleigh, such as Parent & Baby
and Family Activity Sessions.

Success measures

Increase in attendance at Friday Night Football.

Increase in quality membership at the quarterly SPAA group.

Ensure webpages are reviewed and updated at least annually.

Completion of the Health and Wellbeing room at PLE.

Number of weekly programmes run out of the Health and Wellbeing
room.

Increase in communication campaigns that advertise activity on offer
across the borough.

Regular review of data and evidence to help inform our strategic
approach.

Increase in number of facilities accepting Passport to Leisure to improve
accessibility.

Increase of referrals from GPs so people can access community support.

Continue community programmes for family sessions

26

4. To protect and provide quality active environments and facilities which are accessible to local communities.

Objectives:









Ensure clubs are making use of community sports hubs/ community facilities for activity.
Provide and protect playing pitch provision guided by Eastleigh Borough Councils Playing Pitch Strategy.
Continue to work within the planning process and negotiate Section 106 agreements to enable quality open space and formal sports provision.
Ensure facilities align with projects identified in the Local Plan.
Continued client management of Eastleigh Borough Council owned leisure facilities.
Continue to monitor current facility stock and identify needs for future provision.
Support arts and culture assets to provide accessible and relevant activities for all people.
Maximise the use of our country parks and open green spaces for physical activity.

Why is this important?
Ensuring that we have the right environments to enable people to be more physically active is a key aim of this
strategy as facilities provide the infrastructure to deliver sport, leisure and recreational opportunities to
increase participation, improve health and support clubs. In recent years, there have been major improvements
to Eastleigh’s sports and open space infrastructure, despite significant budget restrictions, so our communities
have access to the right facilities to be more active. Places Leisure Eastleigh is the Councils flagship indoor
facility in the borough. Finished in 2017, the £28 million project attracted more than 1 million visits per year pre
pandemic.
Eastleigh Borough also benefit from a fair geographical spread of other sports provision across the borough;
however, data shows that people in more rural areas need to travel further to access this. Many educational
and private leisure sites and community venues at key hub sites across the borough have been improved and
modernized through previous strategies. The range of facility types included gyms, multi-use halls, artificial
grass pitches, dedicated gymnastics and boxing facilities, sports halls, swimming facilities, changing facilities and
skate and BMX provision at a number of sites.
We want to maximise the use of the boroughs existing built facilities and open spaces as these are great
resources for people to enjoy and be active. This also includes community usage of sports halls at educational
sites which are great opportunities to enable our growing communities to have access to a wide range of high
quality local facilities and space. As significant areas of our borough are being developed and expanded, we
need to ensure that our built facilities and open spaces, existing and aspirational, meet the needs of our growing
populations. To do this, we will ensure that our facilities are being maintained, renewed, and upgraded through
continued monitoring of our facilities stock to identify need and provision. We will also provide and protect our
built leisure facilities and playing pitch provision, guided by the Councils Playing Pitch Strategy and Local Plan, to
ensure geographical access is maintained and enhanced.
What will we do?

Work closely with clubs and other providers to ensure that community facilities are being
used.

Develop a new Playing Pitch and Built Leisure Facilities Strategy for Eastleigh Borough.

Ensure there is early engagement with developers on a joint vision and framework for

Success measures

Increase in usage year on year from Eastleigh Borough clubs at key community sports
facilities.

Adopt a new Playing Pitch and Built Leisure Facilities Strategy by April 2023.

Delivery and project management where required for new facilities.










future sports facility requirements.
Ensure robust planning policies are in place in the Local Plan to ensure that new sports
recreation facilities are provided alongside new developments.
Continued support and monitoring for The Hub and Places Leisure Eastleigh to ensure clubs
have good access to EBC owned facilities.
Hold regular meetings through the Places Leisure Consultative Group so that partners are
informed and involved in decision making.
Encourage greater and wider use of our open spaces for physical activity, informal play and
structured sport, with a focus on promoting Lakeside Country Park as an ‘outdoor leisure
centre’.
Ensure each facility has a maintenance plan built into operating contracts/agreements.
Increase access to school sports facilities, sports halls and other alternative spaces making it
easier for the community to be active locally.
Work in partnership with creative facilities, such as The Point and Berry Theatre to promote
programme which support an active lifestyle.
Enhance our open spaces and playing pitches to enable more active environments.










Promote the use of accessible community facilities to support the development of sports
clubs and organisations.
Hold regular contract management meetings with PLE and The Hub to ensure effective
delivery of agreements.
Hold a minimum of two Places Leisure consultative meetings per year.
Deliver enhancement of the quality of playing pitches aligned to the recommendations
within the Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy.
Maintenance plan in place for all existing EBC sport and leisure assets.
Increase in the number of SportWorks programmes utilising open spaces and playing
pitches.
Increase in participation of partnership initiatives at creative facilities and country parks.
Ensure that new housing developments provide good quality formal sports provision to
meet the needs of new and existing populations.

27

28

This strategy is supported by a number of other strategies and plans, including:

Playing Pitch
Strategy

Local Plan
Public
Transport and
Cycling
Strategy

Sport England
Strategy

We Can Be
Active
Strategy

Corporate
Plan

Health and
Wellbeing
Strategy

Sport and
Active
Lifestyles
Strategy

Country Parks
Masterplan

Appendix 1 - Delivery Plan
Aim

To increase and sustain regular
participation in sport and physical
activity

Objective















To support and develop a quality
delivery structure of clubs, coaches,
volunteers, officials, and
administrators.

What will we do?



Continue delivery of Park Sport for 5-16 year olds and
additional programming of a 14+ offer.



Use HealthWorks programmes to deliver key
targeted interventions around health and
obesity.

Provide targeted support, by subsidising Park Sport for
low income families.



Provide quality active programmes for young
people to reduce levels of inactivity and
obesity.



Focus opportunities on women, utilising Sport England’s
‘This Girl Can’ campaign to build more confidence in
activity and reduce the participation gap between males
and females.
Encourage people to be active by supporting our leisure
facilities to recover following the pandemic.

Use SportWorks programmes to increase and
sustain participation among all groups with
targeted interventions.

Engage with older residents to increase their
physical activity levels and reduce social
isolation.



Reduce the participation gap between males
and females.



Improve opportunities to participate in sport
and physical activity among people of
different ethnic backgrounds.



Seek opportunities to develop new
programmes to meet local need.



Support club and organisation development
to enable them to reach their potential.



Provide specialist advice and guidance to
encourage sustainable delivery within clubs
and organisations.





Develop and increase opportunities for
volunteering locally in sport and physical
activity.

Within
year 1
x
x

x

x

Sustain the health walks programme across the borough
ensuring the majority of walks offer a ‘slower’ option
with at least 1 rehabilitation walk on the timetable.
Promote and advertise the Activity Buddy Scheme across
the borough to increase people’s confidence.

x

Continue to run our Steady and Strong classes at Velmore
and Hedge End, aimed at older adults who may be at risk
of falling.
Run activity sessions specifically for older adults through
the Forever Active Programme.

x

x

x

29



Promote more group based exercise through running
clubs and other opportunities.



Work in partnership with our Arts and Culture sector, and
Country Parks to promote a diverse range of activity
including walking, dance and more.

x



Continue to run volunteer led activities through
HealthWorks and increase opportunities particularly
where specific gaps in sport and activity have been
identified.
Promote sports and physical active within workplaces.

x



Provide schools, clubs and volunteers advice and support
when required to help them develop and grow.

x



Promote Club Matters to local clubs and volunteers as an
online tool to help them develop skills and knowledge to
market themselves.

x



Timescale
Within
Within
year 2
year 3

x

x

Within
year 4

30
To promote a healthy lifestyle, that
is inclusive of all people.



Identify opportunities for funding to support
increased club and volunteer development.





Support community clubs in applications for
external capital and revenue funding.





Use strategic commissioning, through
partnerships, to attract additional resources
to support the voluntary sports sector.



Use sport as a tool to promote wider health
messages and encourage community
cohesion including community safety and
mental health.








Promote what activity is on offer in Eastleigh Borough
through relevant comms channels.

x



Continue to use insight and data to ensure programmes
are valuable and support those who are inactive.

x



Use schemes such as Passport to Leisure to ensure fair
access for all residents and explore opportunities to scale
this up where possible.
Broaden our offer of GP and self-referrals for exercise so
people are able to access community based support.

x



Continue to deliver inclusive community health
programmes at Places Leisure Eastleigh, such as Parent &
Baby and Family Activity Sessions

x



Work closely with clubs and other providers to ensure
that community facilities are being used.

x



Develop a new Playing Pitch and Built Leisure Facilities
Strategy for Eastleigh Borough.





Promote the Borough’s facilities and increase
awareness of sports provision on offer across
the Borough to targeted groups.





Promote inclusiveness of sports and activity
to address health inequalities.



Work in partnership with local networks to
engage and empower local people to
increase their activity levels.



Ensure clubs are making use of community
sports hubs/ community facilities for activity.
Provide and protect playing pitch provision
guided by Eastleigh Borough Councils Playing

x

x

Ensure effective data collection to monitor
provision and inform strategic delivery.



x

x

x

x

x

Ensure that all Sports webpages are updated, and more
information is available, so residents are aware of
activities available.
Create a new Health and Wellbeing room at Places
Leisure Eastleigh to provide community-based
programmes.
Explore opportunities with PCNs to locate a mental
health service at Places Leisure Eastleigh.



x

x

x





Continue to run the small grants scheme to help fund
new initiatives that will improve and wellbeing.
Deliver Sports Awards in partnership with the Eastleigh
SPAA to recognise and showcase the work of local clubs,
coaches, volunteers, and officials.

x

Continue to run the Friday Night Football programme as
a diversionary activity for local 10 -19 years to promote
positive outcomes for young people.
Develop links with National Governing Bodies and wider
partners through the Sport and Physical Activity Alliance.



To protect and provide quality
active environments and facilities
which are accessible to local
communities.

Deliver an annual club conference focusing on the latest
and most relevant information to support clubs in the
local area.
Support the application phase and background support to
clubs applying for funding.

x

x

x

x

x

x

Pitch Strategy.


Continue to work within the planning
process and negotiate Section 106
agreements to enable quality open space
and formal sports provision.







Ensure facilities align with projects identified
in the Local Plan.



Continued client management of Eastleigh
Borough Council owned leisure facilities.



Continue to monitor current facility stock
and identify needs for future provision.



Support arts and culture assets to provide
accessible and relevant activities for all
people.







Maximise the use of our country parks and
open green spaces for physical activity.










Ensure there is early engagement with developers on a
joint vision and framework for future sports facility
requirements.
Ensure robust planning policies are in place in the Local
Plan to ensure that new sports recreation facilities are
provided alongside new developments.
Continued support and monitoring for The Hub and
Places Leisure Eastleigh to ensure clubs have good access
to EBC owned facilities.
Hold regular meetings through the Places Leisure
Consultative Group so that partners are informed and
involved in decision making.
Encourage greater and wider use of our open spaces for
physical activity, informal play and structured sport, with
a focus on promoting Lakeside Country Park as an
‘outdoor leisure centre’.
Ensure each facility has a maintenance plan built into
operating contracts/agreements.
Increase access to school sports facilities, sports halls and
other alternative spaces making it easier for the
community to be active locally.
Work in partnership with creative facilities, such as The
Point and Berry Theatre to promote programme which
support an active lifestyle.
Enhance our open spaces and playing pitches to enable
more active environments.

x

x

x

x

x

x

x
x

x

x

x

x

31

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
Title of EqIA:

Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy 2022 - 2026

Brief description of the
Proposal:

The current Sport and Active Lifestyles Strategy was
adopted in 2016 and ran until 2020. The strategic focus was
on increasing participation in sport and physical activity
whilst also tackling health inequalities as a priority for the
Borough.
The Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy 2016 - 2020
identified four strategic aims:
 To increase and sustain regular participation
in sport and physical activity
 To support and develop a quality delivery
structure of clubs, coaches, volunteers,
officials and administrators
 To promote a healthy lifestyle by making the
case for sport and physical activity, building
an evidence base and advocating the benefits
 To protect and provide quality active
environments and facilities which are
accessible to local communities.
The new Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy 2022 - 2026
sets out the plan for sport and active lifestyles provision in
Eastleigh Borough and aligns with other regional and
national strategies, such as Sports England’s strategy
‘Uniting the Movement’.
Increasing participation levels in sport and physical activity,
and in turn tackling health inequalities, is an absolute
priority for Eastleigh Borough and ensuring that the Council
take a targeted approach and focus efforts in these areas is
essential to success. This strategy reflects the local and
national agenda for sport and physical activity provision,
ensuring that planning is evidence driven so that local
issues and opportunities can be addressed and sustained.

Summary of Impacts
and Issues:

Significant progress has been achieved over the last four
years, including some large-scale capital projects, which
has contributed towards positive sport and physical activity
outcomes for the Borough.

However, it is recognised that the Council has faced

33

significant challenge through the pandemic which has
disrupted many regular aspects of life including sport and
physical activity.
The pandemic has widened levels of inequalities in terms of
exercise and disproportionately impacted those with the
lowest activity levels. In the initial stages of national
lockdown, almost 20% of each demographic group was
doing ‘a lot less’ physical activity compared to an average
week before.
Potential Positive
Impacts:

The proposal is for the new Strategy, which will span from
2022 – 2026, to build on the existing 2016 - 2020 document
and not to present a complete change in direction. It is
expected that the style of the new strategy will be different,
based more on the stakeholder consultation and local
insight and that this will offer a more targeted approach to
focus on the areas that require the greatest support, whilst
ensuring there is greater ownership with key stakeholders
working towards agreed outcomes.
The Strategy will build on ‘place’ through existing built
leisure facilities, but also draw on opportunities to further
promote active lifestyles through the Borough’s country
parks and culture sector. It will also be inclusive, as certain
groups have been disproportionately affected by the
pandemic and therefore are less active (such as women
and people who are disabled).
The Strategy will be owned by the sport and physical
activity sector within Eastleigh Borough, to enable all
sectors to work towards agreed outcomes to achieve the
biggest possible positive impact.

What engagement or
consultation has been
carried out?

In September 2021, the Council launched a public
consultation which went live on 2nd September and closed
on 30th September. The consultation sought views from
members of the public, agencies, businesses, and
community organisations on how important physical activity
is to them and what opportunities there are to increase
participation in sport and physical activity in Eastleigh. A
total of 133 people responded to the survey.
There was also separate engagement with key partners
and providers to understand what their priorities for sport
and activity are and what role they can play in tackling
inactivity.
The Strategy was taken to Policy and Performance on 6

34

December 2022 where the strategy was discussed as part
of early engagement. Feedback and comments from the
meeting were recorded and have been consider along with
the development of the Strategy below.
The Strategy was also discussed at a number of
partnership meetings, including the Eastleigh Health and
Wellbeing Board (on 28th September 2021) and Sports and
Physical Activity Alliance meeting (on 13 December 2021)
to ascertain views from key stakeholders during the
development of the Strategy.
Finally, the proposed aims and objectives of the Strategy
were discussed with Local Area Managers on 16th March
2022 to understand their views on the objectives of the
Strategy and get a steer from managers on the core themes
the Strategy should reflect to allow for a targeted approach
in their respective patches.

Assessment
For all of categories below please consider:
1. Does this proposal eliminate unlawful discrimination?
2. Does this proposal advance equality of opportunity between people who share
a protected characteristic and those who do not share it?
3. Does this proposal foster good relations between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not share it?

35

36
Statutory Considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people with protected characteristics.
Impact Assessment

Details of Impact

Possible Solutions/ Mitigating Factors

Age:

Age can be a factor in whether people are more
likely to access sports and physical activity,
particularly for younger and older groups.

The Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy
aims to address these issues through the
action plan by trying to encourage
younger and older people access
physical activity provision by rolling out
activity and programmes specifically for
them.

Data from the Active Lives Survey shows that in
2020/21, activity levels had fallen for both the 16-34
and 35-54 age groups in England, compared to 12
months previous. This continues the downward
trend seen before the pandemic for the 16-34 age
group, with the proportion who are active having
fallen a further 2.8%/420,000 compared to 12
months prior. Within this, it’s the 16-24 age group
particularly driving the decreases.
Activity levels had been growing strongly amongst
the 55-74 and 75+ age groups prior to the
pandemic. While activity levels have broadly been
maintained in the 55-74 age group, many of the
gains among the 75+ age group have been lost.
The 75+ age group was particularly affected. This
may be linked to the requirement for many of those
aged 70+ to shield during the earlier stages of the
pandemic and a continued nervousness of mingling
indoors or in crowded outdoor spaces.
Disability:

Disabled adults and people with a long-term health
condition are less likely to be active than those
without, with activity levels decreasing sharply the
more impairments an individual has.

The Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy
covers disability through a range of
activity provided through HealthWorks
programmes, aimed specifically at

However, until the pandemic and restrictions were
introduced, there were steady increases in activity
levels among all levels of impairment and, as such,
a slight narrowing of the inequality.
The impact of the pandemic has been seen across
all impairment groups, with an overall drop of 2.1%
in 2020/21, compared to the 12 previous months
among disabled people and those with a long-term
health condition who were active in England.
Sex:

vulnerable and older groups who want to
get more active. This incudes Health
Walks, the Active Buddy Scheme and
Aqua Relax all aimed at people with
disabilities or long term illnesses to
increase their confidence.
PLE also offer Forever Active sessions
designed for older adults.

According to the data, women are less likely to
participate in physical activity than men. However,
both men and women recorded sharp declines in
activity levels across England in 2020/21, as a
result of the restrictions imposed.

The strategy has identified specific
objectives to reduce the participation gap
between males and females and work
with facilities to encourage people back to
activity following the pandemic.

Across mid-May 2020 to mid-May 2021:
• 62.3%/13.8m men were active. This was
2.3%/475,000 fewer compared to 12 months
earlier
• 59.8%/13.9m women were active. This was
1.4%/257,000 fewer compared to 12 months
earlier.

An example is through utilising Sport
England’s ‘This Girl Can’ campaign to
build more confidence among women.

Gender reassignment:

No impact identified

N/a

Pregnancy and Maternity:

There is evidence which shows if you are regularly
physically active during pregnancy, this can have a
number of benefits, both for you and for your baby.

The Strategy include an action to
continue to deliver inclusive community
health programmes at Places Leisure
Eastleigh, such as Parent & Baby and
Family Activity Sessions.

Race:

Black and Asian adults, as well as those who have
‘other ethnicities’, are less likely to be active than

The Strategy and action plan set the
Councils approach to achieving the

37

38
those who are White or Mixed race.
The pandemics has had a disproportionately
negative impact on those with the lowest activity
levels and as such the inequalities have widened.

objectives within the Sports and Active
Lifestyles Strategy, to reduce inactivity
and empower all people to be active.

Religion or belief:

No impact identified

N/a

Sexual Orientation:

People who identify as LGBT+ are significantly
more likely to be inactive compared to heterosexual
people.

The Strategy and action plan set the
Councils approach to achieving the
objectives within the Sports and Active
Lifestyles Strategy, to reduce inactivity
and empower all people to be active.

Marriage and civil partnership:

No impact identified

N/a

Social deprivation - please highlight what
impact could there be on people
experiencing social deprivation:

Activity levels among the most affluent (NS-SEC 12) and mid-affluent (NS-SEC 3-5) groups have
fallen in 2020/21 compared to 12 months prior.

The Strategy reflects a number of
initiatives to address deprivation by
making certain activities and programmes
more affordable to lower income
households and providing concessions
through the Passport to Leisure scheme.

While we can’t report a change compared to 12
months ago for the least affluent groups
(routine/semi-routine jobs and those who are longterm unemployed or have never worked, NS-SEC
6-8), this is the only group to show a decrease
compared to the November 2015-16 baseline (2.7%). This reinforces the previously observed
widening of existing inequalities.
Other significant Impacts:

Action Plan

No impact identified

N/a

Activity

Outcome

Lead Officer:

Andrew Saunders

Manager:

Janine Pickering

Corporate Director:

Andrew Trayer

Date completed:

26/04/2022

Timeframe

Person responsible

39

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
CABINET
THURSDAY 24 MAY 2022
JOINT MUNICIPAL WASTE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
Report of Executive Head of Neighbourhood Services

Recommendation
It is recommended that Cabinet approves the revised Joint Municipal Waste
Management Strategy (JMWMS).

Summary
The legislative and budgetary environment has changed significantly for all
partnership authorities within Hampshire since the 2012 JMWMS was last
refreshed. To consolidate an agreed path for service consistency and best
value in waste service delivery for the County as a whole, Project Integra (PI)
has updated the JMWMS. This updated JMWMS will be reviewed by the
partnership every three years.
The full JMWMS is attached to this report and this report refers to key points
arising from the JMWMS.
The updated JMWMS is based upon the principles of the waste management
hierarchy, which dictates that waste prevention is the most desirable outcome
followed by reducing, reusing, and then recycling resources before the worstcase option of disposal. The JMWMS also aims to deliver engagement,
education and raise awareness of waste management within the community to
drive material up the waste hierarchy.
Statutory Powers
Environment Act 2021

Strategic Implications
1.

The revised JMWMS will support the Council in continuing to meet its
Minimising Waste and Maximising Resources objective in the Corporate Plan
2015 – 2025.

2.

The Government’s Resources and Waste Strategy for England (published
December 2018) set a target for a minimum of 65% of municipal waste to be

41

recycled by 2035. This is also reinforced by the EU Circular Economy Package.
3.

Responding to the Climate and Environmental Emergency is critical, as is the
need to ensure residents are also clear about their responsibilities and the
Council’s responsibilities for managing their waste and recycling.

4.

The Environment Act 2021 and legislation that will arise from it, will support the
objectives of the revised JMWMS.

Introduction
5.

42

The key objectives of the revised JMWMS are:


Whole system thinking at PI level - Whole system thinking is a key priority
and will allow the most effective and efficient waste management system to be
delivered. By understanding how changes made by individual members of the
partnership impact on the system as a whole in terms of cost and tonnages, an
integrated approach is adopted and the best outcomes at a local level are
derived.



Development of and commitment towards revised JMWMS
implementation Plan - An implementation plan with clear actions will be
developed by a joint PI working group, along with responsibilities assigned to
stakeholders to ensure objectives can be met. Local variations will be captured
and considered in the plan as it is understood not all stakeholders will be able to
follow the same approach in all instances, for example, authorities that have
contracts in place to deliver waste collection services, may find contractual end
dates might delay implementation of two stream collections.



Setting agreed performance indicators and targets - Improving service
performance will continue to be at the forefront of the JMWMS and a
performance monitoring regime will be developed and agreed by all PI partners
to track improvements. The PI recycling rate for 2020/21 was 35%, a decrease
of 3.78% from 2019/20. Eastleigh Borough Council has an estimated recycling
rate of 45% for quarters 1, 2 and 3 in 2021/22. Contamination of recyclable
material will continue to be a key measure of performance. When twin stream
collections take place from 2024 onwards, authorities will be required to fund
contamination costs. The mechanism for this is still to be determined. The
better the quality of recyclable materials, the lower the impact of these costs.



Identification of external funding opportunities - As the focus on the circular
economy becomes more central, (reducing waste to a minimum by reusing,
repairing, refurbishing and recycling existing materials and products), it is
anticipated that further types of funding to support these activities will become
available. The Government has also intimated that New Burden Funding will be
provided for new services that will be mandated within the Government’s
Resources and Waste Strategy.

Eastleigh Borough Council

6.

The JMWMS also proposes the introduction of two stream (also known as twin
stream) collections. Two stream collections will consist of fibres (paper and
card) in one receptacle, and containers (glass bottles and jars, plastic bottles,
plastic pots, tubs and trays, metal tins and cans) in another. With the need to
improve the quality as well as quantity of the recyclables collected and as
HCC’s disposal contract with Veolia is in its final eight years, now is the time all
authorities to agree on the future design of recycling and waste services. This
approach will require the redevelopment of waste transfer infrastructure and
Materials Recovery Facilities (MRFs) to be capable of handling glass in either
new or upgraded facilities.

7.

A Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP) study was undertaken in
2020/21 to support PI in identifying an optimal collection option, reviewing
options based on two-stream and multi-stream (kerbsort) collections. The
outcomes have allowed PI to plan for the implementation of a waste
management solution for Hampshire that meets national and local recycling
aspirations at the lowest overall cost for the system.

8.

The two-stream dry recycling collection will require the redevelopment of waste
transfer station infrastructure and Materials Recovery Facilities (MRFs) to be
capable of handling glass (either in new or upgraded facilities) within a
container’s material stream. The residual waste collection will remain
unchanged.

9.

Reducing contamination is a key objective and this will also help improve the
Borough’s recycling performance. The average dry mixed recycling
contamination level across the authorities in Hampshire was 15.93%% in
2021/22. In the same year the contamination level for Eastleigh Borough
Council was 17.52%.

10.

The JMWMS recognises that the above changes will require new improved joint
working and funding arrangements and that these should be structured to
incentivise and support positive waste management practices and achieve
value for money for all partnership authorities.

11.

This JMWMS does not commit Partners to a particular funding arrangement, as
this is being discussed through separate work being undertaken on a revised
Partnership Agreement. Instead, the JMWMS recognises the need to revise the
current arrangements to ensure they are fair, and all parties are incentivised to
improve performance having regard to the government’s legislative changes.

12.

PI will develop a Waste Prevention Plan to drive this, following further waste
prevention guidance from Government. This will require engagement and
commitment by all partners to drive the initiatives and ensure objectives are
achieved.

13.

The JMWMS provides a framework for the Council as it develops its approach
to increasing recycling and reducing and preventing waste growth and putting in
place requirements resulting from the Environment Act 2021.

Eastleigh Borough Council

43

Financial Implications
14.

The JMWMS has no financial implications and does not commit the authority to
a particular funding arrangement. This is being discussed through separate
work being undertaken on a revised Partnership Agreement.

15.

However, the JMWMS implementation plan that will be agreed by the
partnership will have financial implications. The implementation costs that will
need to be absorbed will relate to purchasing additional containers for fibre and
possibly new vehicles. The Environment Act 2021 and its objectives for local
authorities will result in significant changes to waste collections and will require
resource to plan and manage changes and support ongoing communications
and behaviour change programmes with residents and businesses. Whilst the
Environment Act will provide potential funding opportunities through New
Burdens Funding, the availability of these and timescales are still not clear. At
this point in time, further information is required from central government before
the financial implications are fully known.

Risk Assessment
16.

A risk assessment has not yet been completed. It is not possible to do this until
further information is received from central government. However, key risks
will be costs resulting from the JMWMS implementation plan. The level of
Government funding arising from the Environment Act 2021 regarding
consistent collections and extended producer responsibility to cover additional
costs, is also not yet known. However, consultation feedback from Defra,
indicates it is expected that local authorities should receive their full net costs
where they have taken all reasonable steps to establish effective and efficient
systems. The risks of being the only authority not being part of this strategic
implementation approach to the management of waste across the county could
impact on collection and disposal costs.

Equality and Diversity Implications
17.

The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because:


It is a response to a strategy developed by PI and partner authorities
across Hampshire.

For this reason, an EqIA has not been carried out.
Workstreams resulting from the JMWMS, will require an Equality Impact
Assessment (EqIA) in due course.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
18.

44

The JMWMS recognises that waste reduction will be the most effective and
efficient way of delivering waste services over the duration of the strategy and
will reduce treatment and landfill use, reducing climate change impacts and
contributing to a cleaner, greener environment.
Eastleigh Borough Council

19.

Furthermore, waste reduction will also reduce waste handling and reprocessing
costs, especially important given the number of housing developments and
population growth in Hampshire.

20.

Key to work streams resulting from the JMWMS will be the need to work with
residents and businesses to recycle more and minimise waste.

Conclusion
21.

The revised JMWMS will support the Council to continue to meet its Minimising
Waste and Maximising Resources objective and key outcomes from the
Environment Act.

22.

It is recommended that Cabinet approves the revised Joint Municipal Waste
Management Strategy.

Gale Smith
PROJECT MANAGER - WASTE
Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

3 May 2022
Gale Smith
gale.smith@eastleigh.gov.uk
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this report
or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in the
preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works or documents
which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
None.

Eastleigh Borough Council

45

This page is intentionally left blank

Project Integra

Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy

Wood Group UK Limited – August 2021

47

2

Report for

Copyright and non-disclosure notice

Project Integra

The contents and layout of this report are subject to copyright
owned by Wood (© Wood Group UK Limited 2020) save to the
extent that copyright has been legally assigned by us to
another party or is used by Wood under licence. To the extent
that we own the copyright in this report, it may not be copied
or used without our prior written agreement for any purpose
other than the purpose indicated in this report. The
methodology (if any) contained in this report is provided to
you in confidence and must not be disclosed or copied to third
parties without the prior written agreement of Wood.
Disclosure of that information may constitute an actionable
breach of confidence or may otherwise prejudice our
commercial interests. Any third party who obtains access to
this report by any means will, in any event, be subject to the
Third Party Disclaimer set out below.

Main contributors
Jennifer Allen
Christian Knudsen
Richard Garfield

Issued by
Signature here
.................................................................................
Jennifer Allen

Third party disclaimer
Approved by
Signature here
.................................................................................
Richard Garfield

Wood Group UK Limited
Shinfield Park
Reading
RG2 9FW
United Kingdom
Tel +44 (0)118 913 1234
Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

Any disclosure of this report to a third party is subject to this
disclaimer. The report was prepared by Wood at the instruction
of, and for use by, our client named on the front of the report.
It does not in any way constitute advice to any third party who
is able to access it by any means. Wood excludes to the fullest
extent lawfully permitted all liability whatsoever for any loss or
damage howsoever arising from reliance on the contents of
this report. We do not however exclude our liability (if any) for
personal injury or death resulting from our negligence, for
fraud or any other matter in relation to which we cannot legally
exclude liability.

Management systems
This document has been produced by Wood Group UK Limited
in full compliance with our management systems, which have
been certified to ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and ISO 45001 by Lloyd's
Register.

Document revisions

48 May 2022

Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

No.

Details

Date

V1

First draft

15 July 2021

V2

Second draft

21 July 2021

V3

Third draft

27 July 2021

V4

Draft for release to client

29 July 2021

V5

Final Draft

23 Aug 2021

3

Contents

1.

Introduction to Project Integra

5

1.1

Working Groups

5

1.2

Our Vision

6

1.3

Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy - Principles

6

2.

Performance and Service Delivery

8

2.1

Current services

9

2.2

Infrastructure

3.

Policy and legislative drivers

3.1

International and National Policy & Legislation

11

Circular Economy
A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment (policy paper) January 2018
Our waste, our resources: a strategy for England (Draft), December 2018
Environment Bill 2020

11
11
12
12

Drivers for Change

13

National Policy
Budgetary pressures
Investment in Infrastructure

13
13
14

3.2

10

11

4.

JMWMS Key Objectives

4.1

Partnership Working

15

Whole system thinking at PI level
Development of and commitment towards revised JMWMS Implementation Plan
Setting agreed performance indicators and targets
Revision to PI funding arrangements
Identification of external funding opportunities

15
15
16
16
16

Recyclable Material Management

17

Introduction of two stream collections
Reduced contamination
Retained and maximised income share for materials

17
18
18

Waste Reduction

18

Development and delivery of waste prevention initiatives
Increased reuse from bulky waste
Continued promotion of home composting

19
19
19

Best Practice

20

Zero waste to landfill
Evaluation and introduction of alternative fuels for vehicles
Identification and evaluation of alternative technologies

20
20
21

Service Delivery

21

Consistent, best practice approach to service provision
Improved and consistent communications campaigns
Consistent approach to staff training
Increased cross boundary working

21
21
22
22

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

May 2022
Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

15

49

4

Sharing of customer satisfaction surveys for the benefit of all partners

5.

Action Plan

Appendix one: The strategic options considered

22

23
24

Identification of strategic options

24

Officers workshop

24

Options appraisal

25

Members workshop

25

50 May 2022

Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

5

1.

Introduction to Project Integra

Project Integra (PI) is a partnership in Hampshire consisting of Hampshire County Council as a waste disposal
authority, 11 waste collection authorities and two unitary authorities, all providing a variety of collection
services but based on a core theme of the comingled collection of dry recyclable material. The two unitary
authorities, Portsmouth City Council and Southampton City Council also act as Waste Disposal Authorities.
The Local Authorities that make up PI are:


Basingstoke & Deane Borough Council
(BDBC)



Havant Borough Council (HBC)



East Hampshire District Council (EHDC)



New Forest District Council (NFDC)



Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC)



Portsmouth City Council (PCC)



Fareham Borough Council (FBC)



Rushmoor Borough Council (RBC)



Gosport Borough Council (GBC)



Southampton City Council (SCC)



Hampshire County Council (HCC)



Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC)



Hart District Council (HDC)



Winchester City Council (WCC)

In 1997 Hampshire County Council entered into a waste disposal service contract (now extended to 2030)
which was awarded to Veolia UK. Portsmouth City Council and Southampton City Council became cosignatories to the contract after their formation as unitary authorities. Prior to the commencement of the
contract, all 14 waste authorities of Hampshire (Disposal and Collection), along with Veolia Hampshire,
became members of PI. The Partnership agreement sets out the principles of PI and the roles and
responsibilities of the partnership authorities.
The work of PI is guided by three objectives:


Customer focus



Value for money



Sustainability

Hampshire has been widely acknowledged for its partnership working on waste, its impressive integrated
waste management facilities, relatively high performance and contribution to shifting fundamental thinking
from waste to resource management, however in recent years performance levels have failed to keep up with
those of the best performing authorities in England - this is a situation that the Partnership is determined to
change.

1.1

Working Groups

The Partnership works to influence national policies, secure external funding, and promote sustainability, with
a core aim being to communicate effectively to both the public and the businesses communities. Our
strategy officer group is made up of officers from each partner authority and PI. Similarly, our strategic board
is made up of officers and elected members from each partner authority.
There are a number of existing working groups within the Partnership, although additional groups are
created to target specific issues when identified:

May 2022
Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

51

6

1.2



The Resource Aware Group (RAG); deliver consistent, effective waste management
communications and performance improvement across Hampshire.



Operations; meet to discuss operational issues and programmes of work.



Waste technical group; meet to discuss the materials analysis facility sampling programme and
contamination.



The Common Approach to Safety and Health (CASH); supported by PI and considers health and
safety best practice and guidance aligned to waste and other environmental services.



Fly-tipping Strategy; sits under PI for governance and information purposes

Our Vision

In support of the 14 waste authorities in Hampshire delivering its vision, the Partnership refreshed its 2006
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) in 2012 with a vision to manage the effectiveness of its
sustainable material resources system to maximise efficient re-use and recycling of material resources and
minimise the need for disposal in accordance with the national waste hierarchy. It is recognised that the
legislative and budgetary environment has significantly changed since the refresh of the JMWMS and that an
update is required to take into account competing pressures on all partnership authorities within Hampshire,
and to consolidate an agreed path for service consistency and best value in waste service delivery for the
county as a whole, based on agreed priorities.
This updated JMWMS will be reviewed by the Partnership every three years, and the vision for Hampshire is:
”The Project Integra partners will work together to deliver high performing, forward looking recycling and waste
management services which provide value for money for Hampshire taxpayers meeting local needs and
recognising the climate emergency and need for a reduction in carbon emissions.”

1.3

Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy - Principles

The revised Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC) sets out the waste hierarchy which ranks waste
management options according to what is best for the environment. Waste management in the UK is based
on the principles of the waste hierarchy, which dictates that waste prevention is the most desirable outcome
followed by reducing, reusing and then recycling resources before the worst-case option of disposal. Our
JMWMS has always aimed to deliver engagement, education and raise awareness of waste management
within the community to drive material up the waste hierarchy.

52 May 2022

Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

7

The Government’s documents “Resources and waste strategy – Our Waste, our resources: A Strategy for
England” (December 2018) and “Waste Prevention Programme for England: Towards a Resource Efficient
Economy (March 2021)” set out priorities for action to manage resources and waste in accordance with the
waste hierarchy and to focus increased efforts towards those steps at the top of hierarchy. This JMWMS is
aligned to the requirements of these documents.
Operating our waste management services comes at a substantial cost. With budgetary constraints and
legislative pressures it is important to maximise value for money as an overarching Partnership principle.
Striving for improved performance through waste prevention in the first instance, followed by recycling, is
resultantly the best option both financially and environmentally. By following this principle the Partnership
and the wider community can contribute to and help ensure value for money is realised in the services
delivered.
Besides public engagement the JMWMS aims to deliver waste collection, treatment and disposal solutions
while minimising the environmental impacts. In addition to the waste hierarchy, the partnership also
acknowledges the proximity principle that describes a need for materials to be handled, treated, and
disposed of as near as possible to its place of consumption.

May 2022
Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

53

8

2.

Performance and Service Delivery

Waste management in Hampshire has seen significant change since 2000 as illustrated in Figure 2-1. The
landfilling of waste has continuously decreased, markedly between 2003/04 and 2005/06 when residual
waste began to be treated within Energy from Waste (EfW) facilities.
The total amount of generated waste in Hampshire has also reduced since a peak in 2005/06 of around
850,000 tonnes per annum to approximately 750,000 tonnes per annum in 2019/20, with a waste collection
1
yield of 428.9 kg/person/year .
In 2019/20 Hampshire’s recycling rate was 41.7% (across all recycling services, including HWRCs). The highest
performing Partner had a recycling rate of 41.3%, with the lowest performing Partner having a recycling rate
of 24.8%. Overall, the County sits within the lower half of the English local authority recycling performance
league table, with the majority of partners sitting in the lower quartile. The recycling, reuse and composting
rate has increased over time but has plateaued over 2018/19 and 2019/20. The level of performance being
achieved has resulted in pressure being exerted on some Partner authorities by the Secretary of State to
make improvements.
Contamination monitoring across the MRFs showed that the average comingled dry recycling contamination
level was 15.9% in 2019/20 (an increase from 13.75% in 2018/19). However, the capture of comingled dry
recycling has also slightly increased over this time period. Reducing contamination will continue to be a key
focus going forward.

1

https://www.letsrecycle.com/councils/league-tables/2019-20-overall-performance/

54 May 2022

Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

9

2

Figure 2-1 Household waste treatment for Hampshire from 2000-2020 (Hampshire County Council, 2021)

The Partnership is committed to improving performance to consistently high levels across Hampshire,
Portsmouth and Southampton, to optimise costs and to achieve this while working to high and consistent
levels of public satisfaction. This will be supported through regular and consistent service review, analysis and
measurement to enable progress against targets to be tracked and further actions to be identified.

2.1

Current services

The waste collection systems in Hampshire vary between the partner authorities. However, all households
receive a kerbside collection for dry mixed recyclables (paper & card, plastic bottles, cans, tins and aerosol
cans). Garden waste collections are offered through chargeable, opt-in services and many households receive
glass collections. Residual waste, comingled dry recycling (excluding glass), and separate glass is collected
using different containers and on differing frequencies, as detailed in Table 2-1.

2

https://www.hants.gov.uk/wasteandrecycling/projectintegra/performance

May 2022
Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

55

10

Table 2-1 2021 collection of MSW by the partnership authorities, Weekly: Collected weekly, Fortnightly: Collection every second
week, AWC: Alternate Weekly Collection of Residual waste and Dry recycling, and 4-weekly: Collection every fourth week.

Partner Residual
waste
BDBC
Weekly
HDC
Fortnightly
SCC
AWC
RBC
Weekly
EHDC
Fortnightly
HBC
Fortnightly
WCC
AWC
EBC
AWC
PCC
Weekly
FBC
AWC
GBC
AWC
NFDC
Weekly
TVBC
AWC

2.2

Dry recycling (ex.
glass)
Fortnightly
Fortnightly
AWC
Fortnightly
Fortnightly
Fortnightly
AWC
AWC
Fortnightly
AWC
AWC
Weekly
AWC

Glass

Food Waste

Collected with dry recycling in box
Collected with dry recycling in box
Fortnightly
Collected with dry recycling in box
4-weekly
n/a
4-weekly
Fortnightly
n/a
n/a
n/a
4-weekly
n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a
Weekly from Oct
n/a
n/a
n/a
Weekly
Weekly
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

Infrastructure

Hampshire County Council has, in conjunction with the City Councils of Portsmouth and Southampton,
entered a waste disposal service contract (now extended to 2030) with Veolia UK. The joint working
arrangements put in place through the PI partnership have enabled the Councils to include recycling
infrastructure within the remit of the contract. Investment has been made across a suite of waste
management infrastructure solutions:


Three Energy Recovery Facilities (ERFs);



Two Material Recovery Facilities (MRFs);



Two Composting Facilities;



26 Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs); and



12 Transfer Stations.

Infrastructure requirements are being considered in light of the anticipated requirements of the Resources
and Waste Strategy, and the changes in services that will be required. This is particularly relevant to the
provision of MRFs, which will require reconfiguration or redevelopment should services transition to a twostream collection of dry recyclate.

56 May 2022

Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

11

3.

Policy and legislative drivers

This section summarises the key international, national and local legislation and drivers
which impact upon the structure of this waste strategy.

3.1

International and National Policy & Legislation

Many of the roots of UK legislation governing the management of waste in this country can be traced back
to European Union (EU) Directives, Regulations and Decisions. These are being retained in UK law through
the European Union Withdrawal Act 2018 with minimal impact anticipated on how councils collect, recycle
and dispose of household waste.

Circular Economy
A circular economy approach sees waste turned into a resource as part of ‘closing the loop’ with resources
kept in use for as long as possible, with the maximum value extracted from them. It moves away from the
more linear economy of ‘take, make, use, throw’ and prolongs the lives of materials and goods consumed,
minimising waste and promoting resource efficiency.
In July 2018, the European Commission adopted an ambitious Circular Economy Package (CEP) introducing a
revised legislative framework to help stimulate Europe's transition towards a circular economy, identifying
steps for the reduction of waste and establishing an ambitious and credible long-term path for waste
management and recycling. The UK government have transposed the majority of CEP measures into UK
legislation to include a recycling target of 65% by 2035 and reduce landfilled municipal waste to 10% by
2035.

A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment (policy paper) January 2018
This 25 Year Environment Plan sets out Government action to help improve the environment by delivering
cleaner air and water, protecting threatened species and wildlife habitats and plans for changes to
agriculture, forestry, land use and fishing to put the environment first. The Environment Plan aims to
minimise waste, particularly plastic waste, and sets out the following actions for minimising waste:

3

3



An ambition to achieve zero avoidable waste by 2050;



A target to eliminate avoidable plastic waste by the end of 2042;



Meeting all existing waste targets – including those on landfill, reuse and recycling – and
developing ambitious new future targets and milestones;



Seeking to eliminate waste crime and illegal waste sites over the lifetime of the Plan, prioritising
those of highest risk. Delivering a substantial reduction in litter and littering; and



Significantly reducing and where possible preventing all kinds of marine plastic pollution – in
particular, material that came originally from land.

Avoidable in the sense of what is Technically, Environmentally and Economically Practicable.

May 2022
Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

57

12

Our waste, our resources: a strategy for England (Draft), December 2018
The Strategy gives a long-term policy direction in line with the 25 Year Environment Plan and has two
overarching objectives:
1.

To maximise the value of resource use; and

2.

To minimise waste and its impact on the environment,

It sets out plans to preserve stock of material resources by minimising waste, promoting resource efficiency
and moving towards a circular economy. The five strategic ambitions of the Strategy are:
1.

To work towards all plastic packaging placed on the market being recyclable, reusable or
compostable by 2025;

2.

To work towards eliminating food waste to landfill by 2030;

3.

To eliminate avoidable plastic waste over the lifetime of the 25 Year Environment Plan;

4.

To double resource productivity by 2050; and

5.

To eliminate avoidable waste of all kinds by 2050.

The Strategy also aims to minimise the damage caused to our natural environment by reducing and
managing waste safely and carefully, and by tackling waste crime.

Environment Bill 2020
The draft Environment Bill (2020) is a key piece of legislation for delivering the commitments made in the 25
Year Environment Plan and for setting long-term legally binding environmental targets, plans and polices for
protecting and improving the natural environment in the UK. It is part of the UK Government’s goal to
develop the first generation to “leave our environment in a better state than we found it”. The Bill will take
forward and legislate the measures and proposals outlined in England’s draft Resource and Waste
Management Strategy, changing the way government, businesses and individuals produce and consume
products. The national Strategy and Environment Bill aims to make it easier for people to recycle, improve
recyclate quality and make way for a more circular economy. The Bill will allow the Government to:


deliver consistent and frequent recycling collections across England;



ensure councils operate weekly separate food waste collections, preventing food waste from
going to landfill or being incinerated;



introduce clearer labelling on certain products so consumers can easily identify whether
products are recyclable or not;



expand the use of charges on single use plastics, following the successful introduction of the
carrier bag charge and will introduce a deposit return scheme on drinks containers, subject to
consultation; and



introduce new extended producer responsibility schemes to make producers responsible for
the full net costs of managing their products when they are ready to be thrown away.

The Bill is supported by a series of proposals, with several relevant to waste management. The second
consultation started in April 2021 and at the time of writing this JMWMS the process is still ongoing. Aspects
of waste management under consideration by the Government include:

58 May 2022

Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

13

Consistency of Household and Business Recycling Collections in England
The Government will specify a core set of materials to be collected by all local authorities and waste
operators to make services more consistent across the country.
The proposals in the Resource and Waste Strategy around food waste collections is yet to be finalised, but it
is likely that separate, weekly food waste collections for all households will be a requirement. Therefore, PI
partners need to consider this as a likely service requirement in the coming years, both from a collections
and treatment perspective. It is anticipated to be a costly service to implement, and the Strategy consultation
has suggested that ‘new burdens’ funding may be made available by the Government, however currently this
is not confirmed, and details of any funding requirements have not been published.
The Bill states that for households, each recycling stream must be collected separately from other waste and
that recyclable waste must be collected for recycling or composting and separately from each other, where it
is technically, environmentally and economically practicable (TEEP) to do so.
Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) for packaging
The Government intends to invoke the ‘polluter pays’ principle with an EPR scheme for packaging by 2023.
Producer responsibility will see businesses that manufacture, import and sell certain products responsible for
the full net costs of those products at end of life, i.e. post-use stage, driving sustainable design decisions to
be incorporated at the production stage in support of a more circular economy.
Payment contributions to local authorities for household packaging wastes is to be based initially on complex
modelling taking account of issues such as rurality, housing type, deprivation and other criteria, but in the
longer term the government intend for this to be based on actual costs incurred. The payment mechanism
and process for distribution of funds to local authorities is still not clear.
Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS)
To incentivise consumers to reduce litter and increase recycling the government are consulting on
introducing a DRS whereby consumers pay a deposit on drinks beverage containers at the point of purchase,
which is then redeemed when the container is returned to the retailer for recycling. The government are
currently considering a DRS that includes aluminium and steel cans, PET plastic and glass bottles but
excludes disposable cups, cartons and pouches/sachets.

3.2

Drivers for Change

National Policy
The Partnership must ensure that all waste collection and management services are aligned to national
policies, plans and strategies, including those outlined above. Once the proposal consultations are complete
and the Government has provided its direction, we will need to carefully consider this and as a consequence
may have to change some of direction expressed in this waste management strategy. The Partnership needs
to retain flexibility in future service provision to enable the implementation of any required changes.

Budgetary pressures
This is a time of significant change for local authorities, brought about by pressures to make efficiencies and
savings through greater collaboration and sharing services across authorities and with other public sector
organisations. There have been significant impacts upon material income in the past 10 years due to a global
reduction in the value of recyclable materials. This means that there is decreasing funding available to
reinvest into waste services.

May 2022
Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

59

14

Climate Change and Carbon Impacts
Most of the partner authorities have declared a Climate Emergency, and their climate change strategies
recognise the role of waste and the circular economy in supporting the reduction of carbon emissions, with a
focus on waste reduction. Out of the 14 Partner authorities, seven aim to be carbon neutral or to meet net
zero emissions across operations by 2030. Four Partner authorities have committed to become carbon
neutral by either 2040 or 2050. The remaining three Partner authorities have not set or published their goals
to be attained by a specific date.

Investment in Infrastructure
The waste management, treatment and disposal contract will come to an end in 2030. Before this, a review
will need to be undertaken to determine the most appropriate long-term arrangements for service provision,
which will be within the duration of this JMWMS.
With recycling performance for all Partner authorities sitting within the lower half of the national league
table, the Council’s existing contract coming into the final nine years of its life, and with anticipated changes
in recycling and waste management legislation happening in the coming years, now is the time for all of the
authorities to agree on the future state of recycling and waste services to best service the county through
provision of improved performance, value for money services, and future compliance.
Investment decisions will be based on identifying the most appropriate waste management solution for
Hampshire to provide value for money as well as compliance with future legislation.

Summary
This JMWMS takes into account the changing legislative landscape, and specifically the potential impacts
from future progress of the Environment Bill and policy consultation in 2021. There is a keen focus on the
identification of an optimal solution for waste management which results in meeting legislative requirements
and delivers best value financially for all of the partnering authorities.
Pressure to reduce environmental impact, continuing budgetary pressure, and changes in the legislative
landscape will necessitate change in the way services are delivered to residents. As a result, we must make
some tough decisions; the competing requirements of budgetary pressures, a requirement to improve
performance, and the need to align with legislative requirements mean that now is the right time to fully
understand what an optimal system looks like.
By working together, the Partnership may be able to obtain better prices for commodities and ensure that
our purchases of waste service resources (vehicles, bins, boxes etc.) meet best value requirements through
gaining volume discounts.

60 May 2022

Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

15

4.

JMWMS Key Objectives

The shortlist subjects are the main key objectives which will be delivered under the JMWMS. There are a
number of other areas which are central to the strategy and cut across all objectives that will be taken
forward. Service provision will continue to be delivered by PI which as mentioned has resulted in a number of
benefits and synergies to date. Local decision making however will continue to be maintained across the
Partnership to ensure local factors, budgets and challenges are taken into account within any decision
making to ensure the approach is best suited for all partners.
A joint technically, environmentally, economically and practicable (TEEP) approach was seen as an important
principle across partners going forward and we will look to ensure a collaborative effort is made with the
waste collection service and compliance with the regulations.

4.1

Partnership Working

The following subjects form part of the partnership working theme. The existing partnership works to provide
an integrated approach to waste management across Hampshire and has been beneficial for several reasons
since its inception. To deliver the requirements of this JMWMS a framework will be developed to ensure
partnership working is enhanced going forward, especially during the period of change likely to be
encountered following the national Resources and Waste Strategy mandates. Partnership working will need
to be supported and committed to by all PI partners with joint working across the county to deliver services
in the most efficient and effective way.

Whole system thinking at PI level
Whole system thinking is a key priority for Members and is an objective which cuts across all of the
shortlisted subjects. Whole system thinking at the PI level will allow the most effective and efficient waste
management system to be delivered by understanding how changes made by individual members of the
partnership impact on the system as a whole both in terms of cost and tonnages. Oversight of services and
an ability to facilitate services from waste generation to waste disposal has and will continue to benefit all
stakeholders within Hampshire. The HCC waste prevention and recycling webpages provide information on
Smart living and Hampshire Recycles initiatives, both providing resources for all partners to make use of in a
consistent manner. With future legislation changes likely to impact services across the county, an integrated
approach and whole system thinking will ensure all potential scenarios are considered and the best outcomes
at the local level are derived. This will include consideration of food waste treatment across the county, as
well as the HWRC operations and network.

Development of and commitment towards revised JMWMS Implementation Plan
This option is a key priority for Members as engagement by and commitment from all stakeholders will be
central to implementing the JMWMS aims and objectives. An implementation plan with clear actions will be
developed by a joint PI working group, along with responsibilities assigned to stakeholders to ensure
objectives can be met. Local variations will be captured and considered in the plan as it is understood not all
stakeholders will be able to follow the same approach in all instances. A clear consensus is required by all
stakeholders with collaboration, regular engagement and decision making necessary to ensure the
implementation plan is realistic and achievable. All PI partners will engage with and show full commitment to
the JMWMS and the implementation plan to ensure their opinions are considered and the plan is fully
inclusive. PI will be central to facilitating this approach and behaviours through delivery.

May 2022
Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

61

16

Setting agreed performance indicators and targets
Improving service performance will continue to be at the forefront of the JMWMS. Performance indicators
and target setting for the waste management systems will continue to be measured and compared against
the three now defunct, but still relevant, National Indicators.
For all authorities:


NI 191 – KG of residual waste per household



NI 192 – percentage of household waste reused, recycled and composted

For authorities with responsibility for waste disposal:


NI 193 – percentage of municipal waste sent to landfill.

There are however a number of other performance indicators that will be used to ensure the performance of
the service is at the expected quality across the county and that performance improvements are being duly
made. National targets include a recycling target of 65% by 2035 and to reduce landfilled municipal waste to
10% by 2035. Performance indicators therefore need to be cognisant of these targets to ensure the
Partnership is helping contribute to the wider national aims, whilst being reflective of the local challenges the
county faces. Contamination of recyclable material is a key measure of performance for PI partners. Waste
prevention and contamination with a focus on reuse and quality recycling respectively will be important in
performance context going forward and these will be discussed and agreed with stakeholders before any
decisions are made as part of the partnership working approach.
A performance monitoring regime will be developed and agreed by all PI partners to track improvements
made against each performance indicator.

Revision to PI funding arrangements
It is recognised that improved joint working arrangements will support meeting national strategy and
consistency framework requirements. Funding arrangements need to drive the right performance behaviours
and the right approach with whole system thinking and be reflective of the performance of partners as well
as the local challenges encountered across the county. The arrangement will fund consistent initiatives and
be structured to incentivise and support positive waste management practices.
There is an aspiration that services delivered across the county going forward will be more in line and
representative of PI aims and objectives once the funding arrangements have been revised and stakeholders
recognise the benefits from better partnership working. One of the Partnerships main objectives is for all
partners to achieve value for money; as a group we will consider and implement the best approach that will
enable this.
This JMWMS does not commit Partners to a particular funding arrangement, this will be discussed and
agreed through the work being undertaken on a revised Partnership Agreement. Instead, this strategy
recognises the need to revise the current arrangements to ensure they are fair and all parties are incentivised
to improve performance in light of the governments legislative changes, particularly Extended Producer
Responsibility and the associated funding.

Identification of external funding opportunities
The identification of external funding opportunities is of critical importance to waste management services as
it allows projects and initiatives to be developed and supported. An example initiative focused on supporting
resource efficiency projects with the goal of diverting waste, reducing waste, and improving waste
management was the Resource Action Fund. Funded by Defra, this provided £18 million for new projects in
England, with the primary focus of supporting key policy outcomes in the area of food, plastics, textiles,

62 May 2022

Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

17

recycling infrastructure and litter. Funding was divided into small-scale and large-scale grants; small-scale
grants covered food waste prevention, textile recycling and re-use, litter bin infrastructure, and value from
food waste among other projects. Large-scale grants focused on plastic packaging and food waste
prevention. As the focus on circular economy becomes more central, it is these types of funding
opportunities that support PI services.
The Government has intimated that new burden funding will be provided for new services that will be
mandated within the Resources and Waste Strategy. By working together as PI, all partners will have greater
visibility of such funding and we will be able to maximise the chances of successfully meeting any funding
criteria.

4.2

Recyclable Material Management

How PI manages recyclable materials is of great importance given the priority material quality is given in the
Resources and Waste Strategy. The Partnership needs to ensure efforts are focused on improving the quality
as well as quantity of the recyclables collected and reprocessed across the county. With recycling
performance for all Partner authorities sitting within the lower half of the national league table, the Council’s
existing contract with Veolia coming into the final nine years of its life, and with anticipated changes in
recycling and waste management legislation happening in the coming years, now is the time for effective
change and for all of the authorities to agree on the future state of recycling and waste services to best
service the county through provision of improved performance, value for money services, and future
compliance.

Introduction of two stream collections
This is a key priority for members. A WRAP study was undertaken in 2020/21 supporting PI in identifying an
optimal collection option, reviewing options for waste management based on two-stream and multi-stream
(kerbsort) collections. The outcomes have allowed PI to plan for the implementation of a waste management
solution for Hampshire that meets national and local recycling aspirations at the lowest overall cost. The
modelling of a two-stream approach showed a potential recycling rate of 37.4%, compared to the current
baseline rate of 24%. The two-stream dry recycling collection will consist of fibres (paper and card) in one
container receptacle, and containers (glass bottles and jars, plastic bottles, plastic pots, tubs and trays, metal
tins and cans) in another. This will require the redevelopment of waste transfer station infrastructure and
MRFs to be capable of handling glass (either in new or upgraded facilities) within a containers material
stream. The residual waste collection will remain unchanged.
The Partnership will identify those households that are not suitable for the standard service and will put an
agreed exception process in place that is appropriate and also allows them to recycle as much as possible
within the twin stream system. We will ensure that the service is agile and flexible to respond to the changing
needs of individuals as those needs arise.

Two stream recycling collection
A number of authorities implement a two-stream recycling service with noted improvements following service
roll out. A trial in Boston, Lincolnshire, which included over 3000 properties and the collection of paper and
card separate from mixed recycling, showed that two stream collections can achieve improvements in both the
quality of the recycling collected and increase in materials captured for recycling. Positive feedback was also
well received from residents in the trial area.

May 2022
Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

63

18

Reduced contamination
Improving recycling performance through reducing contamination is a key operational focus for PI and will
help us contribute towards meeting national targets. Contamination monitoring across the MRFs showed
that average DMR contamination level was 15.9% in 2019/20 (an increase from 13.75% in 2018/19). However,
the capture of DMR has also slightly increased over this time period.
Reprocessors are demanding material with less contamination, focused on quality rather than quantity and
this puts pressure on MRF resources to ensure contaminated or non-target materials are removed. The
quality of the MRF inputs needs to be improved which will also result in less MRF residue and reduce the
costs that waste disposal authorities have to pay for this.
Maximising the material that can be collected and recycled is key and we will continue to improve
communication and education campaigns to help residents recycle better and reduce contamination.
Reduced contamination will improve quality of material as well as reduce costs. Non-target materials in the
wrong containers can cause processing problems at the MRFs, with whole loads of recycling sometimes
having to be rejected. It is anticipated contamination will reduce with the segregation of paper and card from
other materials when the two-stream service is implemented, as well as it being easier to identify
contamination.
Along with communications, we will continue to implement the contamination monitoring programme to
ensure that all dry recycling rounds are identified and targeted at the correct sites. A consistent
contamination policy (and training) across the partnership will also ensure partners adopt the same approach
when looking at contamination and efforts and activities to reduce it.

Retained and maximised income share for materials
Material collected for recycling is sold and the money received helps to reduce the overall cost of running
waste services. There have been significant impacts upon material income in the past 10 years due to a
global reduction in the value of recyclable materials. This means that there is decreasing funding available to
reinvest into waste services.
Linking to the above priority options, improving recyclable material management through service changes
and efforts to reduce contamination will indirectly retain and maximise the income share for materials across
PI. Sampling of MRF inputs is undertaken to gauge the level of non-target material being delivered within dry
recyclable streams, and thus performance is measured. This provides a focus on quality recycling and the
need for partners to reduce their contamination rates to maximise income share.
EPR and DRS will ultimately affect this income share however the impact of this is not currently known. Less
materials being collected and processed across the Partnership as a result of these schemes will however
indirectly reduce the treatment costs paid by the waste disposal authorities. However, conversely there will
be a loss of income where valuable materials are redirected elsewhere.

4.3

Waste Reduction

Although overall material tonnages have reduced over time, more still needs to be done across the
partnership to drive down waste generation and contribute towards meeting national residual waste
reduction targets. Waste prevention is top of the waste management hierarchy, is the most environmentally
sound option and where the greatest gains can be made in terms of resource management. It incorporates
reduction, reuse and repair initiatives. Waste reduction will be the most effective and efficient way of
delivering waste services over the duration of the strategy, reducing treatment and landfill use, reducing
climate change impacts and contributing to a cleaner, greener environment. Waste reduction also reduces
waste collection and processing costs, helping deliver a cost-effective waste management service.

64 May 2022

Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

19

Development and delivery of waste prevention initiatives
This option continues to be a key priority for Members. PI partners will encourage and support residents to
drive down the volume of waste that is produced through the development of appropriate initiatives. This is
especially important given the number of housing developments and population growth in Hampshire, which
will put further strain on services and increase the costs of waste collection and disposal.
We will develop the waste prevention plan as a driving tool, following further waste prevention guidance
from Government; this will require engagement and commitment by all partners to drive the initiatives and
ensure objectives are achieved. This plan will be regularly reviewed and updated to ensure its continued
relevance to PI aims.
Waste reduction targets will help partners contribute and deliver on these initiatives, whilst recognising the
challenges faced by some of the partners. Implementing initiatives requires agreement on funding, consistent
messaging and resourcing, and responsible messages and engagement with residents at local levels will
ensure local accountability.

Increased reuse from bulky waste
Material reuse is a key driver within the national strategy, ensuring circularity of resources. Reuse is defined
as material that would otherwise be disposed or recycled which has its useful life extended through use for
the same purpose without any additional processing. PI will endeavour to maximise reuse from bulky waste
with third sector engagement where feasible.
All partners will work together to ensure that all opportunities are taken to maximise the diversion of bulky
material out of the waste stream. As an example, by collecting, storing and managing items with the
intention of reuse, we can reduce the amount of material that has to be disposed of through processing and
treatment and provide residents with access to reused items at affordable prices.

Oxfordshire bulky waste case study
Local authorities in Oxfordshire have partnered with a local charity to deliver a combined bulky waste collection
service. The partnership with Kathryn Turner Trust (KTT) has been a real success and the initial trial diverted
more than 1.4 tonnes of material from landfill in the first six months. There is a call centre referral system, reuse collection organised with KTT, through the Biffa collection contract. The approach taken by South
Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse authorities in working with a local third sector re-use organisation, KTT, is
both adaptive and new to Oxfordshire, and shows the benefits of collaboration and flexibility.

Continued promotion of home composting
Promotion of home composting has always been a key theme for PI and will continue to be a priority
initiative under the waste prevention plan. Composting food and garden waste at home is the most
sustainable use of waste, reducing carbon footprint as less waste needs to be transported away, processed
and re-distributed.
The Smart Living waste prevention and lifestyle initiative promotes home composting from start to finish,
including advertising where to buy a compost bin online and how to make your own bin or heap. There are
also community champions who provide support and advice to any resident wanting to know more about
home composting. There is an improvement opportunity for the partners to engage with the Smart Living
initiative and expand and develop the programme further so all residents benefit from the resources
available.

May 2022
Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

65

20

The Partnership recognises that uptake of this initiative requires engagement with the householders to
encourage them to undertake home composting, which we will aim to deliver on in the drive to reduce
waste.

4.4

Best Practice

We will continue to investigate and deliver on best practice within the waste management sector.

Zero waste to landfill
Zero waste to landfill is a key aspiration for Members, with landfill reduction also being a legislative driver
and the least preferred option according to the waste hierarchy. In 2019/20 Hampshire County Council sent
4
5.37% of their municipal waste to landfill. There is now only one landfill site open in Hampshire for disposing
of household waste and the only household waste currently landfilled is bulkier items delivered to recycling
centres. PI partners will seek treatment of remaining, non-recyclable waste as well as reuse options to aim for
zero waste to landfill and continuously monitor and measure their progress towards it.

Evaluation and introduction of alternative fuels for vehicles
An alternative fuel is an alternative to standard hydrocarbon-based vehicle fuels (diesel & petrol) such as
electric, hybrid, biofuels or hydrogen. The need to consider alternative fuels is growing as local authorities
look to address the climate emergency and reduce their carbon footprint, opting for low carbon transport
options. Net zero emissions is also a legislative driver with the government looking to ban the purchase of
diesel/petrol vehicles by 2030 to support this.
The cost of purchasing alternative vehicles remains high as it is an emerging market, but as more and more
authorities look to purchase e-RCVs the cost is anticipated to reduce. The charging infrastructure is also
costly to install. There are however long-term savings related to the lower cost of alternative fuels. The
reduction in emissions in a move away from standard diesel vehicles will have a positive impact on air quality
as well as carbon emissions.
PI partners will evaluate and discuss the introduction of low carbon transport options, whilst being mindful of
the budgetary and contractual constraints that exist across the partnership. Adoption of vehicles will also be
dependent on whether they are suitable to the geography of the area and the structure of collection rounds.
Fleet conversions will ultimately be a local decision.

The Use of Greener Fuels for Waste Collection
In late 2020 the London Borough of Islington became the first London Local Authority to deploy fully electric
refuse collection vehicles (eRCVs) as part of an initiative to improve local air quality. The Borough Council
introduced two 26t eRCVs to its fleet and is also seeking to reduce the overall size of its waste collection fleet.
The introduction of the electric RCVs was facilitated by a £3.5M development at the Council’s Waste and
Recycling Centre involving the installation of a new sub-station, high voltage supply and charging
infrastructure for the electric vehicles.
In early 2021 the Greater Manchester Combined Authority committed £9.7M to purchase of 27 new eRVCs
(approximately half of the Authority’s collection fleet) following two years of successful trials. This believed to
be the largest commitment of its type to date by a UK Local Authority and has been accompanied by a £880k
investment in vehicle charging infrastructure at two of its depots. The deployment of the quiet, low emission
eRCVs is expected to reduce greenhouse emissions by 900 tonnes per annum.
4

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-collected-waste-management-annual-results

66 May 2022

Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

21

Identification and evaluation of alternative technologies
A number of alternative technologies exist for treating typical household wastes, all of which have a number
of advantages, as well as disadvantages. Due to the existing contracts based on EfW technology it will not be
financially viable to move away from EfW for the duration of the current contract, but PI will continue to keep
a watching brief on alternative technologies for both MSW as well as the recycling fractions. Identification of
the best solution for treating waste for Hampshire is a priority for the Partnership and this requires being
mindful of the location of such technologies, treating waste at the highest level of the waste hierarchy as
economically practicable, maximising diversion from landfill, reducing carbon emissions and balancing cost
efficiency and waste management services.
Further consideration will be made towards opportunities to incorporate alternative technologies in the
delivery of collection and waste processing services, identifying ways in which efficiency and cost savings
could be achieved. By understanding material values we will consider the benefits from making changes to
the MRFs to enable additional materials to be collected and processed.

4.5

Service Delivery

A number of strategic options will optimise the delivery of the waste management service across Hampshire.

Consistent, best practice approach to service provision
This option is a key priority for Members. A consistent approach to service provision aligns with the whole
system thinking partnership approach discussed at the start, with benefits to the approach being realised
through potential synergies and savings. In particular, PI partners will aspire to implement consistent side
waste, clinical waste and contamination policies. A consistent service which provides best practice and
consistent for flats and communal properties would also be beneficial for the partnership and residents. This
will ensure messages across Hampshire are consistent with a clear system of segregation and collection for
both operatives and residents. A consistent approach will improve the transparency of the service for
residents with the potential for cross boundary savings and a central support system. The partnership will be
mindful of local decisions that may prevent a consistent approach across all policies.

Improved and consistent communications campaigns
Communications are central to conveying messages to residents about the waste and recycling services and
present an opportunity to increase resident engagement with services. Communications cut across a number
of strategy areas and have an overarching impact on service delivery and performance – they should be
output driven. PI partners will work to improve their communications and have a consistent, standardised
approach for maximum impact county wide. This will include:


consistent PI level messaging utilising ‘Hampshire Recycles’ initiatives; responsible messages
will be presented at the local level to increase accountability, tailored to individual partner
needs where necessary;



development of a behavioural change communications plan; PI partners will challenge
themselves, the wider community, including the private sector, and government by raising
awareness and ownership of resource management issues to change society’s attitude and
behaviour towards maximising waste prevention, re-use and recycling;



increase use of social media / technology to communicate and engage with residents about the
service to increase impact of messaging;



provide enhanced consistent communications to support residents in understanding the roll
out of any new waste services.

May 2022
Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

67

22

By improving and standardising our communications campaign, we aim to increase correct use of the service,
drive down waste tonnages and increase our recycling rate. Our approach will create synergies in the service
with a significant impact upon whole system costs in the medium-long term.

Consistent approach to staff training
Following on with the consistency approach, PI partners will implement a consistent approach to staff
training, both at operational and support staff levels. This will be centrally organised by the PI Executive with
best practice training to include identifying contamination amongst other topics to improve performance
county wide. We may be able to leverage better training costs if training is organised across county rather
than at individual partner level, with better value for money, for example the Driver CPC Training organised
by PI.

Increased cross boundary working
PI partners will look to increase cross boundary working through greater collaboration and sharing of
services across partners, to make efficiencies and savings within the service and across the partnership.
Currently the majority of services are delivered within respective partner boundaries apart from a few
contracts where this is allowed (e.g., Basingstoke & Deane and Hart where difficult access properties are
serviced across border). There is opportunity for the principles to be expanded out across more boundaries
to maximise efficiencies where circumstances and services allow (in the short and long term). We would look
at opportunities to increase our cross-boundary services across the partnership including for example bulky
waste service, clinical waste service and HWRC services and for the delivery of any future food waste
collections, treatment and disposal system. Services would be easier to deliver together if they were aligned;
cross boundary service delivery will allow for journey routes to be optimised, with potentially less vehicles on
the road, as well as the sharing of knowledge and best practice. Cross boundary working will need to be
coordinated with Hampshire County Council and Veolia to manage disposal points and ensure that any
proposals were feasible, with agreements made on funding and allocation of tonnages across partners, and
considering delivery lead authority, cost sharing arrangements, inhouse vs outsourced delivery and the
location of the most appropriate depots and waste transfer stations.

Sharing of customer satisfaction surveys for the benefit of all partners
Where customer satisfaction surveys related to waste services are carried out, the outcomes will be shared
with all partners to share knowledge with the aim to improve service delivery. This ensures the residents
views are shared amongst the partners allowing for feedback and best practice to be more easily identified
and implemented.

68 May 2022

Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

23

5.

Action Plan

This JMWMS sets out the strategic direction for the Partnership and will be supported by a new operational
partnership agreement and detailed action plan to take PI forward including meeting the requirements of the
Environment Bill. We will collaboratively develop a detailed implementation plan based on the key objectives
covered within the Strategy and PI partners will engage and agree on the approach to be taken going
forward. A clear consensus is required by all stakeholders with collaboration, regular engagement and
decision making necessary to ensure the implementation plan is realistic, achievable and reflects local needs
and circumstances.
Implementation of the objectives will be vital for the Partnership in developing and ensuring a waste
management service that is customer focused, delivers value for money and has sustainability incorporated
throughout. The implementation plan once agreed will be managed by the PI Executive to setup any task and
finish groups required for delivery of the plan, and to keep track of progress. Given the scale of the actions
required to deliver the strategy, they will be prioritised, and all partners will be required to commit resources
to assist with the delivery.
The table below sets out the key strategic actions that all PI Partners are signed up to by approval of this
JMWMS, however it is not reflective of the final Action Plan:

Strategic Objective
Partnership Working

Strategic Actions


Approval of the Joint Municipal Waste
Management Strategy



Adopting a whole systems approach to waste
services in Hampshire



Commitment to move to a twin stream system
for dry recyclables.



Commitment to reducing contamination of all
waste streams through joint working.



Support the aim of reducing waste in
Hampshire.



Commitment to work together to increase the
reuse of bulky waste.

Best Practice



Commitment to reviewing and sharing best
practice to improve both performance and
service delivery.

Service Delivery



Commitment to consistent communications to
support service delivery across the partnership.

Recyclables Material Management

Waste Reduction

May 2022
Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

69

Appendix one: The strategic options considered
Engagement with key stakeholders across PI’s partnering authorities was undertaken to
identify and agree JMWMS aims and objectives. A series of engagement workshops were
undertaken to firstly identify, and secondly assess options available to the Partnership,
resulting in a short list of subjects to be incorporated into this JMWMS.
As support this process PI engaged Wood Group (Wood), a waste management consultancy, to review and
update the JMWMS. Wood has previously supported the Partnership on a project identifying the most
optimal service collection option; this has allowed the Partnership to plan for the implementation of a waste
management solution for Hampshire and this current review builds on that work to develop a new forward
looking JMWMS.

Identification of strategic options
The identification of strategic options commenced with a wide-ranging consideration of potential actions
and activities that could be implemented in the management of waste; this resulted in an extensive longlist
of options being identified, consisting of waste management options across areas including but not limited
to:


Waste collected (which materials are separated for recycling)



Collection frequencies



Waste containers (type and capacities)



Recyclate separation at the kerbside (fully separate/two stream)



Collection charges



HWRCs



Bulky waste



Alternative fuels



Waste treatment technologies



Communications

Evaluation criteria were identified based on anticipated priority areas for the partnership, as well as
fundamental criteria for appraising waste management services. This consisted of a number of criteria
grouped into four main themes – financial, environmental, social and technical.

Officers workshop
During the PI Officers workshop, officers were presented the long list subjects and evaluation criteria for
consideration and evaluation. Officers had the opportunity to identify any long list subjects that they believed
should be removed from the list, and to capture any additional subjects that should be included. Where there
was consistent feedback the long list was updated accordingly. A similar process was undertaken for the
evaluation criteria.

70 May 2022

Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

Officers then scored each evaluation criterion based on level of importance. Scoring allocation ranged from 1
(least importance) to 4 (greatest importance). Officers were asked to carefully consider these criteria and
ensure that they provided a spread of weightings to ensure differentiation between importance. This resulted
in an average evaluation criteria score being developed.

Options appraisal
Following the Officer workshop, Wood independently evaluated the long list against the criteria. Wood
undertook a qualitative assessment of whether the impact of the subject was anticipated to be positive,
negative or neutral against the current position. Those deemed to have a positive impact scored positively.
Any evaluation criteria that were not relevant to a subject were scored as a 0 (no impact). The average score
for each criterion as identified at the Officers workshop was used by Wood in the assessment of the agreed
long list subjects.
Following the scoring and weighting exercise the long list subjects were ranked, allowing a short list of
between 15 and 20 subjects to be identified. Following discussions with the Partnership a number of subjects
were consolidated and some subjects which ranked low were also incorporated into the short list to as they
were identified as being of long-term priority / importance for PI, therefore requiring inclusion within the
Strategy, e.g. ‘Retained and maximised income share for materials’, as well as subjects which shape future
service change e.g. ‘Introduction of two stream collections’.

Members workshop
The proposed shortlist of subjects was then considered at the Members workshop. The aim of the Members
workshop was to gain input from Members on the suitability of the proposed short-listed subjects, and to
gain an understanding of which subjects have a greater priority. Following discussion on each group,
Members were asked to rank each subject within each group in order of priority; numbers between 1 and 5
were allocated to each of the subjects in each group, with no repeated numbers being allowed.
The final shortlisted subjects are presented below within their respective groupings:
Group 1 – Partnership Working



o

Identification of external funding opportunities

o

Revision to PI funding arrangements

o

Development of and commitment towards revised JMWMS Implementation Plan

o

Whole system thinking at PI level

o

Setting agreed performance indicators and targets
Group 2 – Recyclable Material Management



o

Introduction of two stream collections

o

Reduced contamination

o

Retained and maximised income share for materials
Group 3 – Waste Reduction



o

Increased reuse from bulky waste

o

Development and delivery of waste prevention initiatives

May 2022
Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

71

o

Continued promotion of home composting
Group 4 – Best Practice



o

Zero waste to landfill

o

Evaluation and introduction of alternative fuels for vehicles

o

Identification and evaluation of alternative technologies
Group 5 – Service Delivery



o

Improved and consistent communications campaigns

o

Consistent, best practice approach to service provision

o

Consistent approach to staff training

o

Increased cross boundary working

o

Sharing of customer satisfaction surveys for the benefit of all partners

There were a number of points raised by both the Officers and Members during the workshops that although
not shortlist subjects they are still central to the JMWMS, and these are therefore referenced throughout.

72 May 2022

Doc Ref. PI JMWMS Final

Agenda Item 8
CABINET
Tuesday 24 May 2022
DISCRETIONARY HOUSING PAYMENT POLICY AND WAR
PENSIONS LOCAL SCHEME
Report of the Service Manager of Housing Benefit and Council Tax
Support

Recommendation(s)
It is recommended that Cabinet:
(1)

Approves the attached Discretionary Housing Payment policy at Appendix 1.

(2)

Continues to disregard all income related to War Pensions when calculating
entitlement to Housing Benefit/Council Tax Support.

Summary
Each year the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) makes grants available to local
authorities for Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) purposes and a report is taken to
Cabinet with an updated DHP policy to reflect the new funding allocation.
The main objective of the DHP policy is the prevention of homelessness and to sustain
tenancies.
Local authorities have the discretion to completely disregard war pension related incomes
when calculating entitlement to Council Tax Support and Housing Benefit.
Statutory Powers
The legislative framework to Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs) is set out in sections
69 & 70 of the Child Support, Pensions and Social Security Act 2000, Discretionary
Financial Assistance Regulations 2001 and the Universal Credit Regulations 2013 (SI
2013/630).
The Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 make provision for the first £10.00 of
income from War Widows (Widowers)/War Disablement Scheme and the
Armed Forces Compensation Scheme to be disregarded in any benefit
assessment. The Social Security Administration Act 1992 gives the Council discretion to
disregard any amount it chooses in addition to the statutory provision.
Since the Abolition of Council Tax Benefit in 2013 and the introduction of Local Council
Tax Support schemes, councils have had the discretion on how much of the income is to

73

be disregarded.

Strategic Implications
1.1

The stated aims of both the DHP policy and Local War Pension scheme
support our corporate priorities, as outlined in the Corporate Plan (2015-2025)
with an aspiration to improve the health and wellbeing of people who live and
work in the borough as a core component of supporting and creating
sustainable communities. We want all our residents and people working in the
borough to live long, healthy and happy lives. The policy in question aims to
achieve this by:
 Sustaining tenancies and preventing homelessness.
 Providing early help and intervention
 Ensuring residents can find and keep good quality employment
 Supporting the vulnerable and elderly to live independent lives
 Creating a fair and equal borough by tackling the underlying factors of
poverty and disadvantage
 Providing early help and intervention.

Introduction

74

2.1

Discretionary Housing Payments are short-term awards administered by Local
Authorities to help people with housing costs. They can play an important role
in sustaining tenancies, preventing homelessness, and enabling tenants to
move to more affordable accommodation. Increasingly, DHPs are being given
to assist those affected by welfare reform.

2.2

The award of a DHP is discretionary and must be made in accordance with
the Discretionary Financial Assistance Regulations 2001 and with the ordinary
principles of good decision-making. The Council has a duty to act fairly,
reasonably, and consistently.

2.3

The attached DHP policy, if approved, will support this decision-making
process, enabling fair and consistent decisions to be made in a timely
manner.

2.4

The War Pension scheme was established to compensate those veterans
who suffered injuries or illness while serving their country, while the War
Widow(er)’s Pension are for those whose spouse died while serving.

2.5

Under current rules, any money above £10 from a War Pension or
Widow(er)’s Pension can be counted as income when calculating entitlement
to Housing Benefit. However, councils can choose to disregard up to 100% of
the income.

2.6

The total number of claimants in receipt of the prescribed incomes have fallen
over the past 10 years with only 8 claims in the 2020-21 subsidy year

Eastleigh Borough Council

benefitting from the policy. It is recommended that Council continues to
implement this policy of disregarding 100% of War Pension income.

Financial Implications
3.1

The Council has been allocated £120,789 for 2022/23 and the DHP (Grants)
Order 2001 requires Local Authorities to keep records relating to DHP
expenditure and this is monitored monthly

3.2

Any unspent DHP funding must be returned to the DWP at the end of the
financial year.

3.3

In 2021/22 our allocation was £173,955 and total number of awards made is
133. As at 31/3/2022 DHP spend was £165,996.

3.4

The following table gives a breakdown of the reasons for these awards. These
recipients were suffering financial hardship and may have been made
homeless without the support from the DHP.
Rent
Rent in
Benefit Bedroom Local
Arrears Advance/Deposit Cap
Tax
Housing
Allowance
restrictions

Other
(including
health
reasons)

2020/21
number of
awards

8

44

6

30

18

16

2021/22
number of
awards to
date

22

40

4

23

16

18

3.5

Local authorities can top up their DHP allocation with their own funds. The
Council is not intending to spend more than their DWP allocation and
therefore additional revenue funds are not required as a result of this report.

3.6

Section 134 (8) of the Social Security Administration Act 1992 allowed
councils to disregard up to 100% of war pensions above the £10.00 per week
disregard. The cost of this disregard is borne by the council

3.7

Housing Benefit subsidy arrangements state that where a local provision to
disregard a % of the income is in operation, the local authority will only be
compensated with 75% of any expenditure incurred up to a maximum of 0.2% of
the total subsidy claimed in the relevant year.

Eastleigh Borough Council

75

3.8

Since the Abolition of Council Tax Benefit in 2013 and the introduction of
Local Council Tax Support schemes, councils have had the discretion on how
much of the income is to be disregarded.

3.9

The following table details the financial implications of fully disregarding War
Pension related income; these implications are already included within the
revenue budget and the continuation of this policy will have no financial
impact.

Year

Affected
claims

Housing
Benefit cost

Council Tax
Support cost

2020/2021

15

£8,395

£9,805

2021/2022

8

£4,689

£7,093

2022/2023

5

£3,287

£4,740

(Projected)

Equality and Diversity Implications

76

4.1

The purpose of Discretionary Housing Payments is to support residents who
are facing housing problems and are vulnerable to becoming homeless. The
2022/23 DHP Policy is largely a continuation of previous policy, though with a
decrease in overall funding coming from central government there will be less
funding available to award to applicants.

4.2

Individuals who share certain protected characteristic are more likely to make
a DHP claim and are therefore more likely to be affected by a reduction in
available funding. However, eligibility criteria are applied in every case to
ensure that the most vulnerable residents receive DHP funds, regardless of
the group they belong to.

4.3

The DHP application process is online for Eastleigh residents, with offline
application forms available on request from Eastleigh’s Customer Service
Centres. This does not pose any equalities challenges, provided that the
offline option is well signposted and remains easily accessible to those who
do not have access to, or do not know how to use, the internet. If this were not
the case, there would be a risk that this could exclude some residents from
applying for funds, particularly older residents and those with a disability who
experience higher rates of digital exclusion.

4.

We are committed to the elimination of unfair and unlawful discrimination in all
our policies, procedures and practices. We are determined to ensure that no
member of the public, employee or job applicant receives less favourable
treatment on the grounds of their age, childcare or other caring
Eastleigh Borough Council

responsibilities, disability, gender, HIV status, language, marital status, race,
religion, sexual orientation, membership, or non-membership of a trade union,
or by any requirement which cannot be shown to be justifiable.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
5.1

There is no impact to climate change or the environment for this report.

Conclusion
6.1

This policy acknowledges the legal framework and the guidance and takes
account of public law duties when setting out how decisions about DHPs will
be made.

6.2

Use of our DHP budget is an important means by which the Council aims to
assist and protect families threatened with homelessness. We are seeking to
focus on increasing financial resilience and reducing demand for crisis
support, aligned with our objective of preventing homelessness and reducing
our reliance on temporary accommodation. With the resources at our
disposal, Eastleigh will ensure that the DHP policy for 22/23 is administered in
a fair and transparent way. We remain committed to sustaining tenancies,
prevent homelessness and, where possible, ensure tenants secure more
affordable accommodation.

6.3

It is recommended that Cabinet approves Eastleigh’s Discretionary Housing
Payments Policy (see Appendix A) as the means by which the Council will
determine how the DHP funds will be allocated.

6.4

It is recommended that Cabinet agrees to continue to disregard 100% of War
Pension related income when calculating claims for Housing Benefit and or
Council Tax Support.

DECLAN KELLY SERVICE MANAGER FOR HOUSING BENEFIT AND COUNCIL
TAX SUPPORT.
Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

28 March 2022
Declan Kelly
declan.kelly@eastleigh.gov.uk
1. DHP Policy

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material

Eastleigh Borough Council

77

extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
Discretionary Housing Payment policy

78

Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council

Benefits Service

Discretionary Housing Payment Scheme (DHP)

Policy Statement
April 2022

1|Page

79

PAGE
PART 1
1.
2.
3.

Primary legislation
Secondary legislation
Background

3
3
3

Purpose of the Policy
Equality
Data Protection

5
5
6

Criteria and decisions on Discretionary Housing Payment
What is meant by Housing costs?
Statement of objectives
Strategic Priorities
Improving access to a decent home

7
7
7
8
8

Criteria for awards
Types of shortfalls that a DHP can cover
What a DHP cannot help with
Fraud
Prevention of homelessness
Claiming a DHP
Awarding a DHP
Period of award
Backdating an award
Lump sum payment
Change of circumstances
Method of payment
Notification
Refused DHP

9
9
10
10
10
10
11
11
12
12
13
13
13
14

The right of Appeal
Overpaid DHPs
Recovery from on-going HB
Publicity
Value of the fund
Monitoring and review

15
15
15
16
16
16

PART 2
4.
5.
6.
PART 3
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
PART 4
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
PART 5
26.
27.
28.
29.
30.
31.

2|Page

80

PART 1
1. PRIMARY LEGISLATION
Section 69-70 of The Child Support, Pensions and Social Security Act
2000 and The Human Rights Act 1998.
2. SECONDARY LEGISLATION
The Discretionary Financial Assistance Regulations 2001 (S1 2001/ 1167)
as amended by the Council Tax Benefit Abolition (Consequential
Provisions) Regulations 2013 provides the legal framework for
Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs). The Department for Work and
Pensions (DWP) provide guidance to Local Authorities (LAs) on how
DHPs can be used, Local Authorities have a large degree of discretion
over the scheme and there are few regulatory restrictions. SI 2013/1139 –
The Welfare Reform Act 2012 (Consequential Amendments) Regulations
2013.
3. BACKGROUND
In July 2001 a new Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) scheme gave
Local Authorities the power to top up the Housing and Council Tax
Benefit.
The DWP have produced an updated Discretionary Housing Payments
Guidance Manual in May 2016, updated in March 2018, to promote good
practices and give guidance to the administering authority.
The guidance was updated to reflect amendments to the Discretionary
Financial Assistance Regulations which ensure the scheme covers the
introduction of Universal Credit and abolition of Council Tax Benefit from
April 2013.

The main features of the scheme are that:




The scheme is purely discretionary; a claimant does not have a
Statutory right to a payment.
The amount that can be paid out by an Authority in any financial year
is cash-limited by the Secretary of State.
Any unspent Discretionary Housing Payment funding will have to be
returned to the Department for Works and Pensions.

The administration of the scheme is for Eastleigh Borough Council to
determine and ensure that payments are made in accordance with the
rules governing entitlement.
Discretionary Housing Payments are not a payment of Housing Benefit.
However, the minimum amount of Housing Benefit or Housing element in
Universal Credit must be in payment in the benefit week for which a DHP
is awarded.
3|Page

81

Every year the Government allocates a fund to each Local Authority, but
Local Authorities are allowed to spend up to 2½ times their individual
allocations.
However, the extra money must be sourced from their own finances.
When a Local Authority’s Discretionary Housing Payment budget has
been spent, no more payments can be awarded until the next financial
year.
PART 2
4.

PURPOSE OF THE POLICY
The purpose of this policy is to specify how Eastleigh Borough Council’s
scheme will operate and to indicate some of the factors that will be
considered when deciding if a Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) can
be made. Each case will be treated strictly on its own merits and all
customers will be treated equally and fairly when the scheme is
administered.
On-going monitoring of successful and unsuccessful claims will be carried
out to remove any potential for unlawful discrimination.
Eastleigh Borough Council is committed to working with the local
voluntary sector, social landlords and other interested parties in the
Borough to maximise entitlement to all available state benefits and this
will be reflected in the administration of the DHP scheme.
DHPs will be available to cover shortfalls between Housing Benefit or the
Housing element within Universal Credit and the rent liability where
financial hardship exists. In cases and where funds are available DHPs
will be used to assist claimants with rent in advance or help with
relocation expenses where the move ensures that cheaper alternative
accommodation has been obtained and is affordable without further DHP
payments being required.
All claimants who are entitled to the minimum amount of Housing Benefit
or the Housing element in Universal Credit and who have a shortfall are
entitled to make a claim for DHP financial assistance.
Eastleigh’s Benefit Service will work with the Council’s Homelessness
Team, local voluntary organisations, social landlords and other interested
parties to maximise entitlement to the scheme.
The policy has had regard to the rights of individuals and obligation of the
Council under the legislation contained in Part 1 of this policy.

4|Page

82

5.

EQUALITY
Eastleigh Borough Council is committed to the equality of opportunity and
valuing diversity in both the provision of services and in its role as a major
employer.
Eastleigh Borough Council believes that everyone has the right to be
treated with dignity and respect. We are committed to the elimination of
unfair and unlawful discrimination in all our policies, procedures and
practices. We are determined to ensure that no member of the public,
employee or job applicant receives less favourable treatment on the
grounds of their age, childcare or other caring responsibilities, disability,
gender, HIV status, language, marital status, race, religion, sexual
orientation, membership, or non-membership of a trade union, or by any
requirement which cannot be shown to be justifiable.

6.

DATA PROTECTION
This policy is compatible with General Data Protection requirements.

5|Page

83

PART 3
7.

CRITERIA AND DECISIONS
Customers will be asked to provide details of their weekly or monthly
income and expenditure and evidence of the rent they are charged.
Eastleigh Borough Council Benefit specialist staff will then look at their
net available income to determine how much of the shortfall they can then
meet. Unlike Housing Benefit, which has income such as child benefit and
child maintenance payments disregarded, all sources of income will be
considered in determining eligibility for a Discretionary Housing Payment.
Before an award is made, we must be satisfied that the customer:




8.

Is entitled to Housing Benefit or the Housing element in Universal
Credit; and
Requires further financial assistance with housing costs and
Has no other means to meet the shortfall.

WHAT IS MEANT BY HOUSING COSTS
Housing costs are not defined in the regulations, and this gives LAs a
broad discretion to interpret the term as they wish.
In general, housing costs means rental liability. However, housing costs
can be interpreted more widely to include:




Rent in advance.
Deposits.
Other lump sum costs associated with a housing need such as
removal costs.

Following the abolition of Council Tax Benefit from April 2013, DHPs can
no longer be made towards Council Tax liability. However, any increased
expenditure will be considered when deciding on a DHP claim.
The legislation gives Local Authorities a very broad discretion; decisions
must be made in accordance with ordinary principles about good decision
making, i.e., administrative law. In particular, Local Authorities have a
duty to act fairly, reasonably and consistently.
9.

STATEMENT OF OBJECTIVES
The Council will consider making a payment of DHP to claimants who
meet the qualifying criteria as specified in this policy. Each application
will be treated on the individual merits of the claim and will seek through
this policy to:

6|Page

84














Alleviate poverty.
Encourage and sustain people in employment.
Help claimants through personal crises and difficult events.
Help safeguard residents whose tenancies are threatened.
Keep families together.
Help those who are trying to help themselves.
Support the vulnerable and the elderly in the local community.
Support young people in the transition to adult life.
Support young people leaving Local Authority care.
Support foster carers and those between fostering.
Support people with disabilities.
Promote good educational outcomes for children and young people.

The Council considers the DHP scheme should be either a short-term
emergency fund or it could be an indefinite award until the claimant’s
circumstances change. It is dependent on the customers’ need but it is
not and should not be considered as a way around any current or future
entitlement restrictions set out within the Housing Benefit legislation.
10. STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
Successful management and allocation of the DHP funding available
contributes directly to two of the Council’s Strategic Priorities contained in
the Corporate Plan:



A Prosperous Place
A Healthy Community

11. IMPROVING ACCESS TO A DECENT HOME
DHP helps to maximise opportunities for people to live in local
communities where they feel they belong and to sustain our progress in
reducing and preventing homelessness in the Borough.
PART 4
12. CRITERIA FOR AWARDS
Before an award is made the LA must be satisfied that the claimant is
entitled to:






Housing Benefit (HB); or
the Housing element in Universal Credit (UC).
has a rental liability; and
requires further financial assistance with housing costs.
has no other means to meet the housing costs shortfall

A customer who is receiving local Council Tax Support only, with no rental
liability (e.g., an owner occupier) is not eligible to apply for a DHP.
7|Page

85

13. TYPES OF SHORTFALLS THAT A DHP COVERS
The various types of shortfalls that a DHP can cover include the following:




















Reductions in HB or UC (customer has a rental liability and is eligible
for the Housing element) where the benefit cap has been applied.
Reductions in HB or UC (customer has a rental liability and is eligible
for the Housing element) for under-occupation in the social rented
sector.
Reductions in HB or UC (customer has a rental liability and is eligible
for the Housing element) because of local housing allowance
restrictions.
Rent shortfall to prevent a household becoming homeless whilst the
housing authority explores alternative options.
Rent Officer restrictions such as local reference rent or shared room
rate.
Non-dependant deductions.
Income tapers.
Rent deposits and rent in advance (where a customer is unable to
receive financial support under the Council’s existing Rent Deposit
Loan Scheme).
Removal costs (where a customer has been unable to obtain these
from their housing provider).
Expenditure higher than income due to multiple debts (refer to other
agencies e.g., Citizens Advice Bureau for debt advice).
Unaffordable rent (refer to Homelessness Team for further advice and
assistance).
Property is larger than current needs due to pregnancy.
Medical condition making it difficult to move.
Increases in essential work-related expenditure such as increased
fares to work if a customer has had to move because they could not
afford to live in proximity to their work following a reduction in their
LHA rates.
Short term emergency, crisis in family etc.
Tied into existing tenancy.
Shortfall on original assessment of needs or benefit estimate.
Assist the customer to secure a tenancy or retain an existing tenancy.

The above list is a guide and is not exhaustive:
14. WHAT A DHP CANNOT HELP WITH
There are certain elements of the rent that cannot be included in the
housing costs for the purposes of a DHP because the regulations exclude
them such as:




Ineligible service charges (as specified in Schedule 1 of the Housing
Benefit Regulations).
Mortgage payments
Water, sewerage and environmental services (as defined and
calculated under Housing Benefit provisions).
8|Page

86







Increases in rent due to outstanding rent arrears.
Shortfalls due to HB overpayment recovery.
Claimant’s whose HB has been reduced because of the new Loss of
Benefit (LOB) penalty will not be entitled to a discretionary housing
payment to make up the shortfall. Regulation 3(l) of the Discretionary
Financial Assistance Regulations 2001 has been amended so that
such a payment cannot be made to a claimant who is subject to a loss
of benefit for a fraud offence. Along with other sanctions as detailed in
the guidance.
Following the abolition of Council Tax Benefit from April 2013, DHPs
can no longer be made towards Council Tax liability.

15. FRAUD
The Council is committed to the fight against fraud. A claimant who tries
to fraudulently claim a DHP by declaring false information, providing a
false statement or evidence in support of their application, may have
committed an offence under the Theft Act 1968 or other legislation.
Where Eastleigh Borough Council suspects such a fraud may have
occurred, the matter will be referred to the Senior Specialist (benefits)
who will decide on the appropriate action including the instigation of
criminal proceedings.
16. PREVENTION OF HOMELESSNESS
Eastleigh’s Benefit Service and the Housing Team work closely together
to promote the availability of DHPs. Procedures are in place for requests
for DHPs to be made with the help of both the Benefit and Housing
Officers to help retain tenancies, help prevent homelessness and where
rent in advance/rent deposits are required.
17. CLAIMING A DHP
A claim for a Discretionary Housing Payment must be made in writing
(using the Council’s Discretionary Housing Payment application form) and
signed by the claimant. Only the Council can accept claims for
Discretionary Housing Payment.
On request or in appropriate circumstances the claimant will be issued
with a Discretionary Housing Payment application form and be requested
to return it along with the specified supporting documentation. Claims for
Discretionary Housing Payments can only be made once an award of
Housing Benefit/Universal Credit has been made or at any time
thereafter. The form is also available on the Council’s website.
A request may be made for any (reasonable) evidence in support of an
application for a Discretionary Housing Payment. Any such request will
be made in writing, by e-mail, by telephone or by a home visit. If the
claimant fails to provide the evidence his claim for DHP will be cancelled
although the time scale for providing information may be extended in
9|Page

87

appropriate circumstances.
The Council also reserves the right to verify any information or evidence
provided by the claimant in appropriate circumstances.
18. AWARDING A DHP
In deciding whether to award a Discretionary Housing Payment, the
Council will consider:










The income and expenditure of the claimant, their partner and any
dependants or other occupants of the claimant's home.
Any savings or capital that might be held by the claimant or their
family.
The shortfall between the weekly Housing Benefit (the Housing
element of Universal Credit) and the weekly liability.
Any steps taken by the claimant to reduce their rental liability.
The financial and medical circumstances of the claimant, their partner
and any dependants and any other occupants of the claimant's home.
The level of indebtedness of the claimant and their family.
The exceptional nature of the claimant and their family’s
circumstances.
The possible impact on the Council of not making such an award, e.g.,
the need to prevent homelessness.
Any other special circumstances brought to the attention of the
Benefits Service within Eastleigh Borough Council.

The Council will decide how much to award based on the individual
circumstances. This may be an amount below the difference between the
liability and the payment of Housing Benefit.
An award of a Discretionary Housing Payment does not guarantee that a
further award will be made at a later date even if the claimant's
circumstances have not changed.
19. PERIOD OF AWARD
Each claim will be decided on its own merits and a short-term payment or
longer-term payment may be considered depending on the circumstances
around the financial hardship. It is not and should not be considered as a
way around any current or future entitlement restrictions set out within the
Housing Benefit legislation/Universal Credit legislation.
In all cases, a decision will be made on the length of time for which a
Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) will be awarded based on the
evidence supplied and the facts known.


The start date and length of an award will normally be decided by the
Benefit Specialist making the decision which could be for a future or
past date depending on the circumstances.

The level of a DHP in the case of a shortfall will not exceed the weekly
10 | P a g e

88

eligible rent of their home when added to their weekly Housing Benefit or
Housing element of the Universal Credit award.
Eligible rent means all the payments specified in Regulation 12(1) of the
Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 or the Housing Benefit (Persons who
have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations
2006 except those specified in Regulation 12(3)(b)(i) to (iii) of those
regulations, i.e., deductions in respect of certain specified service
charges.
Following the introduction of Universal Credit (UC), LAs will have to
consider claims from customers who are receiving UC and not Housing
Benefit. As the element of UC that covers housing costs will not be
identifiable in the payment of UC any award of DHP to UC customers will
be made on the basis that it cannot exceed the weekly eligible rent
20. BACKDATING AN AWARD
The Council will look at each claim on its own merits when deciding
whether or not to backdate a DHP. Unlike Housing Benefit there are no
rules on backdating, but the Council will act consistently. DHPs can only
be considered for a period where the linked Housing Benefit or Universal
Credit is payable.
Any reasonable request for backdating a DHP award will be considered
but such consideration will normally be limited to the financial year in
which the claim for a backdate is made but in exceptional circumstances
can be made for a maximum of up to 3 months in the preceding financial
year.
21. LUMP SUM PAYMENT
When awarding a Discretionary Housing Payment for rent in advance or a
deposit the weekly limit will not apply as we are awarding lump sum to
meet an immediate need.
Before awarding a Discretionary Housing Payment for a deposit the
Specialist will liaise with Housing colleagues to ensure that landlords have
been made aware of their legal obligations to protect any deposit paid in a
Government approved tenancy deposit protection scheme. Compliance
with this requirement will help reduce the need for future help with
deposits. When making a Discretionary Housing Payment to assist the
customer with securing a new tenancy we will make the payment to the
landlord rather than the customer.
Before awarding a Discretionary Housing Payment for rent in advance or
rent deposit the Specialist will ensure we have established with the
customer whether they:



Are due to have a deposit or rent in advance in respect of their
existing tenancy returned to them.
Have no other means of obtaining the deposit from their own
11 | P a g e

89

resources or from other internal or external sources
 If a rent in advance is being requested from a Registered Social
Landlord (RSL) the maximum amount, we will award is 2 weeks.
However, if the tenant is moving from and to the same RSL these
requests will not be considered.
22. CHANGES OF CIRCUMSTANCES
The claimant has a duty to notify the Benefit Service within Eastleigh
Borough Council of all changes in circumstances.
An award of a Discretionary Housing Payment may be revised where the
claimant's circumstances have changed, but will be revised in all cases
where the amount of DHP would then exceed the rent liability due to the
change of Housing Benefit/Universal Credit being paid.
23. METHOD OF PAYMENT
The Council will decide the most appropriate person to pay based upon
the circumstances of each case. This could include paying:






The claimant.
Their partner.
An appointee.
Their landlord (or an agent of the landlord); or
Any third party to whom it might be most appropriate to make
payment.

The Council will pay an award of Discretionary Housing Payment by
electronic transfer (BACS).
Payment frequency will normally be made in line with how Housing
Benefit or Universal Credit is paid.
24. NOTIFICATION
The Council will inform the claimant of the outcome of their application
within 14 days, or as soon as practically possible thereafter. Where the
application is unsuccessful, the Council will set out the reasons why this
decision was made and explain the right of review. Where the application
is successful, the Council will advise:





the weekly amount or lump sum amount of the DHP awarded,
how, when and to whom the award will be paid,
the period covered by the award if a weekly amount and
the requirement to report a change in circumstances.

25. REFUSED DHP
Where a request for a DHP has been refused, it is not expected that
repeated requests will be considered unless the customer can
demonstrate that the situation has significantly worsened, or a substantial
12 | P a g e

90

period of time has elapsed.

PART 5

26. THE RIGHT OF APPEAL
DHPs are not payments of Housing Benefit or Universal Credit and are
therefore not subject to the statutory appeals mechanism. All Councils are
expected to set up an appropriate review process.
The Council will operate the following policy for dealing with appeals
about a refusal to award a DHP or any other matter contained within that
decision.




A claimant (or their appointee or agent) who disagrees with a DHP
decision may dispute the decision.
All appeals must be made in writing to the Service Manager (Benefits)
and must be received within one calendar month of the written
decision being sent.
Initially the appeal will be looked at by another Specialist (not party to
the original decision). The Specialist will then either; revise the initial
decision (re-consideration) and give new rights of appeal or escalate
to the Service Manager if they believe the initial decision is correct.



If new evidence is given the original Specialist could review the
situation but if unable to change their decision, it would then be
passed to another Specialist.



If the Service Manager (Benefits) decides to revise the previous
decision the claimant will be notified of that decision in writing,
informing them of the amount, date and length of the award.
If the Service Manager (Benefits) not to revise the decision the
claimant will be notified of that decision in writing, setting out the
reasons for the decision.
In exceptional circumstances one month time period for appeal will be
extended. In deciding whether to extend the time limit for appeal, the
Service Manager (Benefits) will have regard to all relevant reason for
the delay. The decision whether to extend the time period for appeal
will rest with the Service Manager (Benefits) and there will be no
further right of appeal.
The Service Manager (Benefits) decision will be final with any further
challenges being made through the judicial review process.
In cases of alleged maladministration by the Council, the claimant
must follow the Council’s complaints process before contacting the
Local Government Ombudsman.







13 | P a g e

91

The above process will ensure fair and consistent decisions are made.
27. OVERPAID DHPs
The Council will always seek to recover any DHP found to be overpaid if
payment is made because of misrepresentation or failure to disclose a
material fact, fraudulently or otherwise.
28. RECOVERY FROM ONGOING HB
The Council can look to recover DHPs from on-going Housing Benefit.
Normally recovery will involve issuing an invoice to the claimant or the
person to whom the award was paid, if it cannot be deducted from
ongoing benefit entitlement.
29. PUBLICITY
The Council will continue to publicise the scheme and will work with all
interested parties, including the Council’s Homelessness Team to achieve
this.
A copy of the policy statement will be made available at request to any
interest parties and will be posted on the Eastleigh Borough Council
Website.
30. VALUE OF THE FUND
The Council will keep a record of payments made and monitor the
existing expenditure against the amount available in the fund.
For 2022/2023 the level of the fund for Eastleigh Borough Council is as
follows:
Government contribution: £120,789
Overall limit: £301,973
Additional funds may be set aside to allow spending over the DHP fund
allocated by DWP; Though expenditure must not exceed the overall limit
set for the Authority
31. MONITORING AND REVIEW
The Service Manager (Benefits) will routinely monitor the number and
amounts of DHP awards to ensure it informs future policy decisions.
The Discretionary Housing Payments (Grants) Order 2001 requires LAs to
submit a DHP claim form providing details of expenditure twice a year
(1 September and 30 April). The DHP claim is required to be signed by
the Section 151 Officer or a delegated officer provided the DWP has
14 | P a g e

92

specimen signatures for their records. The Service Manager (Benefits)
will be a delegated officer for the purpose of signing the DHP claim forms.
There is also a requirement to record the reason for the DHP award
against one of the four criteria below for DWP monitoring purposes:





To support customers affected by the Benefit Cap
To support customers affected by the social sector size criteria
To support customers affected by the LHA reforms
Any other reason

Prepared By:
Designation:
Date:

Declan Kelly
Service Manager for Housing Benefits and
Council Tax Support
28th January 2022.

15 | P a g e

93

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
AUDIT & RESOURCES COMMITTEE
Monday 23rd May 2022
CABINET
Tuesday, 24 May 2022
GREEN ENERGY DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS
Report of the Corporate Leadership Board

Recommendations
It is recommended that Audit & Resources Committee:
(1)

consider this report and make recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate.

It is recommended that Cabinet:
(2)

approve an additional budget of development at a cost of £20,336,110, to a full
capital cost of £22,490,110, financed by borrowing funded by ongoing revenue
income, to enable the construction, installation, and ongoing management of
ground mounted solar panels on land owned by the Council.

(3)

approve the allocation of 5% income (approximately £80,000 pa) from the Solar
Farm business case to be earmarked for green community initiatives funded
from the income generated by the sale of power.

(4)

approve additional budget of £4,585,734 financed by borrowing funded by the
ongoing revenue, to enable the installation, operation, and ongoing
management (required over the life of asset) at a full capital cost of
£11,695,734 of a private wire power network to distribute green power from
Council-owned solar parks to the One Horton Heath development.

(5)

Approve additional budget of £11,544,641 financed by grant (recommendation
6), to enable the installation, operation, and ongoing management at a full
capital cost of £29,434,641 of a Green Heat Network to distribute Heat to the
One Horton Heath Development.

(6)

approve that the Council submits a grant funding bid for Green Heat Network
Funding to support delivery of the Green Heat Network (recommendation 5)
including approving funding of £30,000 funded from the Housing Reserve, for
specialist input to support the bid and delegate approval of the final bid to the
Leader and Chief Financial Officer.

(7)

approve £50,000 funded from the Housing Reserve for the continued
investigation of other sources of renewable ‘green’ heat to charge the ambient

95

temperature water loops for future phases of the private heat network at One
Horton Heath.
(8)

delegate authority to complete the terms of the actions recommended above
within the approved business case and subject to due diligence to the Chief
Financial Officer in conjunction with the Leader.

Summary
This report seeks approval to deliver an ambitious programme of green energy projects on
Council owned land in support of the Council’s Climate and Environmental Emergency
Action Plan and the One Horton Heath Development Brief.
The purpose of this programme of activity is to address Green Borough objectives whilst
futureproofing the energy infrastructure required in support of planned housing growth and
employment space. Specifically, the Council’s Climate and Environmental Emergency
Action Plan states that the Council will investigate business cases for additional solar PV
(photovoltaic) installation on its estate including large scale solar farms.
Approval is sought for a total of £36.47M capital funding for new Council owned green
energy assets comprising a new solar farm and a ground source heat pump network and
private wire network for the first phase of One Horton Heath. The proposal will enable
heat to all new buildings and power to non-domestic property. These schemes will be
funded by borrowing repaid by income through the sale of green power and revenue
generated as outlined in the business cases for each green energy development project
alongside income generated from the One Horton Heath (OHH) development as
previously approved as part of the OHH business case.
In addition to funding approvals, this report recommends a longer-term strategy of
pursuing funding, feasibility, and investment advice for other green energy solutions
utilising Council-owned land in support of sustainable development and housing growth
across the Borough.
Statutory Powers
Localism Act 2011

96

Eastleigh Borough Council

Strategic Implications
1.

The proposals in this report address several Eastleigh Borough Council
Corporate Plan objectives and strategies, as well as the Project Brief for the
One Horton Heath development.

2.

The Green Borough Corporate Strategy (February 2018) includes a
commitment to seeking opportunities to expand the Council’s renewable
energy generation systems.

3.

On 11 July 2019, Cabinet approved a Project Brief for the One Horton
Heath Project, confirming the direction of travel or ‘roadmap’ for the
Council’s development team (available at www.onehortonheath.co.uk/keydocuments). Specifically, One Horton Heath aims to deliver a development
which maximises opportunities for sustainable generation of energy onsite.

4.

On 18 July 2019, the Council unanimously declared a Climate and
Environmental Emergency. This was subsequently supported with a
Climate and Environment Emergency Strategy in November 2019 and an
updated Action Plan in June 2020. The strategy sets out the Council’s aims
to be carbon neutral by 2025 and plan for how the Borough of Eastleigh
could achieve carbon neutrality by 2030.

5.

The action plan identifies a range of initiatives to reduce carbon emissions,
increase carbon sequestration (e.g., tree planting), Solar PV (Photovoltaic)
installation; rewilding; and nitrate offsetting. Land owned and recently
acquired by the Council can be used to deliver many of these proposals
with opportunity for some land to offer multiple benefits.

6.

Cabinet also endorsed an Eastleigh Homes Delivery Strategy in December
2020, which provides a direction of travel for the Council’s Strategic
Housing Programme activity from 2021. The Delivery Strategy confirms the
Council’s aim to enable and encourage green and sustainable lifestyles for
all (Aim 4).

7.

The Asset Management Strategy (2020-2025) sets out an emerging policy
to embed a culture of innovation that maximises best use of appropriate
technologies that support new ways of working and protects the
environment; utilising available financing to support implementation and
meet the objectives of the Climate Change and Environmental Emergency
Strategy and Action Plan.

8.

Most recently, Cabinet approved consultation on a Biodiversity Strategy
(2022-2032) which emphasises the role of planting in building climate
resilience, and in ensuring access to nature for residents.

Eastleigh Borough Council

97

Introduction
9.

This report provides background to green energy development projects
being proposed on Council owned land in support of the Council’s Climate
and Environmental Emergency Action Plan and the One Horton Heath
development. These projects are subject to this Cabinet approval and
finalising due diligence assessments with the final decision delegated to the
Leader of The Council and the Chief Financial Officer.

10.

Planning a sustainable new community is shown to help demonstrate low
carbon planning and design. The One Horton Heath Project Brief
(https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/5590/87506-west-of-horton-heathproject-brief-v4.pdf) includes an overarching design aim (AG2) that the
development will have a ‘reduced energy demand and reduced reliance on
unsustainable energy sources’. To guide this aim, the following objectives
are stated in the Brief:

OG 1 Deliver a development which is highly energy efficient with buildings
that have minimal energy demand and net carbon emissions.
OG2 Deliver a development which is not reliant on fossil fuels to meet its
heating or energy demands.
OG3 Deliver a development which maximises opportunities for sustainable
generation of energy on-site.

98

11.

This proposal responds to these objectives with a recommended solution to
help realise an ambition to generate and sell clean electricity while
minimising demand on the National Grid generated by non-residential users
of the One Horton Heath development.

12.

The planning and design for One Horton Heath also responds proactively to
the Government’s Future Homes standard, which should ensure all new
homes built from 2025 will perform 75-80% better than current building
regulation standards. The aim is that all homes built at One Horton Heath
will achieve these targets for energy efficient homes, before the updated
regulations come into force in 2025.

13.

A major step towards realising the vision for green power at One Horton
Heath was taken in September 2020, when Cabinet approved the purchase
of the Chalcroft Solar Park with the stated aim of incorporating this into a
private wire network serving non-residential assets created by the
development.

14.

In July 2020 Cabinet approved the purchase of strategic land to meet
Council objectives, whilst ensuring as a minimum a cost neutrality to the
Council, through future income repaying the borrowing and associated
Eastleigh Borough Council

costs. The installation of ground mounted solar was identified as the main
opportunity to further improve the business case for these land purchases.

Green energy solutions
15.

Electricity usage in homes accounts for six percent of greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions in the UK (UK Housing: Fit for the Future, CCC, 2019).
The Government’s Net Zero Strategy (October 2021) sets out the role of
affordable clean electricity in underpinning the net zero economy.
Specifically, action at the local level is considered key to decarbonising
buildings, transport systems and energy systems. Renewable energy
generation from solar within the Borough can provide a low carbon source
of electricity.

16.

In 2021, solar contributed to more than 4% of the UK’s total electricity
generation (Energy Trends, March 2022). To meet the national net zero
2050 target, the Climate Change Committee (CCC) state that solar needs
to provide 10-15% of the country’s electricity demand. The CCC estimate
that land use for large scale solar needs to rise from 290km2 to 1,500km2
and an average of three gigawatts of large scale solar needs to be
deployed each year.

17.

As set out elsewhere (e.g., Nationwide and Ipsos Mori’s 2021 ‘Future of
Home Report’) making our homes greener (including energy efficiency and
energy generation) must be a major part of the transition to net zero. New
build homes need to be sustainable and futureproofed. Technologies such
as ground source heat pumps and hydrogen boilers are likely to play a
large part in decarbonising homes.

18.

Currently the heating of homes in the UK accounts for 14% of annual GHG
emissions (UK Housing: Fit for the Future, CCC, 2019). As part of the
advice accompanying the sixth carbon budget the CCC recommend that no
new homes are connected to the gas grid from 2025 and that natural gas
use is completely phased out for residential use by 2035. To achieve the
national net zero target, 18% of homes need to be connected to a low
carbon heat network by 2050.

Low Carbon technologies – One Horton Heath
19.

Cabinet will be familiar with the Council’s major planned development at
One Horton Heath where in line with the Council’s commitment to
Infrastructure First, the first major pieces of road infrastructure are complete
and site preparation has commenced. Subject to issuing of planning
consents, the next major piece of road and the construction of new homes
at the first phase (Lower Acre) are programmed to commence late 2022.
Further updates are online at www.onehortonheath.co.uk.

20.

In December 2021 Cabinet approved a strategy and associated budget for
upfront delivery of site-wide secondary infrastructure at One Horton Heath.
The private heat and private wire proposals for One Horton Heath are one

Eastleigh Borough Council

99

element of infrastructure delivery, and a site-wide approach is required to
comprehensively plan this infrastructure provision. In line with ambitions
set out in the Project Brief in 2019, an ongoing commitment to infrastructure
first and the timeline for delivery of housing at One Horton Heath, now is the
critical time to decide the specific energy and heat solutions for the project.
21.

Since 2019, the Council has been collaborating with specialist consultants
to assess the demands and evaluate potential technological solutions. This
report seeks approval to proceed with a strategy of providing ‘green’ private
wire and private heat networks for the whole development. Specifically, it is
recommended that the first phase (381 dwellings at “Lower Acre” as
detailed in planning application reference F/20/89500) utilise a private heat
network served from ground source heat pumps and an ambient
temperature loop.

Proposals
22.

There are 3 green energy/low carbon projects proposed in this report.

23.

Proposal 1 is a large-scale ground mounted solar farm on the Council's
strategic land with revenue surpluses realised over the project life based on
exporting power to the grid.

24.

Proposal 2 is a private wire network connected to the Council's existing and
proposed solar farms adjacent to One Horton Heath which would serve the
non-residential property and electric vehicle charging demands of One
Horton Heath. This proposal safeguards assumptions made in the Chalcroft
Solar Farm business case and offers significant financial betterment to the
business case underpinning proposal 1 as power generated is charged to
end users at retail prices rather than being exported to the grid at wholesale
prices.

25.

Proposal 3 is a private heat network serving all new property at One Horton
Heath. The main driver for this proposal is compliance with the aims and
objectives of One Horton Heath in achieving no use of fossil fuels in the
completed development and meeting the Future Homes Standard 2025.

Solar Farm

100

26.

Proposal 1 (Recommendation 2) in this report relates to the development of
a new solar farm on Council owned land.

27.

Eastleigh Borough Council is the freehold landowner of parcels of
undeveloped land to the east of Eastleigh town. The land was acquired
following approvals in July 2020 to meet various Green Borough strategic
objectives, most notably nitrate mitigation. This report sets out a business
case for the installation of ground mounted solar panels on two sites within
a development area with a generation capacity of 27 megawatts.

Eastleigh Borough Council

28.

Whilst the panels will be in multiple locations it will be classified as one
solar farm, known as Allington Lane Solar Farm, as it will only have one
combined grid connection point.

29.

The panels will be located at the following sites:
i.

Land south of the B3037 (Fair Oak Road) (Land to the rear of
Chalkhill Meadow) (c.23ha)

ii.

Land north and south of the railway, Allington Lane (c.25ha)
(one solar park covering three parcels of land)

30.

A feasibility study carried out by Locogen (a specialist consultancy in the
renewable energy sector procured on our behalf by the Southwest Energy
Hub) confirms the suitability of the above locations to host one combined
solar farm installation, and that the proposal provides a market facing
business case.

31.

Locogen identified several areas where further due diligence and
confirmation of assumptions within the feasibility report are required. All
these items have been instructed with results due July - August 2022. It
should be noted that final proposals, and indeed ability to deliver this
project, could be significantly impacted by the results of this further work.
The major risks are perceived to be obtaining planning permission and grid
capacity & connectivity.

32.

The installation of ground mounted panels as proposed would generate
35.75 gigawatt hours per annum (35,753 megawatt hours) and would be
available Q4 2023/2024, subject to grid connectivity. The table below sets
out key milestone dates as suggested by Locogen:
Grid






May 2022 - Submit application
Aug 2022 – Receive grid offer
Sept 2022 – Accept grid offer
Oct 2022 – Feb 2023 - Statement of works process (to assess
transmission impacts)
Sept 2022 - March 2024 – typical timeframe for DNO to arrange for
and complete their grid connection works

Planning
 May – Oct 2022 – Screening works and planning
 Nov 2022 - Submit planning (to do this we would need to look at
kicking off ecology works needed over Spring/summer period)
 April 2023 – Receive planning decision (assuming 6mths timeframe
from submission to decision)
 April – July 2023 – Discharge of planning conditions

Eastleigh Borough Council

101

Construction
 March – May 2023 – Surveys
 May – July 2023 – Procurement of EPC contractors (may need a bit
longer accounting for public procurement requirements)
 August – December 2023 construction
 Site operational – dependent on when grid is ready

33.

The development of this large-scale solar farm would support the Council’s
climate and environmental emergency declaration and strategy. A solar
farm producing 35.75 gigawatt hours per year would reduce GHG
emissions from the generation of electricity for the Borough by around 9%
(based on most recent data from 2019), equivalent to powering around
9,500 homes.

34.

As a project delivered and managed by the Council, there is an opportunity
to demonstrate the benefits of low carbon planning and sustainable design
as summarised below:
(a) Environment – 95% of land in solar farms can support plant growth, as
panels are raised off the ground and spaced out to avoid shading.
There are opportunities to extensively plant wildflower/species rich
grassland mixes and significant amounts of hedgerows. A biodiversity
management plan would lay out the objectives, including the protection
of existing species.
(b) Social – A portion of the surplus income generated will be used to fund
green community initiatives such as a grant scheme for local action on
climate change, enabling residents to develop projects to benefit their
local area. The site could be designed to host visits for school groups
or hold open days providing opportunities for education and awareness
raising (recommendation 3).
(c) Economic – as a large-scale project there is potential for providing local
employment and apprenticeships using the social value framework that
has already been developed for the One Horton Heath development.

One Horton Heath Low Carbon Private Wire Power Network

102

35.

Proposal 2 (recommendation 4) in this report relates to a proposal for a
private wire network at One Horton Heath. Private wire systems are
localised electricity grids that, although connected to the local distribution
networks, have privately owned central plant that produces electricity (in
this case Council owned solar farms).

36.

In September 2020 Cabinet approved the freehold purchase of Chalcroft
Solar Park and associated operations (Chalcroft Solar Park Limited). The
purchases completed in May 2021 and Cabinet was updated on the
Eastleigh Borough Council

business plan in June 2021 following necessary due diligence. The due
diligence for this purchase demonstrated the significance of generating
demand for the electricity private wire to the non-residential buildings on the
One Horton Heath development to support the funding for the purchase and
enable the delivery of green energy.
37.

The addition of further solar energy supply (recommendation 2), alongside
the existing Chalcroft Solar Park, helps further justify investment in a wider
supply network. A network could distribute green energy to a greater range
and number of end-users than had previously been considered feasible with
a single solar park. It is therefore proposed that if the creation of the
Allington Lane solar park is approved, it will also be connected to the
private wire network serving One Horton Heath. The private wire network
would reduce GHG emissions for the supply of electricity from 113,766
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e) to 28,841 tCO2e, saving 84,925
tCO2e over the lifetime of the network.

38.

Further benefits and feasibility of a proposed private wire network at One
Horton Heath were provided by Ener-Vate, commercial consultants in the
low carbon energy sector. Their findings are summarised as follows:

39.



Guaranteed Green energy supply for non-residential property at One
Horton Heath (i.e., commercial premises).



Guaranteed Green energy supply serving Electric Vehicle Charging
points to communal parking areas which covers most of all housing
and all public and business chargers.



Significant long term revenue surpluses derived from prudent forecast
need of Electric Vehicle charging. These revenue surpluses help
support the business case for private heat, reducing risk to the Council.

Any energy generated by the Chalcroft Solar Park or Allington Lane Solar
Park which is not consumed via the private wire network at One Horton
Heath, will still be available for the Council to explore other private wire
benefits and off-takers. It can also be exported to the national grid,
generating a guaranteed income but at a much lower level than selling it to
end users, the export to grid income rate has been used for the financial
modelling as it is the most prudent and secure form of income.

One Horton Heath Low Carbon Private Heat network
40.

Proposal 3 (recommendation 5) in this report relates to proposals for a
private low carbon heat network.

41.

Heat networks deliver heating, hot water, and/or cooling from a central
source or sources to domestic dwellings, public sector buildings, shops,
offices etc. The Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy
(BEIS) is aiming to develop and grow the heat network market and address
the challenges of decarbonising the heat sector in the UK. The Government

Eastleigh Borough Council

103

is investing in heat network projects to incentivise progress towards low
carbon supplies of heat at competitive prices to households and
businesses.
42.

The base option to provide heat and hot water to new build developments is
currently to install gas boilers in each property at a significantly lower capital
cost. Whilst cheaper, this option does not meet the previously approved
OHH brief of no fossil fuels on site or the proposed 2025 energy
regulations. The industry reaction to the new regulations is to install the
next-least expensive option (Air Source Heat Pumps), however as the
Council will retain a proportion of the stock, the ongoing costs of ownership
also need to be considered. The estimated full life cost to the Council
comparing gas boilers, ASHP and GSHP on a standalone basis i.e., no
heat network or long-term securing of revenue, is shown in the table below.
Gas
Boilers
£’000
Installation Cost (all
2,500 homes)
Capital Repair Cost
over 50 years (1300
retained homes)
Annual maintenance
cost over 50 years
(1300 retained homes)
Total

43.

Ground Source
Heat Pumps
£’000

6,250

18,750

33,730

17,776

51,353

38,515

6,336

25,346

19,009

30,362

95,449

91,254

Gas boilers will have increased carbon emissions of 197,064 tonnes
compared to running the heat network over a 50-year period as
demonstrated in the table below. In addition, gas boilers may not legally be
able to be installed when building regulations change in 2025.
Heat Source
Individual Gas boilers
Individual Air source
heat pumps
Individual
Ground
source heat pumps
Heat network using
GSHP

104

Air Source
Heat Pumps
£’000

Average annual carbon
emissions (tCO2e)
4,671.5

Carbon emissions over
50 years (tCO2e)
233,581

1,024.0

51,201

904.0

45,197

730.3

36,514

Eastleigh Borough Council

44.

Following extensive research, analysis of trends and current and emerging
technologies the Council proposes to deliver a green heat network of
ambient temperature water loops within each development parcel, and heat
exchange units in each property (replacing a gas boiler).

45.

Within context of this report heat for the ambient temperature loops on One
Horton Heath is proposed to come from an array of 100m deep boreholes
within each development parcel that extract heat from below the earth’s
surface.

46.

The full technical feasibility work was supported by Aecom (an established
infrastructure consulting firm) & Genius Energy Lab (ground source heat
pump system design consultants) and underpins this proposal.

47.

The figures shown at paragraph 42 provide the baseline against which the
cost of installing a heat network was considered. A ground source heat
pump system will require greater initial capital expenditure and operational
expenditure than gas boilers. However, by having a heat network, the
Council can benefit from secured income generation to offset the operating
cost and most of the installation and repair costs over the 50-year finance
period of the project. Furthermore, by creating a heat network grant funding
(para 49) becomes available to support the capital financing. This improves
the financial position for the Council demonstrating a break-even position.
The review of all factors, including financial and the reduction in carbon
emissions, has led to a retained private heat network initially fuelled by
Ground Source Heat Pumps being identified as the recommended option
for delivery (Recommendations 5).

48.

Initial discussions with Ener-vate and the Department for Business, Energy,
and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) indicate that proposals for a heat network at
One Horton Heath is likely to attract up to £15m (50% of the initial capital
and commercialisation cost of the project) in grant funding from the
government backed Green Heat Network Fund (GHNF).

49.

GHNF funding is time restricted and would need to be applied for in stages
over the construction life of the project. Recommendation 6 in this report
relates to a proposal to apply for GHNF grant funding to subsidise
investment in a private green heat network and lower the Council's overall
risk.

50.

It is proposed that Cabinet support the preparation and submission of an
application to secure funding from the GHNF during 2022
(Recommendation 6).

51.

The entire heat network model is currently based on using 100m deep
boreholes, but it is expected as this industry matures, and technologies
evolve the source of heat for the ambient temperature loop in future parcels
may change (see paragraphs 55 and 55).

Eastleigh Borough Council

105

52.

Certainty as to the heating technology for the first phase of One Horton
Heath (Lower Acre) is needed at this time so that detailed design and
procurement of the equipment and supplies can commence, enabling a
start on site date for the first phase to be achieved in late 2022.

Strategic approach to green energy supply and utilisation
53.

One Horton Heath is a long-term project with a build out programmed until
at least 2035. Futureproofing the energy solutions is driving the strategic
considerations now and necessitates evaluation of both available and
emerging technologies.

54.

Green (or ‘clean’) heat technology is a fast-moving area and the feasibility
of different renewable heat technologies over time (as the industry matures
and grows) means that the preferred solution for the first phase of One
Horton Heath may not necessarily be the same for all future phases.

55.

Potential alternative sources include waste heat from large scale PVT, large
scale centralised ASHP, large scale centralised solar thermal, waste heat
from hydrogen gas production et al. Recommendation 7 acknowledges this
and proposes up to £50,000 is approved to allow ongoing research that will
validate or lead to varied proposals for heating future phases of the ambient
temperature loop at One Horton Heath.

56.

Subject to approval and delivery of the solar installations proposed in this
report, there are clear opportunities to investigate complementary
technologies, investments and long-term benefits to the residents and
businesses of the Borough.

Legal Structure
57.

106

Having explored both options, the Council intend to supply the Heat and
Power themselves rather than through an Energy Supply Company
(ESCO). Legal advice has been sought from Weightmans LLP to ensure
the Council is legally allowed to supply power to non-residential users, heat
to the residential units and to assess the best corporate structure for doing
so. In addition to giving assurance regarding the ability to supply, the
Council asked Weightmans to specifically consider the three points below:


Whether there is a legal requirement to establish a standalone Energy
Supply Company (ESCO) to deliver the project.



The advantages and disadvantages of establishing an ESCO.



Highlight any key legal or regulatory issues which must be considered
for the delivery of the project, including whether to establish an ESCO,
focusing on procurement, subsidy control and electricity supply
regulations.

Eastleigh Borough Council

58.

Weightmans confirmed that the Council can supply heat and power using
either Section 11 of the Local Government Act 1976 (provided all sources of
energy supplied are renewable) or using Chapter 1 of the Localism Act
2011 (providing the purpose for supplying the energy is not primarily a
commercial one). The energy the Council will be supplying will all be from
renewable sources and the purpose of the supply is to support the Climate
Change Emergency actions and to future proof the site from potential legal
changes to the use of natural gas to fuel homes. It was confirmed that there
is no legal requirement to set up an ESCO for the Council to make the
proposed supplies.

59.

Having established that an ESCO is not mandatory, the advantages and
disadvantages of this option were explored in outline by Weightmans:


Weightmans advised that the main advantages of an ESCO are the
ability to ring-fence the Council’s liability and thereby not expose the
Councils core business to the risks of the project; and the ease of
selling the interest in the project in the future (although this is not
contemplated at present).



The key disadvantages of an ESCO that were highlighted were: the
additional time and expense to establish the corporate structures
required; the fact that the Council may be able to access lower cost
public sector financing than would be available to the ESCO combined
with the fact the ESCO would be liable to Tax could lead to a more
expensive service to residents; and the requirement that all solar PV
and renewable generation assets would have to sit within the ESCO’s
ownership – which runs counter to the Council’s usual approach of
delivering projects directly.

60.

There were 3 key legal areas which were highlighted as potential areas of
concern and were reviewed in detail. These were: Procurement, Subsidy
Control (previously State Aid) and Regulation of Supply.

61.

The first element of the review which may impact the decision regarding an
ESCO was Procurement. It was confirmed that there were no legal issues
regarding procurement which prevented either option. However, it was
highlighted that the use of an ESCO would potentially require more than
one company to be created to meet all the relevant legal restrictions which
would add a degree of complexity to the structure although this is
considered manageable.

62.

The second element considered was subsidy control (previously referred to
as State Aid prior to exiting the EU). Again, there were no significant issues
preventing either structure. If an ESCO was created the Council could
need to ensure that any funding provided to the ESCO would be at market
rates. This could result in higher operating costs and subsequently a higher
cost for the customer.

Eastleigh Borough Council

107

63.

The final element was regarding the regulation of the supply of electricity.
The key issue explored here was whether there would be a requirement to
obtain a supply licence. If this would be required, the administration and
potential cost impact would likely mean the scheme could not proceed.
This issue had previously been considered by the legal team supporting the
purchase of Chalcroft Solar Farm who confirmed their view was that the
Council would be exempt. The Electricity Class Exemptions Order 2001
was specifically considered, and the same conclusion was drawn that the
Council could use a Class C Exemption in the order. In summary, for this
exemption to apply the supply must be self-generated or provided by a
licenced supplier and used by consumers located on the same site linked
by a private wire: this proposal meets all these requirements.

64.

Weightmans did highlight one area on which they recommended the
Council took Counsel advice on. This concerned the onward supply of
electricity from the Electric Vehicle (EV) chargers as the exemptions do not
explicitly cover this supply as it was not in material existence at the time of
writing the exemptions. Whilst comfortable with their assessment, which
was also in line with advice received when the Chalcroft Solar Farm was
purchased this was considered prudent. This advice has been sought but
has not been received back at the time of writing.

65.

As would be expected advantages and disadvantages were identified within
both models, but nothing that would materially impact the final decision.
Having considered the risk profile of the project and the regulatory and
financial implications of establishing an ESCO it is considered by the project
team that at present these outweigh the advantages that could be provided
by an ESCO, and it is proposed the supply is provided directly by the
Council. This would not preclude an ESCO being established by the
Council at a later date if the regulatory environment or risk profile changed.

Overall Financial Implications

108

66.

The financial implications of each independent scheme are detailed in the
following paragraphs with the appraisals shown in the appendices 1 & 2.
Although the schemes have interdependencies each must be considered
on its own merit. Each element of the scheme has been costed separately
to clearly detail the individual costs and income. It is anticipated that due to
the length of life of the asset and the uncertainty around interest rates, the
borrowing for the capital expenditure will be at a long-term fixed rate with
income streams contributing towards the cost of debt, this will be agreed
with the Treasury Management Group.

67.

The current approved One Horton Heath (OHH) development appraisal
includes an allowance of £10,000 per unit for providing Heat and Power to
the site. As this cost is already financed by the development, this sum is
deducted from the capital cost of the Heat and Power Network.

Eastleigh Borough Council

68.

The table below details the summary figures for each scheme.

Solar Farm
Heat Network

£22.5M
£29.4M

£3.7M
(£53.4M)

Potential
Funding
Source
(OHH)
£29.4M

Power

£11.7M

£131.2M

£7.1M

Scheme

Capital
Cost

Cumulative
Revenue
Position

Final
Cumulative
Revenue
Position
£3.7M
£0.1M
£144M

Solar Farm Financial Implications
69.

The Solar Farm has a total capital cost of £22.49M (inclusive of a £2.1M
contribution to Strategic Land costs), financed by borrowing repaid over the
30-year life of the asset from the sale of electricity, generating a cumulative
revenue surplus of £3.7M (Appendix 1).

70.

Included in the capital costs are development costs, such as grid, planning
and technical works, the cost of purchasing and installing the ground
mounted solar panels, the cost of connecting to the grid, and a 5%
contingency on these costs.

71.

Additionally, a 10% uplift has been added to the capital costs to take
account of the time difference between the issuance of this report, and the
construction timeline. This is to mitigate the risk around inflationary
pressures over the next 12-18 months considering current high inflationary
pressures in the economy. Cabinet will be kept updated of prices through
the project board as the project progresses.

72.

From the point the project goes live, and electricity is produced, the
business case assumes a gross annual revenue income of £1.6M, rising in
line with inflation. This is based on a very prudent average export rate of
£45 per megawatt hour. Current wholesale electricity prices are showing
high volatility due to external factors, such as the COVID 19 pandemic, and
the Russia/Ukraine conflict. This has pushed prices to trade more than
£100 per megawatt hour over the last 12 months. Energy prices prior were
much less volatile, and consistently a rate of £45 per megawatt hour was
comfortably achieved. It is therefore deemed to be a prudent long-term
price assumption for modelling; however, it is recognised that this rate is
likely to be comfortably exceeded over the life of the scheme.

73.

Ongoing revenue costs of operating the Solar Farm are calculated to be
£332k from Year 1, rising in line with inflation. This includes allowances to
fully externalise the operations, management and ongoing routine
maintenance of the site, routine replacement of inverters and solar panels,
business rates payable, and other operating costs such as insurance and
accounting.
Eastleigh Borough Council

109

74.

The following key assumptions have been made in the appraisal shown at
Appendix 1.





75.

Net Energy yield of 35,574 MWh
Export rate of £45 per MWh
Income inflation at 2%
Operating Expenditure inflation at 2.5%

In addition to the base model, the following allowances have also been
made on an annual basis,


£50,000 ongoing cost of staff operations – This is to cover the ongoing
revenue staff cost to the Council of operating Solar Farms and
managing associated contracts.



An additional 5% of Gross Income reserved to create a Solar Repairs &
Replacement Reserve – This is to ensure there is a reserve built up to
cover unforeseen repair and replacement to key Solar equipment.



5% of Gross Income reserved to create a fund for future Green
Initiatives to be managed by the Climate Change Board.

76.

The structure of the Allington Lane solar farm investment differs from that of
Chalcroft Solar Park, whereby the Solar Park had already been constructed
and the Council purchased the company from the previous owners.

77.

This current structure facilitates a lower capital cost per megawatt
produced, but with these lower costs comes additional planning and
construction risk. The full costs of planning and construction are included in
the capital cost, which also includes a 5% contingency, approximately
£870,000 of contingency.

78.

Recent changes to borrowing rules from both the PWLB and CIPFA have
reinforced that an authority must not borrow to invest primarily for financial
return. As spend on the Solar Farm is delivering on the policy of Net Zero
Strategy: Build Back Greener pursuant to the Climate Change Act 2008, it
will be deemed to be a service investment delivering a policy purpose and
meets the requirements of the new borrowing rules.

Private Wire Power Network Financial Implications

110

79.

The Private Wire Power Network has a total capital cost of £11.7M,
financed by borrowing and funds already within the OHH business plan
(£7.1M) repaid over 50 years. Over the life of the model there is a
cumulative revenue surplus of £144M (Appendix 2).

80.

It should be noted that if the Private Power Network is not pursued the OHH
project would still need to meet the 2021 legislation change to provide EV
charging to every new home. This would involve major upgrade to the
Eastleigh Borough Council

adopted power network, estimated to cost in the region of £5-7M, this cost
is not included in the current OHH appraisal and would be a pressure on
the OHH business case.
81.

Also built into the appraisal is the ongoing major Repair & Replacement
allowance of £27M (excluding heat pump costs which are included in Heat
modelling) over the life of the asset.

82.

This business plan includes the purchase of power from Chalcroft Solar
Park and thus guaranteeing the business case approved at Cabinet in July
2020.

83.

Recent changes to borrowing rules from both the PWLB and CIPFA have
reinforced that an authority must not borrow to invest primarily for financial
return. As the investment in the Power Network is a direct response to the
Sustainability and Climate Change objectives of the Council’s Housing
Programme, the Project Brief for One Horton Heath, and the Climate
Change Emergency, it will be deemed to be a service investment.

Private Heat Network Financial Implications
84.

The Heat Network has a total capital cost of £29.5M financed by a
contribution included in the approved OHH business plan for provision of
heating and hot water and GHNF grant. Over a 50-year period the heat
network will generate a small operational revenue surplus, a full financial
appraisal has not been shown as there is no borrowing requirement to be
assessed.
£M
Capital Cost
29.5
OHH contribution
(17.9)
GHNF
(11.6)
Total borrowing requirement
0
Additionally, at the end of the 50-year financial model the heat network will
have high value assets that will continue to operate many years into the
future and generate further income to the Council.

85.

Also built into the appraisal is the ongoing major Repair & Replacement
allowance of £51.6M over the life of the appraisal (residential and
commercial heat pumps).

86.

Recent changes to borrowing rules from both the PWLB and CIPFA have
reinforced that an authority must not borrow to invest primarily for financial
return. As the investment in the Heat Network is a direct response to the
Sustainability and Climate Change objectives of the Council’s Housing
Programme, the Project Brief for One Horton Heath, and the Climate
Change Emergency it will be deemed to be a service investment.

Ongoing Governance and operation

Eastleigh Borough Council

111

87.

These projects will fall under the Council’s standard governance processes
for projects of this size coordinated by the Project Management Office, but
for clarity the project governance structure for each element is shown
below.

Role

Solar Farm Project

OHH Heat & Power
Project
Climate Change
One Horton Heath
Corporate Director (CFO) Chief Executive
Executive Heads of Asset OHH Project Director
and Environment
OHH Team
OHH Team
OHH Team
OHH Team

Programme Board
Project Sponsor
Project Lead
Project Management
Project Delivery

112

88.

Ongoing management and delivery will be allocated across the Council into
three key areas, Asset Ownership & Operation, Environmental Strategic
Delivery and Financial Control & Accounting. These functions will be
delivered by Asset Management, Environment and Corporate Finance
respectively and where required; additional funding is included within the
relevant business case to perform these functions.

89.

Further work will be required to determine an appropriate pricing structure
for residents, considering fairness and transparency, enabling consumers
to make informed choices about their energy usage. For example, options
might include fixed fees, variable rate billing based on price per energy unit,
maintenance charges, and administration costs. Operating a heat pump
system is different to operating a traditional gas boiler, and residents will
require training and support to ensure they know how to operate the system
efficiently. Recommendations will be brought back for approval as
necessary.

90.

The anticipated timetable for the 3 proposals covered in this report are as
follows:
Cabinet
approval

Next
Stage
Design

Planning
Process

Appoint
Contractor

Specialist
design
and
leadin

SoS

Operational
arrangemen
ts all
finalised

Commission
Assets

First
homes
occupied
at OHH

Solar
Park

May-22

Oct-22

Nov-22 to
Apr 23

Apr-23

Jun-23

Jul23

Oct-23

Apr-24

May-24

Private
Wire
Network

May-22

May-22

-

Sep-22

Mar-23

Mar23

Oct-23

Apr-24

May-24

Private
Heat
Network

May-22

Jun-22

-

Sep-22

Dec-22

Dec22

Oct-23

Apr-24

May-24

Eastleigh Borough Council

Risk Assessment
91.

The recommendations within this report are significant and it must be
recognised that the projects are at an advanced feasibility stage based on
modelling using best assumptions and the knowledge and guidance of
industry experts to minimise risk. However, as the schemes progress to
implementation and operation there will undoubtedly be additional
decisions to be made which will be reported through the Council’s standard
project management process and be formally approved as necessary.
Change control and risk management will be key features of the project
management and implementation process.

92.

When producing a financial model over the long-term there is always a risk
that estimates may prove incorrect. However, it is considered that the
modelling is suitably prudent and builds in more than adequate provisions
for future costs; making sensible assumptions about power generated and
usage in line with the expert reports. Due to the long life of these assets
and the Council’s long-term commitment to climate change the borrowing
for these projects will likely be taken at a long-term fixed rate of interest to
remove the risk of any potential rate increases.

93.

The business case for the heating network is calculated using grant income
to fund some of the capital costs. As the grant has not yet been awarded
there is a small risk to this income stream. The project team have identified
this risk and also potential mitigations which are available through the
development of the operating model.

94.

Decisions for provision of site wide electricity and heating infrastructure to
meet the needs of One Horton Heath are critical. Feasibility and design
work for the private wire and private heat networks contained in this report
have been progressed at risk in order to keep to current programme for
start of construction works later this year.

95.

All other electrical infrastructure for the project is well advanced with
Southern Electric Services and been progressed on the basis that the
majority of EV charging and non-residential power needs will be met off-grid
from private assets. A change to this assumption would result in months of
delay to the first phase and much higher capital costs across the whole
project without the ability recover either from revenue income or operation
of retained assets.

96.

The nature of the risks associated with the proposed projects are likely to
change throughout the development process. For instance, the planning
and technical constraints on the development of solar farms, and the
mitigation required at the outset. If the projects were to progress, further
technology-specific expertise would be sought to assist in risk identification
and management at the development stage. By using the Council’s proven
project management methodology risks and programme changes will be
effectively managed, mitigated and reported as appropriate.

Eastleigh Borough Council

113

97.

Construction risks will be considered in the stage following the necessary
planning and other approvals but as with all projects at a feasibility stage
there is the risk the cost of construction could increase. In addition, the
effective use of the green networks is reliant on effective construction of the
properties, which will need to be carefully monitored during the build period.
Contingencies have been built into the financial appraisals to mitigate risks
of increased costs.

98.

Once installations and equipment are commissioned, operational risks will
be managed, to ensure the assets can generate a reliable supply of energy.
Operation and maintenance costs, and repair and replacement costs, are
therefore reflected in the financial appraisals. The effective management of
the operation of both the solar farm and the private wire network should
mitigate any reputational risks. The projects will have an appropriate plan
to communicate to all stakeholders including training of new tenants to
allow them to fully understand how to use the green technologies.

99.

In addition to having a system which is operationally sound, it is very
important residents know how to operate the new technology. Operating a
heat pump system is different to using a traditional gas boiler. A traditional
boiler will produce a lot of heat in a short space of time, while a heat pump
produces heat more slowly. Inefficient use of the equipment could lead to
higher operating costs for the user but also the Council and the business
plan. The funds earmarked for additional staff resource will help support the
training and education of residents to ensure that performance levels of the
system are maintained.

100. Based on the legal advice received (paras 57-65), having the ability to
provide these services direct from the Council reduces the risks
considerably and Counsel advice is being taken regarding the one
remaining uncertainty regarding the lack of clarity in supply legislation for
EV charging points. There is also the risk that Government may change
legislation regarding energy generation and supply in the future which
cannot be further mitigated at the current time, but all advice provided has
noted all known potential changes at the time of writing. Furthermore,
future phases will be able to take advantage of emerging technologies
should they be available and more effective than those adopted for phase
one.

Equality and Diversity Implications
101. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it has
been assessed against the criteria and an Equality Impact Assessment has
not been carried out. The proposal does not relate to eliminating
discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or fostering good relations
between different people with protected characteristics.
102. Any specific land-use projects approved in future would be likely to address
issues around accessibility to the countryside for persons with disabilities,
the provision of facilities for younger or older persons, and so on. Similarly,

114

Eastleigh Borough Council

any commercial decisions regarding services for consumers would likely
need to consider impacts. At that stage, a full Equality Impact Assessment
(EIA) may need to be carried out if deemed proportionate.
103. It is considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried
out.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
104. The proposals set out in this report respond to the Council’s Climate and
Environmental Emergency strategy and Action Plan. The
recommendations seek to reduce the future GHG emissions of the
Borough, supporting the carbon neutral 2030 target.
105. The proposed solar farm at Allington Lane will reduce the GHG emissions
from the generation of electricity for the borough by around 9%. Locally
emissions from electricity have fallen by 65% since 2005, although more
needs to be done as the same progress has not been reflected in the
heating of homes. Between 2005 and 2019 GHG emissions from heating
homes reduce by only 20%.
106. Developing a low carbon heat network for One Horton Heath helps to
address this lag, reducing emissions from the heating of homes by 197,016
tCO2e (over 50 years) and aligns with advice from the Climate Change
Committee. Decarbonising heat is particularly challenging due to the
complexities of retrofitting existing gas/oil fired homes and building a largescale district heat network enables the flexibility to use a range of low
carbon sources, as technology advances.
107. Collectively the two schemes with the private wire network promote
environmental resilience and energy security by reducing the requirement
for fossil fuels to supply energy to homes and businesses in the Borough.
The proposals directly support the mitigation of climate change by shifting
users towards a renewable energy supply.
108. Developing the solar farm at Allington Lane provides opportunities to
improve biodiversity in the Borough, supporting the environment emergency
and potentially local community resilience/action on climate change should
a grant scheme be set up.

Conclusion
109. In September 2020 and June 2021 Cabinet approved the acquisition of
Chalcroft Solar Park and Chalcroft Solar Park Limited, supported by a
business plan for the sale of energy through a private wire to future
commercial assets on the One Horton Heath site. Alongside this project,
the Council and other specialists have been evaluating the additional
opportunities for energy and heat generation and distribution provided by
the Chalcroft Solar Park and the recently acquired greenfield land in the

Eastleigh Borough Council

115

area. The advice received is attached to this report and has informed the
recommendations discussed herein.
110. Following approval of a budget and strategy for site-wide secondary
infrastructure to deliver the One Horton Heath development, proposals for
provision of electrical and heat infrastructure are recommended in this
report. The recommendations respond to the existing land and assets held
by the Council; the need to future-proof energy supply; the strategic
commitments to renewable heat sources for new homes at One Horton
Heath; and wider Council decarbonisation plans.

CORPORATE LEADERSHIP BOARD
Date:
Contact Officer:
e-mail:

5 May 2022
Andy Smith / Chris Payne
andy.smith@eastleigh.gov.uk
chris.payne@eastleigh.gov.uk

Appendices Attached:

Appendix 1: Solar Farm Financial Appraisal
Appendix 2: Private Wire Financial Appraisal

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
None

116

Eastleigh Borough Council

Ground Mounted Solar Panels Allington Lane Construction - Recommendation 2
Capital Spend
Build Cost
Land Value
Internal Staff Time
Capitalised Interest
Delayed build contingency

17,810,100
2,124,000
100,000
675,000
1,781,010

Total Cost

22,490,110

Annuity Calculation - 50 years
Years
Rate
30

3.00%
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30

10%

Key Assumptions
Acres
Land Value per acre
Net Energy Yield
Annual Degradation
Export Rate
Operating Expenditure
EBC Operating Expenditure
Green Initiative Reserve
Maintenance Reserve
Income Inflation
OpEx Inflation

£
£
£

118
18,000
35,574
-0.4%
45
332,017
50,000
5.0%
5.0%
2.0%
2.5%

APPENDIX 1
Prepared By:
Verified By:
Consultant Advisor:

MWh
per annum
MWh
per annum
per annum
of gross annual income
of gross annual income
per annum
per annum

Annuity
Amount
Repayment
22,490,110
1,147,429 < Includes interest element
Amount
Interest Repayment
Balance
22,490,110 674,703
(1,147,429)
22,017,385
22,017,385 660,522
(1,147,429)
21,530,477
21,530,477 645,914
(1,147,429)
21,028,963
21,028,963 630,869
(1,147,429)
20,512,403
20,512,403 615,372
(1,147,429)
19,980,346
19,980,346 599,410
(1,147,429)
19,432,328
19,432,328 582,970
(1,147,429)
18,867,869
18,867,869 566,036
(1,147,429)
18,286,476
18,286,476 548,594
(1,147,429)
17,687,642
17,687,642 530,629
(1,147,429)
17,070,842
17,070,842 512,125
(1,147,429)
16,435,539
16,435,539 493,066
(1,147,429)
15,781,176
15,781,176 473,435
(1,147,429)
15,107,183
15,107,183 453,215
(1,147,429)
14,412,970
14,412,970 432,389
(1,147,429)
13,697,930
13,697,930 410,938
(1,147,429)
12,961,439
12,961,439 388,843
(1,147,429)
12,202,854
12,202,854 366,086
(1,147,429)
11,421,510
11,421,510 342,645
(1,147,429)
10,616,727
10,616,727 318,502
(1,147,429)
9,787,800
9,787,800 293,634
(1,147,429)
8,934,005
8,934,005 268,020
(1,147,429)
8,054,597
8,054,597 241,638
(1,147,429)
7,148,806
7,148,806 214,464
(1,147,429)
6,215,841
6,215,841 186,475
(1,147,429)
5,254,888
5,254,888 157,647
(1,147,429)
4,265,106
4,265,106 127,953
(1,147,429)
3,245,630
3,245,630
97,369
(1,147,429)
2,195,570
2,195,570
65,867
(1,147,429)
1,114,008
1,114,008
33,420
(1,147,429)
0

IRR

3.56%

Annual Income

Annual Increase
Annual Degredation

MRP
(472,725)
(486,907)
(501,514)
(516,560)
(532,057)
(548,018)
(564,459)
(581,393)
(598,834)
(616,799)
(635,303)
(654,363)
(673,993)
(694,213)
(715,040)
(736,491)
(758,586)
(781,343)
(804,783)
(828,927)
(853,795)
(879,409)
(905,791)
(932,965)
(960,954)
(989,782)
(1,019,476)
(1,050,060)
(1,081,562)
(1,114,008)

Interest
(674,703)
(660,522)
(645,914)
(630,869)
(615,372)
(599,410)
(582,970)
(566,036)
(548,594)
(530,629)
(512,125)
(493,066)
(473,435)
(453,215)
(432,389)
(410,938)
(388,843)
(366,086)
(342,645)
(318,502)
(293,634)
(268,020)
(241,638)
(214,464)
(186,475)
(157,647)
(127,953)
(97,369)
(65,867)
(33,420)

Total
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)
(1,147,429)

Income
1,440,746
1,463,799
1,487,220
1,511,015
1,535,191
1,559,753
1,584,710
1,610,065
1,635,826
1,661,999
1,688,590
1,715,607
1,743,057
1,770,947
1,799,283
1,828,070
1,857,321
1,887,038
1,917,229
1,947,905
1,979,072
2,010,735
2,042,907
2,075,593
2,108,802
2,142,544
2,176,824
2,211,653
2,247,039
2,282,992

Operating
Expenditure
(382,017)
(391,567)
(401,357)
(411,391)
(421,675)
(432,217)
(443,023)
(454,098)
(465,451)
(477,087)
(489,014)
(501,239)
(513,770)
(526,615)
(539,780)
(553,275)
(567,106)
(581,284)
(595,816)
(610,712)
(625,979)
(641,629)
(657,670)
(674,111)
(690,964)
(708,238)
(725,944)
(744,093)
(762,695)
(781,762)

Revenue
Surplus
(Deficit)
(88,700)
(75,197)
(61,565)
(47,804)
(33,913)
(19,893)
(5,741)
8,538
22,947
37,483
52,147
66,939
81,858
96,904
112,074
127,367
142,786
158,325
173,984
189,765
205,664
221,677
237,809
254,053
270,409
286,877
303,451
320,132
336,915
353,801

Cumulative
Position
(163,897)
(225,462)
(273,266)
(307,179)
(327,072)
(332,813)
(324,275)
(301,328)
(263,845)
(211,698)
(144,759)
(62,901)
34,003
146,077
273,444
416,230
574,555
748,539
938,304
1,143,968
1,365,645
1,603,454
1,857,507
2,127,916
2,414,793
2,718,244
3,038,376
3,375,291
3,729,092

IRR
BASE
22,490,110
(1,058,729)
(1,072,232)
(1,085,863)
(1,099,624)
(1,113,516)
(1,127,536)
(1,141,687)
(1,155,967)
(1,170,375)
(1,184,912)
(1,199,576)
(1,214,368)
(1,229,287)
(1,244,332)
(1,259,503)
(1,274,795)
(1,290,215)
(1,305,754)
(1,321,413)
(1,337,193)
(1,353,093)
(1,369,106)
(1,385,237)
(1,401,482)
(1,417,838)
(1,434,306)
(1,450,880)
(1,467,560)
(1,484,344)
(1,501,230)

T Andrews
A Smith
Locogen

2.0%
-0.4%

5.0%
5.0%
Income
Green Initiatives Maintenance
1,600,830
(80,042)
(80,042)
1,626,443
(81,322)
(81,322)
1,652,466
(82,623)
(82,623)
1,678,905
(83,945)
(83,945)
1,705,767
(85,288)
(85,288)
1,733,059
(86,653)
(86,653)
1,760,788
(88,039)
(88,039)
1,788,961
(89,448)
(89,448)
1,817,584
(90,879)
(90,879)
1,846,665
(92,333)
(92,333)
1,876,212
(93,811)
(93,811)
1,906,231
(95,312)
(95,312)
1,936,731
(96,837)
(96,837)
1,967,719
(98,386)
(98,386)
1,999,203
(99,960)
(99,960)
2,031,190
(101,560)
(101,560)
2,063,689
(103,184)
(103,184)
2,096,708
(104,835)
(104,835)
2,130,255
(106,513)
(106,513)
2,164,339
(108,217)
(108,217)
2,198,968
(109,948)
(109,948)
2,234,151
(111,708)
(111,708)
2,269,897
(113,495)
(113,495)
2,306,215
(115,311)
(115,311)
2,343,114
(117,156)
(117,156)
2,380,604
(119,030)
(119,030)
2,418,694
(120,935)
(120,935)
2,457,393
(122,870)
(122,870)
2,496,711
(124,836)
(124,836)
2,536,658
(126,833)
(126,833)

Total
1,440,746
1,463,799
1,487,220
1,511,015
1,535,191
1,559,753
1,584,710
1,610,065
1,635,826
1,661,999
1,688,590
1,715,607
1,743,057
1,770,947
1,799,283
1,828,070
1,857,321
1,887,038
1,917,229
1,947,905
1,979,072
2,010,735
2,042,907
2,075,593
2,108,802
2,142,544
2,176,824
2,211,653
2,247,039
2,282,992

117

This page is intentionally left blank

Private Wire Power Network Financial Appraisal - Recommendation 4
Capital Spend
Total Capital Cost
OHH Contribution

11,695,734
(7,110,000)

Total Additional Capital

4,585,734

Annuity Calculation - 50 years
Years

48
47
46
45
44
43
42
41
40
39

APPENDIX 2
Prepared by:
A Smith
Verfied by: T Andrews
Consultant Advisor: Ener-vate

Rate
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%

Amount
1,069,795

1,524,223
2,161,955
2,464,191
2,773,848
3,154,032
3,476,489
3,895,861
4,245,440
4,335,129
Amount

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48

1,069,795
1,524,223
2,161,955
2,464,191
2,773,848
3,154,032
3,476,489
3,895,861
4,245,440
4,335,129
4,275,114
4,213,299
4,149,629
4,084,049
4,016,502
3,946,928
3,875,267
3,801,456
3,725,431
3,647,126
3,566,471
3,483,396
3,397,829
3,309,695
3,218,917
3,125,416
3,029,110
2,929,914
2,827,743
2,722,507
2,614,113
2,502,468
2,387,473
2,269,028
2,147,030
2,021,373
1,891,945
1,758,635
1,621,325
1,479,896
1,334,224
1,184,182
1,029,639
870,459
706,504
537,631
363,691
184,533
127,350,910

Annuity
Repayment

42,340
60,909
87,262
100,502
114,365
131,517
146,679
166,402
183,668
190,069
Interest
32,094
45,727
64,859
73,926
83,215
94,621
104,295
116,876
127,363
130,054
128,253
126,399
124,489
122,521
120,495
118,408
116,258
114,044
111,763
109,414
106,994
104,502
101,935
99,291
96,568
93,762
90,873
87,897
84,832
81,675
78,423
75,074
71,624
68,071
64,411
60,641
56,758
52,759
48,640
44,397
40,027
35,525
30,889
26,114
21,195
16,129
10,911
5,536
3,820,527

IRR

Repayment
Balance
(42,340) 1,059,549
(60,909) 1,509,041
(87,262) 2,139,551
(100,502) 2,437,615
(114,365) 2,742,698
(131,517) 3,117,136
(146,679) 3,434,104
(166,402) 3,846,336
(183,668) 4,189,135
(190,069) 4,275,114
(190,069) 4,213,299
(190,069) 4,149,629
(190,069) 4,084,049
(190,069) 4,016,502
(190,069) 3,946,928
(190,069) 3,875,267
(190,069) 3,801,456
(190,069) 3,725,431
(190,069) 3,647,126
(190,069) 3,566,471
(190,069) 3,483,396
(190,069) 3,397,829
(190,069) 3,309,695
(190,069) 3,218,917
(190,069) 3,125,416
(190,069) 3,029,110
(190,069) 2,929,914
(190,069) 2,827,743
(190,069) 2,722,507
(190,069) 2,614,113
(190,069) 2,502,468
(190,069) 2,387,473
(190,069) 2,269,028
(190,069) 2,147,030
(190,069) 2,021,373
(190,069) 1,891,945
(190,069) 1,758,635
(190,069) 1,621,325
(190,069) 1,479,896
(190,069) 1,334,224
(190,069) 1,184,182
(190,069) 1,029,639
(190,069)
870,459
(190,069)
706,504
(190,069)
537,631
(190,069)
363,691
(190,069)
184,533
(190,069)
0
(8,446,325) 122,725,112

MRP
(10,246)
(15,182)
(22,403)
(26,577)
(31,150)
(36,896)
(42,384)
(49,526)
(56,305)
(60,015)
(61,815)
(63,670)
(65,580)
(67,547)
(69,574)
(71,661)
(73,811)
(76,025)
(78,306)
(80,655)
(83,075)
(85,567)
(88,134)
(90,778)
(93,501)
(96,306)
(99,195)
(102,171)
(105,236)
(108,394)
(111,645)
(114,995)
(118,445)
(121,998)
(125,658)
(129,428)
(133,310)
(137,310)
(141,429)
(145,672)
(150,042)
(154,543)
(159,180)
(163,955)
(168,874)
(173,940)
(179,158)
(184,533)
(4,625,798)

Interest
(32,094)
(45,727)
(64,859)
(73,926)
(83,215)
(94,621)
(104,295)
(116,876)
(127,363)
(130,054)
(128,253)
(126,399)
(124,489)
(122,521)
(120,495)
(118,408)
(116,258)
(114,044)
(111,763)
(109,414)
(106,994)
(104,502)
(101,935)
(99,291)
(96,568)
(93,762)
(90,873)
(87,897)
(84,832)
(81,675)
(78,423)
(75,074)
(71,624)
(68,071)
(64,411)
(60,641)
(56,758)
(52,759)
(48,640)
(44,397)
(40,027)
(35,525)
(30,889)
(26,114)
(21,195)
(16,129)
(10,911)
(5,536)
(3,820,527)

NET
Total
INCOME
(42,340)
(2,961)
(60,909)
13,403
(87,262)
408,035
(100,502)
784,146
(114,365)
1,005,841
(131,517)
1,184,528
(146,679)
1,277,423
(166,402)
1,417,056
(183,668)
1,683,720
(190,069)
1,908,472
(190,069)
2,135,834
(190,069)
2,360,376
(190,069)
2,530,162
(190,069)
2,681,578
(190,069)
2,750,522
(190,069)
2,909,107
(190,069)
2,946,684
(190,069)
3,072,968
(190,069)
3,297,053
(190,069)
3,404,055
(190,069)
3,488,026
(190,069)
270,382
(190,069)
2,343,845
(190,069)
2,689,288
(190,069)
3,052,714
(190,069)
3,113,850
(190,069)
2,947,111
(190,069)
3,351,665
(190,069)
3,095,401
(190,069)
3,299,262
(190,069)
3,914,550
(190,069)
4,551,643
(190,069)
4,662,343
(190,069)
4,775,608
(190,069)
5,082,327
(190,069)
5,270,459
(190,069)
5,397,701
(190,069)
5,527,873
(190,069)
5,661,041
(190,069)
5,797,271
(190,069)
5,936,631
(190,069)
665,887
(190,069)
4,065,216
(190,069)
4,632,956
(190,069)
5,230,134
(190,069)
5,331,944
(190,069)
5,060,319
(190,069)
5,724,787
(8,446,325) 152,708,236

Revenue
Surplus
(Deficit)

Cumulative
Position

(45,301)
(47,506)
320,773
683,644
891,476
1,053,011
1,130,744
1,250,654
1,500,052
1,718,403
1,945,765
2,170,307
2,340,093
2,491,509
2,560,453
2,719,038
2,756,615
2,882,899
3,106,984
3,213,986
3,297,957
80,313
2,153,776
2,499,219
2,862,645
2,923,781
2,757,042
3,161,596
2,905,332
3,109,193
3,724,481
4,361,574
4,472,274
4,585,539
4,892,258
5,080,390
5,207,632
5,337,804
5,470,972
5,607,202
5,746,562
475,818
3,875,147
4,442,887
5,040,065
5,141,875
4,870,250
5,534,718

(45,301)
(92,807)
227,966
911,610
1,803,085
2,856,096
3,986,840
5,237,495
6,737,547
8,455,950
10,401,715
12,572,023
14,912,116
17,403,625
19,964,078
22,683,117
25,439,732
28,322,631
31,429,615
34,643,602
37,941,559
38,021,872
40,175,648
42,674,868
45,537,513
48,461,294
51,218,336
54,379,933
57,285,265
60,394,458
64,118,939
68,480,514
72,952,788
77,538,327
82,430,585
87,510,976
92,718,608
98,056,412
103,527,384
109,134,587
114,881,149
115,356,967
119,232,114
123,675,002
128,715,067
133,856,942
138,727,192
144,261,911

144,261,911

20.72%
IRR
BASE

(4,585,734)
(2,961)
13,403
408,035
784,146
1,005,841
1,184,528
1,277,423
1,417,056
1,683,720
1,908,472
2,135,834
2,360,376
2,530,162
2,681,578
2,750,522
2,909,107
2,946,684
3,072,968
3,297,053
3,404,055
3,488,026
270,382
2,343,845
2,689,288
3,052,714
3,113,850
2,947,111
3,351,665
3,095,401
3,299,262
3,914,550
4,551,643
4,662,343
4,775,608
5,082,327
5,270,459
5,397,701
5,527,873
5,661,041
5,797,271
5,936,631
665,887
4,065,216
4,632,956
5,230,134
5,331,944
5,060,319
5,724,787

119

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
CABINET
Tuesday, 24 May 2022
APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES
Report of the Democratic Services Manager

Recommendation(s)
It is recommended that:
(1) The Cabinet Member with the relevant portfolio as shown in brackets be
appointed to the following organisations:
a. Age Concern Hampshire (Social Policy)
b. Citizens Advice Bureau (Social Policy)
c. Eastleigh Community Safety Partnership Steering Group (with the
Chair of the Licensing Committee) (Health)
d. Police and Crime Panel (Health)
e. Project Integra Strategic Board (Environment)
f. Relate Solent (Social Policy)
g. Relate Winchester and District (Social Policy)
h. Eastleigh Business Improvement District (Economy)
(2) The Leader be appointed to the following organisations:
a) Hampshire and Isle of Wight Local Government Association (with the
Deputy Leader; Deputies: any of the other Cabinet Members)
b) Local Government Association
c) South East Employers (Deputy: Deputy Leader)
(3) The Chairs of both Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel and Audit and
Resources Committee be appointed to the following organisation:
a. South East Employers Local Democracy and Accountability Network;
(4) Appointments be made to the following organisations, details of which are
contained in Appendix 1 to the report:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.

Fairtrade in Eastleigh Borough Campaign
Partnership for South Hampshire Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Queen Elizabeth ll Silver Jubilee Activities Centre
Road Safety Council
Southampton International Airport Consultative Committee;
Eastleigh College

121

(5) That appointments to organisations owned either wholly or in part by the
Council be made as set-out in Appendix 1 to the report; and
(6) That the Leader of the Council be authorised to make any changes to the
above appointments should any representative request a change to their
appointment.

Summary
In addition to attending Council meetings and other constituency work, Councillors and
some staff are required to sit as representatives of the Council on other organisations and
agencies known as Outside Bodies. An Outside Body is an organisation that has a
separate governance structure to that of the Council.
Statutory Powers


The Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Strategic Implications
1.

These appointments demonstrate the Council’s community leadership role
and support all of the Corporate Plan 2015-2025 objectives as they relate to a
range of environmental, social and economic matters.

Introduction
2.

The Council appoints elected members, and in some instances staff, to
represent it on a range of Outside Bodies at a national and local level. Such
appointments ensure that the Council’s and residents’ interests are
represented within key agencies.

3.

The Council recognises the value outside organisations make to the wider
community and in the achievement of Council’s corporate priorities.

4.

Appendix 1 to this report detail the organisations to which appointments are to
be made and detail previous appointees.

Financial Implications
5.

There are no financial implications associated with these appointments.

Risk Assessment
6.

122

There are no risks associated with these appointments.

Eastleigh Borough Council

Equality and Diversity Implications
7.

The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because:


It is a report making an appointment to an outside body.

Therefore, it is considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not
need to be addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not
been carried out.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
8.

There are no climate change and environmental implications associated with
these appointments.

Conclusion
9.

That the roles listed in appendix 1 be appointed to and appointments recorded
in the minutes.
LAURA JOHNSTON
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES MANAGER

Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

3 May 2022
Laura Johnston
02380 688041
laura.johnston@eastleigh.gov.uk
1

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

Eastleigh Borough Council

123

This page is intentionally left blank

APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2021/22
Cabinet

Name of Organisation:

FAIRTRADE IN EASTLEIGH BOROUGH CAMPAIGN

2021/22
Representative(s) were:

Cllr T Groves
Dep: Cllr R Kyrle

Contact Officer:

Andy Brennan

Committee:

Cabinet

Terms of reference
and objectives of
organisation:

To promote the concept of Fairtrade and increase the
availability of Fairtrade products within Eastleigh Borough.
To raise awareness of the FAIRTRADE mark and Fairtrade
issues. To ensure continued commitment and drive towards
gaining Fairtrade Borough status for Eastleigh Borough as a
whole, by achieving the five criteria of a Fairtrade Zone as
set out in the Fairtrade Foundation's "Fairtrade Town Goals
and Action Guide" and to maintaining the accreditation once
it has been achieved. To encourage workplaces, schools,
colleges, churches and other organisations to work to
promote and use Fairtrade products.

Key areas of interest and
topical Issues for the
organisation:

The Campaign was instigated and developed by the
Council. There is now an active steering group of
volunteers. There is a standing place for a Council
representative on the Steering Group.

No of meetings per year:

Usual time of meeting(s):

Between 6 and 8

Wednesday evenings

Normal amount of
notice given of
meeting(s):
1 month

Desired skills, qualities,
knowledge or experience
Members should have:

A personal interest in promoting Fairtrade within the
Borough.

Details of any training
provided:

None.

Details of anticipated
workload:
eg will member attend
meeting only or be
involved in other work?

Attend meetings as the Council's representative and liaise
with the Cabinet Lead and Corporate Director about matters
about which the Council should be aware and where we can
offer in kind support (such as copying/printing).

Name and address of
contact for organisation:

Daphne Bright 023 8068 8022 e-mail:
fairtradeineastleighborough@hotmail.co.uk
Chair
Fairtrade in Eastleigh Borough Campaign
157 Stoke Heights
Fair Oak EASTLEIGH SO50 8AH

125

APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2021/22
Cabinet
Name of Organisation:

PARTNERSHIP FOR SOUTH HAMPSHIRE OVERVIEW
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (PfSH)

2021/22
Representative(s) were:

Cllr R Gomer
Dep: vacancy

Contact Officer:

James Strachan

Committee:

Cabinet

Terms of reference
and objectives of
organisation:

To scrutinise the activities of the PUSH Joint Committee
and to call in decisions where necessary. To scrutinise the
PfSH Business Plan and its delivery.

Key areas of interest and
topical Issues for the
organisation:

Interest in joint working with representatives of other partner
authorities on a range of subject areas eg planning,
housing, transport and economic development. Interest in
the scrutiny function and its contribution to the democratic
process.

No of meetings per year:

Usual time of meeting(s):

4

6pm

Normal amount of
notice given of
meeting(s):
1 week

Desired skills, qualities,
knowledge or experience
Members should have:

Non Cabinet Members sought with interest in PfSH activities
and potential/actual joint working opportunities.

Details of any training
provided:

126

Details of anticipated
workload:
eg will member attend
meeting only or be
involved in other work?

Primarily meeting only.

Name and address of
contact for organisation:

Democratic Services Team 01329 236100
democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk
Fareham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Civic Way
FAREHAM PO16 7PU

APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2021/22
Cabinet
Name of Organisation:

QUEEN ELIZABETH II SILVER JUBILEE ACTIVITIES
CENTRE

2021/22
Representative(s) were:

Cllrs D Pretty and W Irish

Contact Officer:

Janine Pickering

Committee:

Cabinet

Terms of reference
and objectives of
organisation:

The provision of recreation and leisure facilities for people
with special needs, in the interests of social welfare and
improving their quality of life.

Key areas of interest and
topical Issues for the
organisation:

Day bookings have remained similar to the previous year
whilst residential bookings have declined. A changing
environment has meant that the service on offer has been
adapted. A vocational day service has become established
for adults with learning disabilities and new services are
being developed. A campaign during the Jubilee Year
resulted in enough funds being raised for a new roof for the
main hall and thanks to a previous grant work has started
on the construction of a new building to house a purpose
built classroom for the day service.

No of meetings per year:

Usual time of meeting(s):

4

7.00 pm

Normal amount of
notice given of
meeting(s):
Dates fixed
annually

Desired skills, qualities,
knowledge or experience
Members should have:

Interest in special needs facilities.
boost income.

Innovative thinking to

Details of any training
provided:

None.

Details of anticipated
workload:
eg will member attend
meeting only or be
involved in other work?

Meeting attendance only.

Name and address of
contact for organisation:

Caroline Oates
Secretary
Queen Elizabeth II Silver Jubilee Activities Centre
Civic Offices
Leigh Road EASTLEIGH SO50 9YN

127

APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2021/22
Cabinet
Name of Organisation:

ROAD SAFETY COUNCIL (Central Area)

2021/22
Representative(s) were:

Cllr D Airey
Dep: Cllr W Irish

Contact Officer:

James Howe

Committee:

Cabinet

Terms of reference
and objectives of
organisation:

To promote and encourage road safety education, training
and publicity in the area in accordance with the casulaty
reduction policies of the County Council. To encourage the
activities of local groups and organisations in road safety
matters and to seek the involvement of the local community
in support of road safety programmes. To support initiatives
and the promotion of local campaigns designed to improve
public awareness of road safety.

Key areas of interest and
topical Issues for the
organisation:

Road safety education, training and publicity. Promotion of
safe walking and cycling. Production of road safety
information posters/leaflets. Arrangement of and support of
road safety events.

No of meetings per year:

Usual time of meeting(s):

3 (June, October and
February)

Daytime

Normal amount of
notice given of
meeting(s):

Desired skills, qualities,
knowledge or experience
Members should have:
Details of any training
provided:

128

Details of anticipated
workload:
eg will member attend
meeting only or be
involved in other work?

Attend meetings and working groups, special events, annual
conference. Level of involvement is optional, but the work is
more rewarding, the more involved members become.

Name and address of
contact for organisation:

Karen Dockree 01962 846100
karen.dockree@hants.gov.uk
Road Safety Services Manager
Environment Department
The Castle
WINCHESTER SO23 8UD

APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2021/22
Cabinet
Name of Organisation:

SOUTHAMPTON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE

2021/22
Representative(s) were:

Cllr D Airey, Cllr J Asman, and Cllr D Pretty

Contact Officer:

Laura Johnston

Committee:

Cabinet

Terms of reference
and objectives of
organisation:

To act as a means of consultation in relation to the airport
(the Consultative Committee has full terms of reference).

Key areas of interest and
topical Issues for the
organisation:

Airport development, operations and complaints.

No of meetings per year:

Usual time of meeting(s):

3

2.00 pm

Normal amount of
notice given of
meeting(s):
1 week, dates set
in advance

Desired skills, qualities,
knowledge or experience
Members should have:

Local knowledge and an interest in issues associated with
the Airport.

Details of any training
provided:

None.

Details of anticipated
workload:
eg will member attend
meeting only or be
involved in other work?

Depends on individual, but usually only involves attendance
at meetings.

Name and address of
contact for organisation:

Laura Johnston
Democratic Services Manager

129

Appointments to Outside Bodies where the Organisation is owned wholly or in
part by the Council
Outside Body
Pembers LLP

Aspect (Eastleigh) Ltd

Aspect Building Communities Ltd
HCB Foundation
City Park (Hove) Management Company
Homes for Eastleigh LLP

Appointees in 2021/22
Sarah King
Andy Trayer
Cllr Corben
Sarah King
Andy Trayer
Cllr Corben
Sarah King
Cllr Corben
Sarah King
Andy Trayer
Sarah King
Andy Trayer
Cllr Corben

Other appointments
Outside Body
Eastleigh College

130

Appointees in 2021/22
Natalie Wigman

Agenda Item 13
CABINET
Tuesday, 24 May 2022
COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME SCHEME APPROVAL
Report of the Chief Financial Officer

Recommendation(s)
It is recommended that Cabinet
(1)

Approve expenditure of £35,000 on improvements at Hiltingbury Lakes, to be
financed through New Homes Bonus

(2)

Approve Expenditure of £75,000 on improvements at Flexford Nature Reserve,
to be financed through New Homes Bonus

Summary
Council approved the Capital Strategy on 24th February 2022. This report seeks a revision
to the Strategy to include additional expenditure at Hiltingbury Lakes and Flexford Nature
Reserve.
Statutory Powers
Local Government Act 1972, sections 111 and 151

Strategic Implications
1.

This report relates to the Corporate Plan through the provision of green
infrastructure in the Council’s open spaces, allowing increased access to
Hiltingbury Lakes and Flexford Nature Reserve, whilst also enabling increased
biodiversity and protection to trees and river banks.

2.

This proposal contributes to meeting the Green infrastructure objectives in the
Corporate Strategy 2018 (Green Borough), specifically the aim of increasing
residents’ and visitors’ access, usage and connection with natural spaces .

3.

This proposal also supports the Corporate Strategy 2018 (Health and
Wellbeing) by enabling opportunities for physical activity within the Borough.

131

Hiltingbury Lakes
2.

Recent improvements have been carried out at Hiltingbury Lakes including
essential maintenance works to footpaths, bridges, and waterways. Further
funding is now required to allow works this summer 2022 on further drainage
and surfacing works to footpaths around the lower ponds and main lake,
ensuring the whole site is safe and accessible for all users.

3.

These works will cost £35,000 and will be funded from New Homes Bonus.

Flexford Nature Reserve
4.

Works are required to reinstate and improve footpath surfaces throughout
Flexford Nature reserve to ensure the area is safe and accessible for users.

5.

In addition, there will be new interpretation and information panels together
with improvements to signage, including information about the history of the
site, as well as information regarding the plants and animals that can be found
there.

6.

These works will be carried out in partnership with the Hampshire and Isle of
Wight Wildlife Trust, with the aim to increase biodiversity of the area, and to
protect trees with exposed roots, protect and improve river banks, and to lead
to a more sustainable green area

7.

These works will cost £75,000 and will be funded from New Homes Bonus

Financial Implications
8.

Financing of the Community Investment Programme Schemes is dependent
on available resources arising from capital receipts, developers’ contributions,
external grant, reserves and borrowing. All procurements will be made in
accordance with the Council’s Contract Standing Orders.

9.

The financing of both improvement works at Hiltingbury Lakes and Flexford
Nature Reserve will be from New Homes Bonus.

Equality and Diversity Implications
10.

132

The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or
fostering good relations between different people in the following ways. This
proposed work programme will result in an anticipated improvement for
people with protected characteristic, particularly for age and disability; the
proposed provision and improvement of accessible walk routes will have a
positive impact on the elderly and those with reduced mobility being able to
access the lakes through an improved network of footpaths. A full Equality
Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out, because while there are
some equalities impacts, it is not proportionate to carry out a full EIA.

Eastleigh Borough Council

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
11.

The Council is currently implementing its Climate Change and Environmental
Emergency action Plan, and this proposal provides opportunities to help
address some of the ecological aims within the plan.

12.

The path improvements at Hiltingbury Lakes and Flexford Nature Reserve will
conserve and enhance the wildlife value of both sites by reducing trampling of
sensitive woodland and wetland meadow habitats where walkers try and avoid
wet and muddy sections of path. Repairs to riverbanks at Flexford will also
help alleviate the impact of fluvial erosion on paths and habitats at times of
high river flows, helping to meet climate change adaptation strategies.

13.

Improving the local environment (for example footpath improvements and
signage) can also encourage journeys on foot and support modal shift to more
sustainable travel.

Conclusion
14.

This report seeks approval for the following expenditure:


£35,000 for improvements at Hiltingbury Lakes.



£75,000 for improvements at Flexford Nature Reserve.
TOM ANDREWS
CHIEF ACCOUNTANT

Date:
Contact Officer:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

09/05/2022
Tom Andrews
tom.andrews@eastleigh.gov.uk
0

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
* List Background Papers or state None.

Eastleigh Borough Council

133

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 15

Document is Restricted

135

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

143

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

145

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

149

This page is intentionally left blank

